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Updates Prior to the Latest Practicable Date of This Annual Report
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Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, this annual report
(together with the consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024) was prepared based on the information
available to the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 or as at the
date on which this annual report has been approved by the Board being 28
March 2025.

Subsequent to 28 March 2025 and before the latest practicable date prior to
the printing of this annual report, the Board has made significant progress
through active engagement with the key stakeholders to resolve the issues
arising from the material uncertainties relating to going concern as noted
in the CG Report as contained in this annual report. In particular, the
Company has reached preliminary consensus with the Banks on a transitional
restructuring arrangement and obtained a written confirmation letter from
a substantial shareholder dated 3 April 2025 (to whom HK$205,000,000 of
shareholders’ loans are owed, representing 60.4% of total current shareholder
loans) that no demand for repayment will be made until the Group is capable
of repaying the outstanding amounts. Going forward, the Company will
continue to proactively communicate with the Banks to confirm the details
on the arrangement regarding the repayment of the outstanding instalments of
loan principal and closely monitor the liquidity position of the Group while
maintaining normal business operation.

In addition, as informed by Ms Melinda Chan, our executive Director,
and Mr David Chow, a former co-chairman of the Board and a substantial
shareholder of the Company under the SFO, they have respectively transferred
483,781,402 Shares and 105,331,374 Shares to Elite Success International
Limited on 29 March 2025, representing approximately 7.8% and 1.7% of the
issued Shares of the Company. After such transfer, Mr David Chow ceased
to hold any Shares and is deemed to be interested in the 24,358,692 Shares
beneficially owned by Ms Melinda Chan, representing approximately 0.39%
of the issued Shares of the Company, and Elite Success International Limited
is beneficially interested in 1,601,715,526 Shares, representing approximately
25.83% of the issued Shares of the Company.
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Corporate Information

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

Cayman Islands

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman & chief executive ofticer)
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Li Chun Tak
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman)

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) (Chairman)
Mr Li Chu Kwan

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Li Chu Kwan
Ms So Ka Man
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms So Ka Man

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

MACAU

Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen
Macau

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

21/F, Entertainment Building
30 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS

Howse Williams, Solicitors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certitied Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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Corporate Information (Continued)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Luso International Banking Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
Banco Nacional Ultramarino, S.A.

The Bank of East Asia, Limited — Hong Kong Branch
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. — Hong Kong Branch

LISTING INFORMATION
Place of Listing

Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code

01680
Board Lot

1,000 Shares

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Tel: (853) 2822 2211
Fax: (853) 2822 2266
Email: ir@macaulegend.com

WEBSITE

www.macaulegend.com
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Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006. The Company
acts as an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is one of the leading operator of
entertainment and casino gaming services in Macau. The Group currently has
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment (“MFW”), which is
a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention and entertainment complex
located on the Macau Peninsula which follows the “Leisure, Tourism,
Economic and Multi-Cultural Diversification” policy of the government of the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

The Group’s businesses include (i) the provision of gaming services to SIM
for the operation of Legend Palace Casino; and (ii) the operation of hotels,
entertainment and leisure facilities within its properties.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Following the surges in visitation to Macau witnessed in 2023, it continued to
grow throughout 2024 with total number of visitor arrivals further increased
from 28.2 million in 2023 to 34.9 million in 2024, as released by the Macau
SAR Government Statistics and Census Service; however, signs of downward
trend was observed in visitor spending, similar trend was also observed in
local spending. Therefore, at the same time as maintaining stable operation
execution with cost control measures implemented, the Group also focused
on broadening its business portfolio in order to cope with the upcoming
challenges and competition.

During the year, upon completion of the sale of the Laos project, resources
were more centralized, especially in the investment in Macau Fisherman’s
Wharf. The Group re-activated the Roman Amphitheatre which could offer
an event venue for over 1,500 seated audiences, with the first event held
successfully in January 2025. In view of the amendment to the Civil Registry
Code, effective 1 July 2024, in which states that when one of the betrotheds
is a Macau resident, they can choose the date, time and venue for the wedding
ceremony with registration at their discretion, namely at any date and time at
a place such as a hotel or restaurant, provided that it possesses public access
and the required dignity, the Group also renovated the outdoor area by the
Rocks Hotel, offering a romantic venue named “The French Terrace” for
holding wedding ceremonies, as well as other business events and leisure
parties. These increased the Group’s product selectors which enhance user
experience and better-fit the spending pattern nowadays. Moreover, the Group
partnered with sports organizers to turn the outdoor area by the Harbourview
Hotel outdoor parking into one soccer field and four pickleball courts, which
further enhance the variety of activities offered in this waterfront integrated
entertainment complex.

Looking forward to the coming year, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf will continue
to optimize the facilities in the area. With the re-activation of the Roman
Amphitheatre, the renovation of “The French Terrance”, as well as the
addition of sports spaces, the Group aims to explore more synergy within its
portfolio, including but not limited to the holding of larger scale event that
utilizes different venues at the same time. On a standalone perspective, the
Group aims at exploring new varieties of events such as mini concerts, fan
meetings and sports competition, which also contributes to the building of
Macau SAR as a “City of Performing Arts” and a “City of Sports”. In view of
the increasing importance in environmental sustainability issues, the Group
will also be implementing new measures in the coming year, such as switching
certain hotel amenities to the ones with eco-friendly materials, installation
of water dispensers to reduce the use of plastic, as well as changing kitchen
equipment to reduce energy consumption.

Finally, together with the Board of Directors, we would like to thank all of our
team members for their unremitting efforts, commitment and contributions in
the past year. The Group would also like to express our sincere gratitude to
all the business partners and shareholders of the Group for their support in the
past year.

Li Chu Kwan
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer

28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEARETE OVERVIEW OF RESULTS

BEZZ-WEFA=Z+—HILFEE » & For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group achieved a total reported

EEREFHEREETNEZRIEL S revenue from continuing operations of approximately HK$771.5 million,

771,500,000% 7G> #2445 [F] #1%739,700,0007# representing an increase of approximately HK$31.8 million or approximately

JEHETINA)31,800,000% L8 £14.3% © 4.3% over that of the last corresponding year of approximately HK$739.7
million.

A, TRIRE — RRERE G A.  Gaming Services — Continuing Operations
BEEFNEFH =+ —HILF For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded total gaming
> AR B BRAGAR B R ACE ER Y I revenue from continuing operations of approximately HK$393.1
MR 4 £ £5393,100,0009 70 > 8L 4R million, representing an increase of approximately HK$57.4 million
[F] 11 #335,700,000% T4 11 57,400,000 or approximately 17.1% over that of the last corresponding year of
WL A17.1% © approximately HK$335.7 million.

A A TR RS i s 2 B B I S 35 1 The Group’s revenue from gaming services consisted of service income
w35 B A i B 8t 1) IR 5 B R it 1) R R received from SIM for services and facilities provided relating to mass
AU AR B U market tables in Legend Palace Casino.
Vg 2 Legend Palace Casino
th 5 REAR
Mass Market Tables

RET-HA=ZT—HILAE
For the year ended 31 December

e 2 11! B SEH)
2024 2023 change
T T %
HK$000 HK$°000 %
R Games drop 4,353,453 3,855,292 12.9
AR Net win 714,797 607,674 17.6
IS Hold rate 16.42% 15.76% 0.7
REraE I EH Average number of tables 33 33 0.0
TR AR H IR SR AR Net win per table per day 59 51 15.7
2l Reported revenue 393,139 335,663 17.1
A S A ) RS E No. of gaming tables in operation
as at year end 33 33 0.0
RoE ZWE+Y—H=+—H > REH As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 33 gaming tables in
NP LA 33k (. FE - =F -+ H Macau (31 December 2023: 33), of which 33 (31 December 2023: 33)
=+—H 335 » Hi33E(CFE = were put into operation.

+A=E+—H 339 OHRAEE -

10 MR AR ATRAT] 20244
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

e R B — R R B. Non-gaming Operations — Continuing Operations

BEFWEFT A = HIEERE For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded total non-
AR BRAT AR A R A ET Y R gaming revenue from continuing operations of approximately HK$378.3
Al i £1378,300,000%5 7T - BLFAR L) million, representing a decrease by approximately HK$25.7 million
404,000,000%5 7518 7> #925,700,00045 7T 5L 4 or approximately 6.4% below that of the last corresponding year of
6.4% ° w2k EEIE A H¥E A Tk approximately HK$404.0 million. The decrease was mainly due to the
G B D o drop in average daily room rate, causing the decrease in revenue from

hotel rooms.

R A A MY I R A A A T The following table provides details on the composition of the Group’s
AR non-gaming revenue:
BETT-H=1—H
Year ended 31 December
TR CERTEA
2024 2023
Tt T
HK$°000 HK$’000
G & B U A Income from hotel rooms 197,467 218,570
BB REA Licensing income from investment properties 44,044 38,866
BT BRI Income from building management services 26,012 20,070
BAK Food and beverage 103,496 107,385
[GEE Sales of merchandise 72 164
HoAt Others 7,235 18,938
FE R 5 M RSB S 2 I R KRR Total revenue from non-gaming continuing
operations 378,326 403,993
TREIAEEAEE —F _WE+ = The following table sets out certain key operational data on our major
A=t+—H R -F =+ _"A=1+— hotel operations of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024
H A AR Bl EE A T B and 31 December 2023:
EE R
BET-H=+—H
For the year ended 31 December
TR S
2024 2023
BhEEE R E EYEIE B RE I SN E
Legend Palace Harbourview Legend Palace Harbourview
Hotel Hotel Hotel Hotel
AEF (%) Occupancy rate (%) 91.8 92.1 89.7 93.6
H 3555 At (#7e) ADR (HK$) 965 815 1,043 867
AR A AHE B U (70)  REVPAR (HKS) 885 750 935 812

Macau Legend Development Limited 2024 Annual Report 11
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FEHIEEBITDA — #4545 55 2 1

BE_F - NWE+_H=+—HIEEF
P4 488 SE TS 1) K8 T B EBITD A #%45 Uis
F41159,800,000% 50 - 1M 25 4F 6] ) /4 %k
FI#196,800,000% T 7% 34 I = 2 i i i
25 181 £931,800,0009 50 - L Eiti— &
B AR P A B > AR KR >
FEAERBR AN FE R A B I AF B A K B
T A4 Bl P #119,600,0009 76 & 4
11,900,000 JC °

T 3R B B A R S SE T BEEBITDA LA
DS NG 8 A A SR -

Adjusted EBITDA - Continuing Operations

Adjusted EBITDA on continuing operations for the year ended 31
December 2024 recorded a profit of approximately HK$159.8 million,
while that for the last corresponding year was a profit of approximately
HK$96.8 million. This improvement was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue of approximately HK$31.8 million, as well as the
implementation of a series of cost control measures, which resulted
in significant decrease in cost, including but not limited to the drops
in cost of inventories and staff cost for non-gaming operations by
approximately HK$19.6 million and approximately HK$11.9 million
respectively.

The following table reconciles the Adjusted EBITDA on continuing
operations to the profit attributable to owners of the Company:

BET A= —HIESE

Year ended 31 December

e 112 TAERTEAE
2024 2023
Tt TH#IT
HK$°000 HK$’000
(K& H 1))
(Restated)
SRR A TR N R R Loss for the year from continuing operations (697,662) (49,882)
AR Adjustments for:
Al A Finance costs 189,792 202,159
i C/ESiE Depreciation of investment properties 17,994 17,994
L ES G T Depreciation of property and equipment 260,075 292,077
ARG A T 8 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 44,761 45,040
W) 2 B AR R s 4R Loss on disposal of property and equipment 13,176 12,034
SRl EE 2 B TE, Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses)
(BB R ) > FEE on financial assets, net 22 (138)
LE VNG ENEREY i Impairment losses on property and equipment 274,473 -
ot R RE S U (e 1 Impairment losses on right-of-use assets 74,308 -
U U R 1 Impairment losses on long term deposit 27,458 -
KBS SR, (i s) Unrealized exchange loss/(gain) 2 4)
FLE YA Interest income (193) (135)
AT B Bl 28 T B BT (2 13 [l Reversal of write down of inventories to net
realizable value (784) (390)
A Compensation income (134) (90)
RETEIR Income tax credit (43,440) (421,096)
HoAth Other = (788)
LHIREEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA 159,848 96,781

MR AR ATRAT] 20244
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Fi2 43S E 43 (1) £8 S EBITD A AT (K845
ST SRR T -

An analysis of the Adjusted EBITDA by segments (after elimination of
inter-segment results) is as follows:

BETT-H=1—H
Year ended 31 December
R P —Ex =
2024 2023
T THIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
(K 5)
(Restated)
TR w5 Gaming services 119,236 94,855
R Non-gaming operations 49,774 14,429
/it Sub-total 169,010 109,284
P> Al Unallocated corporate expenses " 9,162) (12,503)
KSTIREEBITDA — R A8 315 Adjusted EBITDA — Continuing Operations 159,848 96,781
B 5T - Remark:

(1) SR BCAFER C  A6LLIT
SRS o

WBERFHSEER 2 EFAEEBITDA
wom o AEEEE _F _NE+ A
= H R W R OK E  E A
622,600,000%5 G > T 2= 4[] 1 2 ks 1R 40
4,900,000% JC © 5% K I 14 Jin 32 2 iy i A
AR I A R ) RS R kA A ) B TE
H T4 1 JE 4 B & = R W E 1R 4
376,200,000%% 7 > LA K 2= 4F [m] 1R P BT
154 FE BB A 188 171 415,500,000 5 T ©

B

FHEWAGHNEE - FE WET A
=+ —H IEFEEE IR R (CF
T ) o

(1)  The amounts represented the unallocated corporate expenses, offsetting
with its inter-segment elimination.

Despite the increase in adjusted EBITDA generated from continuing
operations, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2024
increased significantly to approximately HK$622.6 million, as compared
to the loss of approximately HK$4.9 million in the last corresponding
year. This significant increase was mainly due to the impairment losses
of approximately HK$376.2 million recognised in relation to the non-
financial assets held by the Group’s investment projects in Macau
and Cape Verde in the current year, as well as the write back of a
provision for Macau complementary tax of HK$415.5 million in the last
corresponding year.

Dividend

The Board will not declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

Macau Legend Development Limited 2024 Annual Report 13
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BT MR

FEAE T SARMBEE BT R 4R
TR PR B N BUCRR A T o AR ) 4 I BXURT 4%
PN A RGN > F A =
AERY2,820 8 A VRIS I & T IUAERY 3,490 B
NI > Wa23.8% 5 SR > T I5 2EH A0 H
AERME ETHE52% > B - F - ZFM81.2%
W5 TR T PULER86.4% » 1T TR B AR I A HE
BN E T ZFEMRQUEBEB TN E14.9%E —F
ZAAE R 699EHE O o FH A IR B S A HiL i A
SO B > IRATEHE MR iR A - B R
AR B -

AL BN PIR EEm E » F TUAR
PRSI0 AR 250 T T = AEREIN4957,400,000
HeoT > WIRIE17.1% > M FEEEBITDARI M —
K T ZHE#194,900,0007 TN FE & T PU4E
#1119,200,0008% TG o L E T E il RE BB
T A A RE AL S T [ R R IR T -

MALEFERBEMMIFEEEEENS > —_F
T ERRMSR ARG O ALY
25,700,000 5C > WD #16.4% > 1 KT
EBITDAH & — = 4E4714,400,0007 G35 in &
T T4 4149,800,0009 T o YK g £
M HYFH N BB E & B s o
HR A5 VP 45 [ R S 5 B 2 s Y s - TG
IR B S, R T AR U T AR 1A
KPR BURAE N %3.75% o 8 FEEBITDARE fin &
R A B — 2R 5 A FE i O

JEEBARA > AERIGFREEAT LR - LIS F
i F R A TR BB o FRAMIT R A L B VR A
ALY RSB R > 42 THfE I8 55 A st
SR > DLSAR R SRR T I A SR o U
b > AR CESEMARB IR T 3] > WE % T
RS AN TR 268 - 15 A A T R A iR 2 A B
FIEHE— LA EE > TRl A B B 5 R A BE
) L 5 22 B o
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Visitation in Macau continued to grow throughout 2024, building on the
significant upswing witnessed in 2023. According to the figures from
Macau SAR Government Statistics and Census Service, the total number of
visitor arrivals in 2024 increased to 34.9 million from 28.2 million in 2023,
representing an increase of 23.8%; however, the monthly average occupancy
rate of hotel sector only increased by approximately 5.2% from 81.2% in 2023
to 86.4% in 2024 while the total value of retail sales even dropped by 14.9%
from HK$82.1 billion in 2023 to HK$69.9 billion in 2024. Due to the sensible
spending pattern of visitors, as well as locally, we remained cautiously
optimistic towards tourism, retail and catering industries in Macau.

For the gaming operation of the Group in Macau, the total revenue recorded
in 2024 increased by approximately HK$57.4 million as compared to 2023,
representing an increase of 17.1% and the Adjusted EBITDA also increased
from approximately HK$94.9 million generated in 2023 to approximately
HK$119.2 million generated in 2024. The improvements were primarily
attributable to the full-year normalization of post-pandemic operations and the
enhanced efficiency of our matured operation teams.

For the non-gaming operations of the Group in Macau, the total revenue
recorded in 2024 decreased by approximately HK$25.7 million as compared
to 2023, representing a decrease of approximately 6.4% while the Adjusted
EBITDA increased from approximately HK$14.4 million generated in 2023 to
approximately HK$49.8 million generated in 2024. The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to the drop in average daily room rate, causing the decrease in
revenue from hotel rooms. As reported by Macau SAR Government Statistics
and Census Service, similar trend in the market was observed where the price
index for accommodation in the fourth quarter of 2024, on a year-on-year
basis, dropped by 3.75%. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was mainly due
to the implementation of a series of cost control measures.

Going forward, the Group will continue to execute its strategies to better
position itself for seizing opportunities and overcoming challenges.
Resources will continue to be allocated to optimize the facilities of the Macau
Fisherman’s Wharf, enhancing the exclusive experience of the waterfront
complex and improving its flexibility to host large-scale events. Moreover,
the Group started to observe a drop in interest rates; if this downward trend
persists as expected, it will not only benefit the broader recovery of tourism-
related industries as a whole, but also enable the Group to allocate more cash
flow for future development.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity needs primarily comprise working capital, capital
expenditure, and servicing borrowings of the Group. The Group has generally
funded its operations and development projects from internal resources, debt
and/or equity financing.

As at 31 December 2024, the consolidated net assets attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$3,038.0 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$667.2 million from approximately HK$3,705.2
million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease in consolidated net assets
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly due to the Group’s loss
for the year of approximately HK$622.6 million.

Cash and bank balances

As at 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances held by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$52.3 million (excluding pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$1.7 million), which was denominated mainly in HK$ and
MOP. Given MOP is linked to HK$, the Group considers the exposure to
exchange rate risk is nominal for its cash and bank balances denominated in
MOP.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding (i) secured and
guaranteed bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,066.4 million, and (ii)
unsecured, unguaranteed and interest bearing other borrowings of HK$339.4
million. The bank borrowings and other borrowings carried interest at Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2.25%-3% per annum and 5%-11.4% per
annum respectively. The Group’s bank borrowings and other borrowings were
denominated in HKS.

Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2024, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure credit facilities and use of electricity granted to the Group, including
investment properties with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$428.8 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$446.8 million),
buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$3,177.9 million
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$3,555.2 million), right-of-use assets
with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$1,014.9 million (31
December 2023: approximately HK$1,067.9 million), trade receivables of
approximately HK$47.9 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$69.0
million), bank deposits of approximately HK$1.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$1.7 million) and rental deposits paid of approximately
HKS$1.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$1.6 million).

Gearing

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total borrowings
(e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s net gearing ratio was 77.4% (31 December 2023: 67.6%).
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not employ any financial instruments
for hedging purposes and the Group did not carry out any hedging activities
against its foreign currencies.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has a funding and treasury policy to monitor its funding
requirements and perform ongoing liquidity review. The Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to meet its
funding requirement by the management of the Company for the operation of
the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any litigations
or claims of material importance and, so far as the Directors are aware, no
litigation or claims of material importance are pending or threatened by or
against any companies of the Group.

As at the end of the reporting period, pursuant to the 1st Addendum of the
New Service Agreement, the Group provided a bank guarantee of HK$82.0
million (31 December 2023: HK$82.0 million) to STM.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares (including the sale of treasury shares) during the year ended
31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, there were no treasury shares held by the Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,149 (2023: 2,273)
employees, including 327 (2023: 293) gaming operation employees who were
employed and paid by SJM but over whom the Group exercised oversight in
accordance with the New Service Agreement. The Group reimbursed SJM in
full for the salaries and other benefits of these gaming operation employees.
The significant decrease in employees was mainly attributable to the disposal
of operation in Lao PDR during the year, we had a total of 1,055 employees in
Lao PDR as at 31 December 2023.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining a stable staff force for its
continued success. Staff remuneration is determined by reference to personal
qualifications, work performance, industry experience, responsibilities and
relevant market trends. Discretionary bonuses are granted to employees based
on merit and in accordance with industry practice. Other benefits including
retirement benefits, subsidised medical care, pension funds and sponsorship
for external education and training programmes are offered to eligible
employees.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after the end of the reporting period and up
to the date of this annual report that either request adjustment of the financial
statement or are material to the understanding of the Group’s current position.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan, aged 49, has been an executive Director since 29
December 2020 and was a co-chairman of the Board since 1 March 2022. He
became the chairman of the Board since 16 August 2022. He has also been
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee since 15 December
2022 and the chief executive officer since 1 January 2023. He has studied
finance at University of South Australia and has extensive experience in the
commercial and gaming industry in Macau. He was the chief executive officer
of the Macau Jockey Club from 2007 to 2021. He has also actively participated
in public and community services in Macau, including the roles of being a
member of the 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative of Guangzhou
Province — Macau district from 2012 to 2017; a member of the 12th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative of Sichuan Province — Macau district since
2018; a director of Tung Wah Group of Hospital in Hong Kong from 2006 to
2010; the vice-president of Associacao Geral de Ciclismo de Macau, China (11
I3 YL B 4 r) form 2012 to April 2024 and become a president since May
2024; a committee member of the central committee of the Macau Red Cross
since 2014; a committee member of Conselho do Desporto (I [ #8 & Z & €r)
since 2018; and the president of the Macau Association of Young Employees
in the Gaming Industry from 2016 to 2021. Mr Li is the son of Mr Li Chi
Keung, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr Li Chu Kwan in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report
of this annual report.

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, aged 60, has been an executive Director since 26
March 2020, and was chief executive officer of the Company from 26 March
2020 to 29 December 2020 and from 1 March 2022 to 1 January 2023. She
has also been appointed as vice chairman of the Board since 1 January 2023
and is responsible for the overseas business development of the Group. Ms
Melinda Chan is a graduate of Peking University and has over 30 years of
extensive experience in the business and management of casinos. Since her
appointment as president of MFW Investment in October 2017, she has been
actively involved in shaping MFW’s policy and daily operations.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Ms Melinda Chan was a directly-elected member of the fourth and fifth
Legislative Assembly of Macau and a committee member on the Establishing
Talents Development Committee of Macau, and is currently a committee
member on the Tourism Development Committee of Macau. She has served
as a committee member on the third, fourth and fifth Chief Executive Election
Committee. Ms Melinda Chan is a standing committee of the Guangdong
Political Consultative Committee, the vice chairman of the Guangdong
Federation of Industry and Commerce, the vice chairman of the Guangdong
Federation of Women and the executive committee of the All-China Women’s
Federation.

Ms Melinda Chan is the managing director of Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real
Estate Development Co. Ltd. (65T % 4 1 5 b 2 B #E A FR /A 7)), and has
been responsible for the overall planning, construction and completion of the
Legendale Hotel Beijing Project since 2004. She is also the vice chairman of
Zhuhai Hengqin New Area Lai Ieng Commercial Management Co. Ltd. (Pfif
TR 25 i i R A B R D).

Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow, a former Director of the
Company and a substantial shareholder of the Company. The discloseable
interest of Ms Melinda Chan in the Shares and underlying Shares under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, aged 33, has been a non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee since 1 September 2016. Ms Ho is a daughter
of Ms Chan Un Chan, a substantial shareholder of the Company. She was
awarded a bachelor of science in economics from the University of London in
August 2012 and was conferred the degree of master of science in professional
accountancy in 2020. She is also a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Ms Ho was an assistant tax advisor
with Ernst & Young PLL in London in 2013 and a senior staff accountant
with Ernst & Young PLL in Beijing from March 2014 to October 2014. She
has been a director of UNIR Australia Pty Ltd, the group of which owns
substantial real estate assets including hospitality, retail and office investments
in Perth, Australia. She is also a director of Smile with us HK Limited since 4
September 2018. Ms Ho has been a member of Foshan Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC since 25
January 2019.
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Mr Li Chun Tak, aged 45, has been a non-executive Director since 1 March
2022. Mr Li is a registered solicitor of the High Court and a partner of Y.S.
Lau & Partners. He has over a decade’s experience in the legal field. Mr
Li graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor
degree majoring in Information Technology and later obtained a bachelor
degree in law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in 2008 and
his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) from the University of Hong
Kong in 2011. In addition to his experience in the legal field, he also has
substantial experience in the field of business management, having managed
and supervised projects in information technology, financing, and business
strategic planning.

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy, aged 65, has been a non-executive Director, a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
since 9 September 2022. He has over 30 years of experience in the auditing
and accounting profession. Mr Wong graduated with an honours diploma in
accounting from Hong Kong Baptist College in 1984. He is the sole proprietor
of Eddy Wong & Co., Certified Public Accountants, and also is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing
Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 125), whose securities are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and an independent non-
executive director of China All Access (Holdings) Limited (In Liquidation),
a company incorporated in Cayman Islands primarily engaged in Information
and Communicate Technology Business whose securities were previously
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and its listing status was
canceled in 16 January 2023. A winding up order was made against China
All Access (Holdings) Limited (In Liquidation) by the High Court of
Hong Kong on 21 June 2021 and Messrs. So Man Chun and Jong Yat Kit
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited have been appointed as its joint and
several liquidators. The subject winding-up petition was filed by a corporate
bond holder in respect of a claim of approximately HK$10,000,000. He was
appointed as an independent non-execuitive director of WellCell Holdings
Co., Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 2477) on 26 September 2024.

Mr Wong was an independent non-executive director of Gaoyu Finance Group
Limited (formerly known as “PF Group Holdings Limited”) (stock code:
8221) from 11 December 2020 to 10 October 2021, whose securities are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, aged 58, has been an independent non- executive
Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee since 29 December
2020. Mr Lau obtained a professional diploma in accountancy from Hong
Kong Polytechnic in November 1989. Mr Lau is a Practicing Certified Public
Accountant and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
has over 30 years of experience in auditing and accounting with extensive
experience in areas of initial public offering, merger and acquisition and
corporate finance exercise. He had served Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for 25
years from 1993 to 2018 and had been a partner thereof for 17 years. He is
currently a director of Moore CPA Limited.

Mr Lau was appointed as an independent non-executive director of New
Horizon Health Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 6606) and Perfect Optronics Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 8311) on 8
April 2024 and 1 July 2024, respectively.

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin), aged 57, has been
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee since 1 June 2021. Mr Wang is the chairman of Shenzhen
Academia Capital Management* (I HEE A E FA PR /A7), an onshore
hedge fund based in Shenzhen which runs various China A-share quantitative
investment strategies in China, since 2016.

Mr Wang received a bachelor’s degree in Mathematics from Peking University,
a master degree in Applied Mathematics from University of Massachusetts
Ambherst, and a doctoral degree in Finance from Yale University.

Mr Wang had almost 30 years of global investment experience in the United
States and China. From 2000 to 2010, he held various senior positions at
Putnam Investments and Acadian Asset Management (“Acadian”) in the
United States, including the roles of senior portfolio manager and senior
partner at Acadian during which Acadian Global Emerging Markets Fund,
under his supervision, ranked top in the investment yield from 2000 to 2009.
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After coming back to China, he served as the chief executive officer at E Fund
Management (Hong Kong) between 2010 and 2012, and the chief investment
officer at Bosera Asset Management (Shenzhen) between 2012 and 2015. He
founded his own hedge fund company in China in 2015. Mr Wang also served
as an independent director of Shenzhen Salubris Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
between 2016 and 2020.

Currently, Mr Wang is an independent non-executive director of Great China
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (Stock Code: 21), the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

In addition, Mr Wang has been undertaking multiple social responsibilities.
He was the president of The Chinese Finance Association in the United States
and a member of Shenzhen People’s Congress in China. Mr Wang is currently
the president of the Shenzhen Financial Professionals Association.

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick, aged 60, has been an independent non- executive
Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
both the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee since 1 March
2022. Mr Mak is a registered solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and
Managing Partner of Patrick Mak & Tse, Solicitors. Mr Mak has over 25
years’ legal experience in the legal practice. He was awarded the Common
Professional Examination Certificate in Laws by the University of Hong Kong
in 1995 and was awarded his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) by the
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Mr Mak is currently an independent non-executive director of Far East
Holdings International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 0036). He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Water Industry Group Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code:
1129) on 3 September 2024. He had also been an independent non- executive
director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited (a company
previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code:
1175, listing of which was canceled on 9 February 2023) from 8 July 2013 to
13 December 2021.

Save as disclosed, each of the Directors, confirmed, to the best of his or her
knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, there
were no other information relating to him/her required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51 B(1) of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chief financial officer

Ms Lam Shu Yan, aged 40, is the chief financial officer of the Group. Ms
Lam graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with a Bachelor
of Arts in Economics with Honors and is also a Certified Public Accountant
under the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Professional Committee of Accountants in Macau SAR. Ms Lam worked at the
Macau Jockey Club from 2013 to 2023 with last position held as director of
Finance and KPMG Macau from 2007 to 2013 with last position held as Audit
and Tax Manager. Ms Lam has extensive experience in financial planning,
cash flow management, credit management, risk management, evaluation,
financial consolidation, financial reporting and analysis, compliance, internal
control, audit and tax advisory. Her exposures cover a wide range of industries
including horse racing, pari-mutual gaming, fortune gaming, entertainment,
banking, insurance, pharmaceutical and public services.

Senior vice president of finance

Mr Lei Vai Ip, aged 58, is the senior vice president of finance of the Group.
Mr Lei joined the Group since 2003. He has obtained a professional diploma
in Accounting from Jinan University and been awarded with a bachelor degree
in International Tourism Management from Macau University of Science
and Technology. Mr Lei has over 30 years of work experience in accounting,
hospitality financial management, financial forecasting and budget planning.

Senior vice president of human resources & administration

Ms Ng Wai Cheng, Diarle, aged 52, is the senior vice president of human
resources & administration of the Group, is responsible for the Group’s
Macau, mainland China and overseas human resources management
and strategy. Ms Ng has substantial human resources and administration
experiences in gaming, hotel, food and beverage, infrastructure and trading
industries. Previously, she was the director of human resources of Landmark
Macau, she also handled human resources related matters in Pharaoh’s Palace
Casino. Ms Ng graduated from Jinan University with Bachelor of Arts Degree
in International Journalism and Communications, and engaged in media
industry after graduation. Currently, she is the vice president of Macau Greater
Bay Area Human Resources Association, and also the head of Personnel
Committee of the Macau Hotel Association.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company believes that good corporate governance practices are very
important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and for the
sustainable growth of the Group. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of the Group’s business. The Board is committed to strengthening
the Group’s corporate governance practices and ensuring transparency and
accountability of the Company’s operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied with
the CG Code and Listing Rules requirements, except for code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

A. The Board
Al. Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management and control of the Company’s business
are vested in the Board, whose main roles are to provide
leadership and to approve strategic policies and plans with a view
to enhancing shareholder value. All Directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management and
internal control systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary
and senior management, with a view to ensuring compliance
with Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations.
Any Director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed by the Company. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above-mentioned officers. The Board has
the full support of the senior management to discharge its
responsibilities.
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A2.

HHFEFH L A2. Board Composition

AR BRI B > EH el The composition of the Board during the year and as at the date

DU B AL of this annual report is as follows:

PATHEHE

Executive Directors:

A e (FEFH G L TEAHRGNZE G &%)

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman of the Board, chief executive officer and a member of Remuneration Committee)

BRFEH L e )

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-Chairman)

FEPATH S :

Non-executive Directors:

R 4 1 (HEREEETHA)

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda (A member of the Audit Committee)

RS

Mr Li Chun Tak

BB (FrNZ G & RIEEZE G &l A)

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy (A member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

WL AT E DR

Independent non-executive Directors:

BIRSESE (FHFHZE GG HHNE G & RIEEE GG A)

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and

the Nomination Committee)

BN/ e (N2 5 & LI e Z Ao RIBE LB M A)

Mr Wang Hongxin (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and
(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) the Nomination Committee)

KRR (HEE5E G & L He#H % E G & RENE S 5

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the

Remuneration Committee)

TRMESR AT PRA ] 202443
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2 BT 3 55 1Y) JE JRE A B el The biographical details of the existing Directors and the
B2 T BRI A A 0 [ g I relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
AL B | — A R under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in

this annual report.

HREFOHET EHHRE3 10K The Board has met the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
3I0ARMHLE » HEA I =2 of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three independent
SEFEHATE R EEF G R0 non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the
—) o MH R — 2L IF AT Board) with one of them possessing appropriate professional
FEM A E LG - gat LA qualifications and accounting and related financial management
WA BB R N expertise.

HRGNE AL B EGTER The members of the Board have skills and experience appropriate
H AT 72 A 7 B AR B o AT for the business requirements and objectives of the Group.
HRIRBHER A TAEE AR Each executive Director is responsible for different business
5 BRRETRI o JERATE R HEF and functional division of the Group in accordance with his/her
AR A 0 TS R B B expertise. The non-executive Directors bring different business
ik BRI O ST B o T AR S and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to
BRAANAEEREGERE - B# the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board committees
2 B3 o a ok Soa s B SO of the Company. Through participation in Board meetings and
R A2 M JERATESR D taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts
AN A FTSLA SO EHE L E R of interests, the non-executive Directors had made contributions
NG AL JE S AR A R A > DAPR AR to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
SE I KRR A R 25 o checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group

and the shareholders.

ARG A 2B A5 57 I AT I AR The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
P b T AR B A A A ST v i independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
WA R o ARATRR A - % to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
I BT RE BB S5 > & all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light
BB ST IE AT E R BB AL - of the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

AN T v B A RO DA The Company has implementable and effective mechanism to
e % 1) 28 =5 & 48 S R R AR ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
A HEZRRER - )R 4 with the following key features: (i) the Nomination Committee
ZEE > WHPRENRRESRE > U is established with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
W AR EN > S5 E T IEH candidates, including independent non-executive Directors,
1T#ESH > DMTmES  (HIREZEAR for appointment of Directors; (ii) the Nomination Committee
R B S AT will assess annually the independence of all independent non-
RO SLPE 5 RGil)EF AL BT executive Directors; and (iii) the Directors are entitled to seek, at
HOHE R A MR s the Group’s expense, independent professional advice reasonably
o B A E RS - R EE necessary for discharging their duties as Directors. During
FWNFE+F+_HA=+—HI-FE the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed
A O A A AR 1 B B A R the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism and
P R A ARL - considered it to be effective.
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A3.

Ad.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Mr Li Chu Kwan currently performs both of the roles as the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company. This deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code. The Board considers that this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
both the roles of chairman and the chief executive officer in the
same person has the benefit of providing a strong and consistent
leadership to the Group and allows for more effective planning,
management and implementation of the overall strategy of the
Group. In addition, the Board is of the view that the balanced
composition of executive and the independent non-executive
Directors on the Board and the various committees of the Board
(primarily comprising independent non-executive Directors)
in overseeing different aspects of the Company’s affairs would
provide adequate safeguards to ensure a balance of power and
authority. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
at a time when appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole. Hence, the aforesaid
deviation is appropriate and in the best interest of the Company at
the present stage.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term. Each of the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors is engaged on a
service contract for a term of one year, which may be terminated
by either party by not less than three months’ written notice.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
is appointed for a term of two or three years and renewable
automatically for a successive term of one year each commencing
from the next day after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, unless terminated by either party giving to the other
not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.
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HEREAMAHARR BT R R EE The Articles of Association contain provisions on the procedures
AR FOMFE R RLE - RIEERRAM and process of appointment and removal of Directors. According
H) > HE =2 —EATESR (N E to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for
H AN IE =2 A58 M Ay medin the time being (if their number is not a multiple of three, the
(BRI =5y 2 —BE ) 8 number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
JEHOAFE R g Ein 4R > Sl office by rotation at each annual general meeting provided
2 H R0 B = AR R IRROA AR K that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
& Flm R —IK o WAk > A general meeting at least once every three years. In addition, any
AT D) SR S B IR 2 new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
A7 6 ST A e R AR A the Board and any new Director appointed by the Board as an
HHEGIHER AL E AN addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following
T E A AR L o BT annual general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors
AT 7R B e RO o Il R R g are eligible for re-election by the Shareholders at the respective
fE o general meetings.
RIEEEFEAN A ZE 841k » R R A4 According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr Mak
JHIA R T AR RORAE AR K E i Ka Wing, Patrick shall retire by rotation at the 2025 AGM being
FERAT > DA G A% BRI eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM.
TR RRES R The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended his
1 - TG R A 2 BB re-appointment. Ms Melinda Chan will retire as an executive
T o AR R AR R 45 RIRE > BRSE Director and Mr Wang Hongxin will retire as an independent
Bl TR EHATE F X F ARG non-executive Director at the conclusion of the AGM in order to
ARHRAT B F BT #H > DIRA devote more time to pursue their other work commitments. The
B 2 IR ] 48 SR 0% 4 A A T AE % Company expects to appoint a new independent non-executive
PE o A2 W FEI R IR AR R & Director at the AGM in order to fulfill Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
FEE-BHBL I ATES - U Rules. The Company’s circular in relation to the 2025 AGM
e LRSS 10(1)F » AR F] contains detailed information of the above Directors as required
AR ZF ZHAERCRAER G2 by the Listing Rules.
708 LK) 2 b T AR JU) BT R E ATl
FTEAN R o

A5 EFHANR AR AS. Training and Continuing Development of Directors
BB AT B R T R AT R A 4 Each newly appointed Director will receive induction on the
ZNBRAR A o T R H A B2 1 ) S first occasion of his/her appointment so as to ensure he/she has
B BB A e R > SRR appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
&AL R B A B B A R T Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
T BOHR B HLRAT: - and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

BUAT 2 o 2 078 Y A S R The existing Directors should participate in appropriate
& > DAREE S AR T LR K R continuous professional development to develop and refresh
ifE P A 56 o) =8 = F L1 RS A AH B their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
BIER o« AN AR E BT 5 the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
# A 2ZPERFEL A A g i e 2 briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading materials on
B AR B 32 R R BEEA R o A AR relevant topics will be issued to Directors by the Company where
BB T A R 2 BUM B B R AR appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
2 e A R R - training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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A6.

All Directors receive a comprehensive induction and shall
obtain legal advice on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and
full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The existing Directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, business and market changes to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Continuing briefings and professional development for Directors
are arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials
on new or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to
the Group are provided to the Directors from time to time for their
studying and reference. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors
complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. All
Directors namely, Mr Li Chu Kwan, Ms Melinda Chan, Ms Ho
Chiulin, Laurinda, Mr Li Chun Tak, Mr Wong Che Man Eddy,
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr Mak Ka
Wing, Patrick have received regular briefings and updates from
professional firm on the Group’s business/operations/corporate
governance matters which are relevant to their duties and
responsibilities.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
governing Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”), governing securities transactions by relevant
employees who are likely to possess inside information of the
Company and/or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was
noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its
Directors and relevant employees in advance.
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A7, BFEEIRBGE A7. Corporate Governance Functions
#HHGAERITMEE RIS The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
PGSBS A2 GBI Rk BE the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
BE_FUE+_HA=+—HIk During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has
FEE S ERGUREIAAFAMNAE reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
EIRHURBLE R - EF m g practices, training and continuous professional development of
ELERET SRS 3 i  BIIESPS Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
R S L A AR ) RO B practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
B~ A A RV SF A ARSI the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
F 1 DL B AR A 28 TR R AR this Corporate Governance Report.

A8 #FHE AR AS8. Directors’ Attendance Records
HEHELFEARANFREE F N The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings,
T H = R RRATIE Board committees meetings and general meetings of the Company
HETHk - EFEEGERIK held during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:
REHFCERHEIIAT

HIY 9 £ L 2 ERe

Attendance/Number of Meetings
WG wHRZBREE HmzEe RUEZHG JBe O3B 45

HHLEA ik ik ik ik PN
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

A e 4/4 - 212 - 1/1

Mr Li Chu Kwan

[F eSS/ 4/4 - - - 1/1

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda

R 3 4 - 4/4 3/3 - - 11

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

RS 4/4 - - - 1/1

Mr Li Chun Tak

B A 4/4 - 2/2 111 11

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

BIRAESE 4/4 3/3 2/2 111 11

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

EALRSEE 4/4 3/3 212 11 11

Mr Wang Hongxin

(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
BRESEE 4/4 3/3 212 1/1 11
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company have been established with defined written
terms of reference which are posted on the Company’s website “www.
macaulegend.com” and on the Stock Exchange’s website “www.
hkexnews.hk”. All the Board committees should report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Bl1. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of four members, being
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr Lau
Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr Mak
Ka Wing, Patrick; and one non-executive Director, namely,
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda. Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky possesses
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors. All
of the members are non-executive Directors and the majority of
the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
financial information and reports of the Group and considering
any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers
of the Group or external auditors before submission to the Board;
reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment of
the external auditors and making the relevant recommendation
to the Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management system and internal control system.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
has performed the following major tasks:

—  Reviewed and discussed the annual financial statements,
results announcement and report for the year ended
31 December 2023, the related accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and the relevant
audit findings, the report from the management on the
Company’s risk management and internal control review
and processes and recommendation of the re-appointment
of the external auditor;

— Reviewed and reported on continuing connected
transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December
2023;

—  Reviewed and discussed the interim financial statements,
results announcement and report for the six months ended
30 June 2024 and the related accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group;

—  Reviewed and approved the engagement letters of Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company, the nature and scope
of the audit for the year ended 31 December 2024, their
reporting obligations and their work plan; and

—  Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function, internal audit plan and report.

The external auditors were invited to attend the meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from the
audit and financial reporting matters. Besides, there was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of Ernst & Young as the external
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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B2.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of five members,
being three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr
Wang Hongxin (Chairman), Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and Mr
Mak Ka Wing, Patrick; one non-executive Director, namely, Mr
Wong Che Man Eddy; and one executive Director, namely, Mr
Li Chu Kwan. Accordingly, the majority of the members are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration packages
of Directors and members of senior management (i.e. the model
described in the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code). The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance
of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration

Committee has performed the following major tasks:

—  Assessed the performance of executive Directors;

—  Reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy; and

— Reviewed the remuneration packages of Directors
and senior management and to make any appropriate

adjustments, approve the terms of service agreements/
appointment letters as appropriate.
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AR 4 2 8 A <1 B B9 <1 I SCER Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
E.l.5% » #fiZE -F _WE+ A remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
=t —HILEE > FHEUIMI SR than Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
TR R 1 A T I 4 8 0 A set out below:
I
AN
Number of
individuals
1,000,001 7T 422,000,000 G HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 3
3
| EAREFERAE N IE B o The above table excluded the employees that resigned during the
year.
FE#HE Z EF - H=+— Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
A E@F%%%%M B SRS A i year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 10 to the
AR [ A WA M 2 10 - consolidated financial statements of the Group.
B EREE B3. Nomination Committee
2% B et 4w B AL > 4 The Nomination Committee comprises a total of four members,
}D7|J B= ggg, ST ;qgﬁ TSR A being three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr
He () TR T B B 3 4 Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr
o /é ;E AT AR Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr
He o R > KEBAY Y B B B AT IR Wong Che Man Eddy. Accordingly, the majority of the members
TEF o are independent non-executive Directors.
2% B e EE ST The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
S LA }\g( T AN (L E include reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
FERE ~ NEk M AL > N E e the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
B AT ] iﬂ%stﬂi%% YL G basis and recommending any changes to the Board; identifying
¥ EO BT e B i A+ qualified and suitable individuals to become Board members
SPsE MR AL R EE and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the
SR E e R S selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing
WST AT EE B SIE  R the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
HERTWNETETULES CHRE making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
AN T R R AT AR AT Sy relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
MBE T EESE R EES R o succession planning for Directors in particular, the chairman and

the chief executive of the Company.
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The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage. A Board Diversity Policy has adopted by
the Company, pursuant to which the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In
relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee is committed to achieving diversity at
all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business
growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and
selection practices at all levels (from the Board downwards) are
appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.

As of the date of this annual report, 2 of 8 of the Company’s
Directors are female and 2 out of 3 of the senior management
of the Company are female. As of 31 December 2024, the
Group had a total of 549 female staff out of 1,149 employees,
representing 47.8% of the employees of the Group. Given the
current composition and general diversity of the Board, the Board
and the Nomination Committee are of the view that it is not
necessary to set numerical targets and timeline for board gender
diversity for the time being. Nonetheless, the Board will consider
setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and review such objectives from time to time as necessary
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives. Further details on the gender
ratio of the Group together with relevant data can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.
The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy
and considered it to be effective for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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ARNFINC RN E SRR L EOR - 7% The Company has also adopted the Director Nomination Policy
BUORGI L BLAR A R B AN R which sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
A R 119 25 SBE AEE T A DA R succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
HEEE - BIEMRES G EMYH appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure
EN/NEINTI=E i L YN TR 4] that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
LR s EEVYE -0 perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the
T S I S SRR ) Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
R EOR TR AL R g The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the factors for
ANZ GRS #H R W EE assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
BRI EERR » AR BRA « A B Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to
EE G (EAREA A R 2 3 the following: character and integrity; qualifications including
1 RIS AR B 2 L~ $hnk - professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that
FIk B K8 Bw) 5 & Jr i 2 oot (| are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;
FEARCRBRAER ~ 488 (/A Bk A diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
)~ UL RHEEE 5 - ik - ¥ age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
REBR - Hone - R RIRBAER) 5 E ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
HGg AR IFPATER ZHIE R of service; requirements of independent non-executive Directors
SRR AL AT O R A ARE B on the Board and independence of the proposed independent
U N YOS GRS N O] non- executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
W R A B A i > DUBATIE B A A and commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
HREG AR, WHEETZ BTN to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
BRI - committee(s) of the Company.
R EFEET A=+ During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
IL4EE > RAZABFCETU T E Committee has performed the following major tasks:
A
—  WETEEEREM - AN — Reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
AR I Z e DL TR L B 3 the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
CIE A S VS ETIR ) and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
B AL - A ALE the requirements for the business of the Group;
T
—  ERARA E] R A AR R R —  Recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors
AR R G LR AT I g5 g standing for re-election at the Company’s 2024 annual
Tz FERAHER R X general meeting; and
—  FEITAEBLERATE R —  Assessed the independence of all the independent non-
BN executive Directors.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, quarterly
financial information, inside information announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The senior management has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the financial information and
position of the Company, which are put to the Board for approval.

Save as detailed in the financial statements and in this annual report, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading
the management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has developed and adopted different risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including gaming
operations, hotel operations, food and beverage, construction, finance,
human resources, information technology.

The internal audit team is responsible for performing independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The internal audit team identifies
and examines key issues in relation to the hotel/casino management,
strategic management, key operational and financial processes, human
resources management, regulatory compliance and information security
and provides its findings and recommendations for improvement to the
Audit Committee.
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The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, has performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
by reviewing the management report and the internal audit findings,
the actions taken and the plans formulated to remedy the deficiencies.
The Board is not aware of any material defect or weakness of the
internal systems and controls in relation to anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing which would have an adverse impact on the
operations of the Group; and considered that the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general
guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report™ in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024
are analyzed below:

e AT 2
Fees paid/payable
(o0
(HK$)
B -
Audit services:
— WEFECWFEA T H = H IR R 3,610,000
— Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2024
FERZ BT
Non-audit services:
— B E A TS A = B kSR A R 570,000
— Interim review for the six months ended 30 June 2024
— BB A HUIRH; 160,000
— Tax compliance services
Hst 4,340,000
Total
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Company Secretary

Ms So Ka Man of Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider,
was appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 1 December 2022.

The primary contact person of the Company, whom Ms So Ka Man can
contact, is Ms Lam Shu Yan, the chief financial officer of the Company.

During the year under review, Ms So Ka Man has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional trainings in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decision.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of its shareholders’ communication
policy in place and considered it as effective and adequate. The
Company maintains a website at “www.macaulegend.com” as a
communication platform with Shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company as follows:

Address: Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf,
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat
Sen, Macau

Fax No.: (853) 2822 2266

Email: ir@macaulegend.com

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for communication
between the Board and the Shareholders. Board members and
appropriate senior staff of the Group are available at the meeting to
answer any questions raised by Shareholders.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its Shareholders and investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them posted of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
Shareholders and investors are dealt with in an informative and timely
manner.
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Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration
and voting. The Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general
meeting or put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings as follows:

(1)  Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company may
request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association by sending
a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary. The
objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

(2) If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant
to Article 85 of the Articles of Association, the shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by
the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged
at the Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s
branch share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of
such general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deliver and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement (as the case
may be) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order
to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

All resolutions proposed at shareholder meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company
“www.macaulegend.com”, respectively, immediately after the relevant
general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has not made
any changes to the Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholder may refer to the
Articles of Association for further detail of the rights of shareholders.
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Material Uncertainties Relating To Going Concern

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$2,513.0
million as at 31 December 2024 and incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$622.6 million during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Group’s total bank and other borrowings amounting to HK$2,405.8
million, which will be due for repayment within the next 12 months
from the end of the reporting period or are repayable on demand,
included instalments of loan principal amounting to HK$166.4 million
which have been in default as at the date of this annual report and
instalments of loan principal with an aggregate amount of HK$144.0
million which will be due by the end of 2025 according to the original
loan repayment schedule, while its cash and bank balances amounted to
HK$52.3 million as at 31 December 2024.

Pursuant to the relevant loan agreements, the Group is required to
comply with the loan covenants. Should the Group fail to comply with
the loan covenant clauses, the Group’s creditor banks (the “Banks’) may
exercise their rights to serve notice to demand for immediate repayment
of all outstanding bank borrowings including interest. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, a subsidiary of the Group failed to comply
with certain loan covenants for one of the Group’s bank borrowings
(triggered by the completion of disposal of the Group’s operation in Lao
PDR) regarding the arrangement of disposal proceeds, which in turn
triggered the non-compliance of a covenant of the Group’s another bank
borrowing. As a result, bank borrowings of HK$1,898.6 million with
original maturity date of over one year from the end of the reporting
period have been reclassified to current liabilities and all of the Group’s
bank borrowings of HK$2,066.4 million become immediately repayable
if demanded by the Banks. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the management has been holding ongoing discussions with the Banks
for an amicable solution in respect of the non-compliance of loan
covenants and extension of repayment dates of the aforesaid instalments
of loan principal in default and instalments to be due in 2025. As at the
date of this annual report, the Group (a) has not obtained any waiver
in respect of the non-compliance of loan covenants nor extension of
repayment dates of the instalments of loan principal in default and
instalments to be due in 2025; and (b) has not received any demand for
immediate repayment of the Group’s remaining bank borrowings from
the Banks other than the instalments of loan principal of HK$166.4
million in default.
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Also within the Group’s total bank and other borrowings to be due
for repayment within one year from the end of the reporting period
or repayable on demand, HK$50.0 million represents a loan from
the controlling shareholder of the Company, and HK$289.4 million
represents loans from the other substantial shareholders of the
Company. Management was also aware of the prevailing unstable
economic conditions, driven by factors including but not limited to
persistent geopolitical tension, high interest rate environment and
sluggish property market in China, which may have adversely impacted
the personal financial position and liquidity of certain of the Company’s
substantial shareholders, and in turn their ability to continue to provide
additional financial resources to the Group for meeting its financial
obligations. During the year ended 31 December 2024, balance of
shareholders’ loans decreased by HK$125.6 million upon partial
repayment made by the Group to the substantial shareholders. As such,
based on the forecasts prepared by the management, management
assumes that there is no further repayment of shareholders’ loans and
there is no assumption that the decreased amount or other additional
shareholder’s loan will be injected back or into the Group within the
next 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

Up to the date of this annual report, notwithstanding that the Group
has not received any demand for immediate repayment of the Group’s
remaining bank borrowings from the Banks as a result of the non-
compliance of loan covenants, the Group does not currently have
sufficient financial resources to fulfil its obligation of the instalments of
loan principal of HK$166.4 million which have been in default as at the
date of this annual report.

As stated and outlined above, there exist circumstances that cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the following:

(a)  the continual support from the Banks for not taking any actions
against the Group to exercise their right to demand immediate
repayment of the Group’s outstanding borrowings as a result of
the non-compliance of loan covenants and the Group’s default in
instalments of loan principal due;

(b) the continual support from the Banks for the restructuring of the

Group’s outstanding instalments of loan principal in default and
instalments of loan to be due in 2025 in the Group’s favour; and
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(c) the continual support from the Company’s controlling shareholder
and substantial shareholders for not requesting for repayment of
shareholders’ loans of HK$339.4 million in aggregate.

While the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 were prepared on a going concern basis, after
thorough deliberation with the Audit Committee, the Board is of the
view that this accounting basis to be appropriate based on the following
considerations:

. the Company is neither in liquidation nor subject to any winding-
up petitions;

. normal business operations have been maintained continuously
throughout 2024 and up to the date of this annual report; and

. no alternative accounting basis would be more appropriate than
the going concern basis for the financial statements of the Group.

The Board has been proactively addressing these concerns through
concrete measures to enhance the Group’s liquidity and financial
position.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and noncurrent
liabilities to current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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ABOUT THIS ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Macau Legend Development Limited (hereafter the “Company” or “Macau
Legend”) with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”, “we”, “our”) is
pleased to publish its environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report
(the “Report”), summarising our management approach, initiatives and

performance of the ESG issues.

Scope of Report

The Report covers the ESG management approaches, environmental and
social performance of the Group during the year from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (the “Reporting Period” or “2024”). With the assessment of
the material and core business operation, we have included our gaming and
non-gaming operations in Macau and Hong Kong, including offices, hotels,
casinos and Macau Fisherman Wharf (“MFW”) property in this Report.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the Appendix C2
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting
Guide”) to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

it B fiiat

Reporting Principles Description

HIE FA TR0 s oy B R 0 2 AT R R i A A A BT o MR M SR [ B A ) T o
Materiality Material topics are assessed through internal discussion and surveys of key stakeholders. A materiality matrix is

produced and presented in the session — “Materiality Assessment”.

ik P A A AN ER S8 B S U8 A ([ BRI 1)) 9 2 RES G 18 5 EAT RS e 281 - M0 R R RN O 15

Quantitative Rl s At 1) 5 B AT o

All social and environmental key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are calculated and presented with reference

to the ESG Reporting Guide and robust methodologies are adopted as illustrated in the respective sections of the

Report.
T ot PR LB AR SR G LU AP T AR RS ) R AN O 2 ]
Balance Data comparisons with the previous year are presented in the Report with illustration on the achievement and

rooms for improvement of the Group.

— ik A ARYRS £ — AR A TR AR R

Consistency The Report has been prepared based on the methodology which is the same as that in the previous year.

ARECRERG ((EfG)) Faan -
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The Report has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors
(“Board”).
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The Group has been in constant contact with its stakeholders through a variety

of channels to better understand their needs, concerns, and expectations. The

channels that are tailored for each stakeholder group are shown in the table

below:

P H R

Investors and Shareholders

sk b

ARRNE

JB AR

A BN e
Company website
Company’s announcements
Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports

%

Customers

aiEED

HFEERE

& AR

&R A

Company website

Customer direct communication
Customer feedback and complaints
Customer satisfaction surveys

BT
Employees

BRI 5

BT AR A

BT

B ARG

Training and orientation

Email and opinion boxes
Employee tea gatherings
Employee performance evaluation

BV B S 5 T

Suppliers and Business Partners

ST AN 5 A

PRI AR

Selection assessment and background check
Procurement process

Ak [ O\ F ks BAL R IR

Communities AL S )
Company website and social media platforms
Community activities

e 2N T A

Media INFA

AR B

Company website
Company’s announcements
Social networking platforms

Macau Legend Development Limited 2024 Annual Report

47



g kE R W D

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

PR A

Ty R PE R ESGIESEHIH > AL BT
B K A 2 K R] 2 B T BEE R AL < bt
R il 360 A AR I S s o T B MR e
I T P R B (RO

-1 IEES G A0 A B P
AL TR0 T I 45 M T DL
JCEHR VR RO BB O 1 I B
5y -

ik 31

Identification

25

Engagement

43 W BT
Analysis &
Evaluation

B et

Validation

PETA EE B AR BT b 5 Bl R A o S A
Leti iy B BBk o %S B S T R AR
PRBH IR BT A BOE B AR RER - A
Lo HuER A e R -

AR BB e P > RO AR 2 B
HIESGE B K R R ISR o FRAMAY S L2 4
R A A 2 B B AL [ R T I i
AR S TR SRS Y e A SRR LT -

48 TRMESR AT PRA ] 202443

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To define our strategic ESG priorities, the Group conducted a materiality
assessment involving internal and external stakeholders. This process is
aligned with best practice in identifying the issues most vital to our business
and of highest importance to stakeholders.

Stakeholders evaluated ESG topics based on their relevance and impact. Their
feedback was analysed to understand each issue's significance according to
stakeholders as well as the level of influence on our operations.

o BRSPS TE B E S G LT i il R SR 1) 455 5
el
To create and categorise a list of potential ESG
topics and identify key stakeholder groups

o BEENERANSNIEF D S AR L MG A
To invite internal and external stakeholders to
complete an online survey

o AFAEAEESEE R A A ES Gt
To evaluate and prioritise the most material ESG
topics

o NAEIEEERIETRE > DI EESGRETEH g
PEEE AR AR BOER) BT
The results are validated by the Company to
determine the priority of the ESG topics for ESG
report disclosure and future improvement

Topics mapping to the upper right quadrant of the materiality matrix
represented the issues deemed the most material to the Group and our
stakeholders. These key sustainability challenges will direct our goal setting
and disclosure focus to generate maximum value for people and the planet.

By prioritising stakeholder perspectives, the assessment outcomes support
intelligent ESG management and reporting. Our strategies and performance
disclosures concentrate on resources where they can affect the most
meaningful change by addressing priorities defined collaboratively through
open dialogue.
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S o
Materiality Matrix !

SRR
Medium Priority

P

Significance of Stakeholders

B w

Low Priority

SR

High Priority @

RS
Medium Priority

SR A S 0 S 5 T A

Significance to the Group’s Business & Operation

AL Social

B @
Environment {E# Employment 3 Operation Community
1. BERHE 9. LLHER| 18. BFEE 27. Beditl
Air emission Labour rights Customer satisfaction Community investment
2. i APk 10. SEHR 19. &P MB R i R 2t
Greenhouse gas emission Labour-management relations Customer service quality &
3. FREEL I complaints handling
Climate change Employee retention 20. FFlRREELL A
A e . » Customer health and safet
s WA 12 ZEATHRE y
Energy efficiency Diversity and equal opportunity 21, BN~ FE S AIRBS AR AR A AR M
5. KEIEK 13 R Mar?(etmg anfi product 'and
o service labelling compliance
Water and effluents Non-discrimination P—
X - 22, FHEE
6. MEHET 14, TEfRRRE 24 . g oot
Use of materials Occupational health and ntellectual property
o T safety 23. K RRRANER R
. 5 e :
A Cust d dat
Waste management 15. AL . us on.ler privacy anc cata
Employee training protection
. & T 1 I e S A
oonome o
; mployee development
compliance pioy P management
17. Bl THIEE S o
LA Seil ) 25, T
Prevention of child labour and X .
Business ethics
forced labour
26. HLEAEFEH
Socio-economic compliance
\ J J \
Bi5E - Note:

L KRG BTG HERR > Y Jy T NG TR RSB o AN "
T A R R 4R o

A
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As confirmed by the management, there were no significant changes on the
operation. The Report adopts the result of 2021 materiality matrix.
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PR Z MR DN > AR ROy H S5 Except for the materiality assessment, we have also gone through the
AT SEFEHE T2 R Ay 5 408 R A A 3 A 4 [H] o stakeholder engagement, industrial benchmarking, and risk assessment
HEMWESGHR A o FAMAF L LA N AHESGikE processes to identify the ESG topics that are most important to the
ERRMA 2 E R R - Group. We have come up with the following six ESG topics as our key

considerations:

M £ EESGH B H #
Our Key ESG Considerations
B D i
Environment Employment Operation

Ex T IR L 2 4 B M s

Climate Change Occupational Health and Safety Customer Services

BB

1 B B R [EES R

Environment Employee Relations Business Ethics

R ES Gk B T B S A 3 o] The following table explains the importance of these ESG issues and how the
DA RS i MR R 5 i o Group responds to them in various measures.

SRS Bk KSR B SR b Tl B SRS o SRR IRAT A RO B | 7 MBS R S Je A A i BB > A 2 il E —
Climate Change MR RS B LR R4 - RIEIN 5 - A RMARER | BEOK -

Tl % e % S SR AR B JE 7 - R FRAM SERS (R S B B8 11 | A set of policies was established to address
A A T R challenges brought on by flooding and typhoons.
Climate change is evidenced by the occurrence of extreme weather
events and rising temperatures. Physical concerns brought on
by the climate crisis may jeopardise safety of employees and
customers. Our business health and overall competitiveness may be
at risk if we do not identify and handle these climate-related threats
in the long run.

b8 A B E R A > BAMA T IR T R BRI o BR T/E e | FRoAM 22 2e 1w iU K B (o 8 7K BRI R 7K
Environment EHLE R B TR EREM 22280 » KRB G (A AR | Ui - S MR R 40 15 o
g A7 18 SO P R B R SR Water-saving plumbing fittings like water-efficient

We firmly believe that it is our responsibility to protect the | urinals and rainwater recycling systems and new
environment of every business. In addition to endangering the local | resources saving measures were implemented.
population's health and safety as well as that of the workforce,
failing to safeguard the environment puts the Company at risk of
damaging its reputation and breaking environmental laws.
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T (i B B 22 4
Occupational
Health and Safety
(“OHS”)

TR T AR BRIE fil A 2 A 3B ] £ 2 Y ) 2y 22 B e 22 o JRAM
Sy EALE AHN B TR o (8 A S I 2 Y UM R i e Bl 22 2
AR BAAL IR SRS A S5 ) - (BN B DL SE R T R AR -
Ensuring a healthy and safe working environment is crucial for the
success of any business. We place great importance on the health
of our guests and employees. It is challenging to totally eradicate
work-related events despite the Group's continuous efforts to
establish OHS-related rules and initiatives.

AN T EL i E AT TARAE 5| RAERT I [ R
TR > DITERARTFER BT 4 2 o B - TR SEHH
HE R - BRI A TEME TR MREE R 2
8

Comprehensive operating procedures and revised
cleaning protocols was established to ensure a safe
environment regularly. Furthermore, we conduct
educational sessions aimed at enhancing employees’
awareness of infectious diseases and occupational
safety.

& i B AR
Employee
Relations

FRAM R R AR B L P E A UE R o RABHL B L ORFFIE MY
AR I R o T 6§ 1 B A B 5 RS A A B e R AR B B R
TETE R -

We recognise the significant pressure faced by our frontline
employees. Failing to uphold a positive working relationship runs
the danger of jeopardising the retention of qualified individuals and
losing potential for valuable skills.

FoAmM 7 B LA A 2 A R A R B
o

For our employees to voice their ideas, we provide
a variety of communication options.

B M s

Customer Service

PTG B i Qe ST 30 T B o VR i AT SR e 3
Z— > BAMBE LRSI = SRR AR o R RBARI i R T L
A BARFA A BT T > BHRE TR S R RROR IR
A RAE H 1 b R o

The hospitality and entertainment industries in Macau are
characterised by intense market competition. As one of the leading
businesses in this sector, it is imperative that we maintain the
highest level of service. Failure to keep up a high level of customer
satisfaction not only lowers our overall competitiveness but also
damages Macau’s reputation as a tourist destination serving people
around the world.

M AL H AR A B S B > B S T = > L
fEBUE -

We frequently review our customer feedback and
share to our employees for improvement.

[EESEK

Business Ethics

R MR BB S 8850 by > T RE IS U AR A JRAE -
The gaming industry deals with a large scale of financial
transactions that could serve as a channel for money laundering.

ALEENE AT - EIER SRR - RN A1
SEAC T rH A JE DR RN P AR08 < i v ) 2 PEAREE

Every member of the Group’s workforce, from management to
supporting employees, must exercise extreme caution and observe
the highest ethical standards in all our commercial dealings.

FeAM 5 B THR AL 75 15 R s e PR SR -
We offer anti-corruption training and anti-money
laundering test for our employees.
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OUR SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT APPROACH

We have implemented a more organised system for tracking, evaluating,
and managing the Group’s key ESG issues in response to the stakeholders
concerns and potential ESG risks.

ESG Governance Structure

The Audit Committee holds the authority to held and manage the establishment
of ESG-related framework, including the leadership and supervision of ESG
related structure establishment, risk identification, standard settings, reporting
procedure and disclosure to stakeholders. The Audit Committee convenes at
least twice a year to discuss ESG matters and provide updates to the Board. To
facilitate the execution of the Group’s ESG strategies, an ESG special working
group is formed under the Audit Committee. The working group along with its
sub-groups meet regularly to ensure effective implementation.

The ESG governance structure is outlined as follows:

#wHEG
The Board
BERERE
Audit Committee

ESG $5 3 T4l
ESG Special Working Group

BRBE ~ Bt IR AR AR
Environment, Facilities and
Resources Working Group

N B RS T AEAL

Human Resources and Society

BiRLie4
Governance

Working Group Working Group
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Roles and Responsibilities

HEY
The Board

FREHE

Audit Committee

ESGH# i TAE4
ESG Special Working Group

BREE - RO AE I TARA
Environment, Facilities and
Resources Working Group

Ny B EGE & TARA
Human Resources and Society
Working Group

BIRLAEM

Governance Working Group

i € £ FHYES G g

Devising the Group’s ESG strategy

A 58] B SR B A ES G

Reviewing and approving the ESG report

WEESGHE M7k - RN - BRI H A%

Examining the ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives

RPN REE A BES G B AR A8 - 07 DR g 57 780 BRI S8 ES G R E ZILAT A 0 B 2 A
Evaluating and determining ESG risks and opportunities, and ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system are in place

MRIEIHESG H BN BEaTAl 4 B 19 R B

Evaluating the Group’s performance against its ESG goals and targets

M ESGHE il i BT 1F UL

Reviewing the implementation of the ESG mechanism

In) 3 G IR ES Gl A 4l R S AR Mk

Reporting ESG findings and recommendations to the Board

E B ESGEUH I B BT
Supervising the overall execution of ESG policies
M B

Reporting to the Audit Committee regularly

TELL S E i ESGBUR ¢

Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:

TR

Engineering
AR R SR 4 2

IT and data security

JE BB

Waste handling

AEVRAN U

Energy and resource management
DRI g J gy e
Procurement and supply chain risk management
A%

Food safety

LU S E EESGBUR -

Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:

ANITER

Human resources

T e B B 2 &
OHS

B TR AR A
Employee development and welfare
AT
Responsible gambling
KBTS
Anti-corruption
AT H)
Community initiative

TE DL SIS i ESGBUK -

I

mplementing ESG policies in the following areas:
Frfh# 28
Stakeholder engagement
LA
Legal compliance
[l T R HEDT FE A2 B
Peer standard research and analysis
ESG/a\F i34 o3 #r 8L 38
ESG risk trend analysis and management
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HE R FEHIRESE

FRAMAE A1 E R A 1 B AT TR A BIES GJA R
AF A o B R A PG 2 B — JH A T AE
JEVBgE 9 A - 5 = o A i A R DAt BB vl
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B8 T A B ke e ) S

ESG Risk Management

Investors and other stakeholders are placing greater emphasis on how
companies identify and mitigate ESG risks. The Group acknowledges that
sustainability issues can significantly impact operations if not effectively
governed. As such, we have enhanced the integration of ESG considerations
into our existing risk management and control frameworks.

We conducted an in-depth ESG risk assessment with assistance of external
supports. The Board and senior leadership participated in a survey to evaluate
potential exposures and their inputs were analysed to prioritise the most
critical issues. Our methodology was guided by international standards from
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board, and benchmarking against
peers additionally which forms the basis of our recommendations. Following
this process, the Board and Audit Committee subsequently reviewed the
advice to enhance practices.

RELEE B TAMRE SR - ARG RGBS i 55K o S LB M B B B A
EER X

Over the past few years, governments around the world had implemented travel restrictions to
control the spread of viruses, which despite the end of the pandemic had largely decreased the
number of visitors abroad, as well as the demand for hotel and entertainment services. Eventually,
it causes our financial uncertainty.

(e 22 4

Health and Safety Concerns

S RN 2 R BT B T AMERECR G - B A I D ERRIT IR < SE e T
BRI IRTF AT R > R 5 % S MR 1 1 B U el St e A B

Concerns about health and safety have changed people's preference in respect of large gatherings,

crowded places, and non-essential travel. It reduces the demand for our services as these are often
associated with close contact and social interaction.

iz R g AR | AR R AR B RAL T — (E 15 A A
Widespread Diseases | Travel Restrictions JREg2 /N » B0 B I i
Risk TR AR > R4S BB EIE T AR > DARERI S0 R - AR - HAER | 45 o AR S AR I AR

] W PR AR ALK

The Group established a pandemic
preparedness and response team
in an effort to halt the spread of
diseases. Our senior management
and representatives from several
departments make up this team.
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VR B A L B
Legal and Regulatory
Risk

P MBS B R 1 SAE R P SEAT A > AR R AR e 2 > LI IB AT AN
RSB EL BRI S IS AR T LM > DU ST BT IR BT R AR B A%
iDL

Due to the increased concerns about responsible business practices, such as responsible gaming
and cybersecurity, and increased environmental consideration on plastic uses and climate change
issues, the Group needs to prepare itself to comply with the current laws and more tightened
regulations expected in the future.

ST ) 1 BE AR B A A AR

Laws and Regulations that are highly relevant to our operations:

L SR201 /MR QR MBI A%
Law No. 2/91/M Environmental Laws of Macao
2. BE8/2014%% Mk CRAR A R )
Law No. 8/2014 Prevention and Control of Ambient Noise
3. H516/201958 5 (RHIHR AL
Law No. 16/2019 on Restrictions on the Distribution of Plastic Bags
4. ABRCEA B R R S DL BOH B 2 A 5 16/96/MBETE 4 K 5 83/96/MBERI 4>
Decree-Law no. 16/96/M, and Ordinance no. 83/96/M regarding the environmental and food
hygiene, and fire safety of the catering industry
5. BE11/20005% % HE TR BISAL IR %)
Law No. 11/2009 Cybercrime Prevention Law
6. 58/2005%% B QR PR G RHRE D)
Law No. 8/2005 Macao Personal Data Protection
7. BET7/2022%5% M CULFT B 430 S R R R AR D)
Law No. 7/2022 Macao Gaming Law

RAME A T IROEEIE - LA
HVE R B D H R
A I B S © A B FA i
B 400 S R A R B
2 B TR R s ) I [ & IR
il

We have implemented few
environmental protection measures
to conserve the resources and
minimise the waste generated
under our daily operations. For
details and more initiatives on how
we save the resources, please see
“Energy Efficiency” and “Use of
Resources”.

RZEZNE S MR A
FAL TR o0 (DR AL )
AR BUR N & 1F > LAFES
A1 1 20 e 3l A AT R o
ABREN o SRR R
B A | [ A ST
—ffi o

In 2024, we have collaborated
frequently with Yat On Responsible
Gambling Counselling Centre
(“Yat On Centre”), and the Macau
Government to promote responsible
gambling in our operations. For
details, please see “Responsible
Gambling” under the section of
“Maintaining Highest Business
Ethics”.

A HEFISO 27001787 > B
7N A1 A R e SEL A A L
B P> o

We demonstrated our determination
to tackle any exposure to cyber-
related risk by getting accredited
with ISO 27001.
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HEESGHE B

Potential ESG ¥ . . RMANEN
. Implications Our Responses
Opportunities
JERZ (A i s O B8 | IR BRI TG - VAR TAE - WORS P& BB TS - ST BN > BRI | AEEARSL T AR IR
Widespread Diseases | #5254 Rp S B A M o BU4) > MR BRI AR TH B R B AT B A1E > nsaat | BESE/NAL » SZ IR0 o A 42
Opportunities SRR O TUE > AEME AR FAE A 15 W 5 TR AL T PR
By enhancing business resilience through the adoption of various initiatives, such as remote | AEJIAFAK 1 H# o
work, digital platforms, and e-commerce, the Group can maintain operational continuity during | The Group established a pandemic
widespread disease outbreaks. Additionally, strengthening community engagement and corporate | preparedness and response team, it
responsibility through collaboration on public health initiatives and responsible practices presents | presents opportunities to enhance
an opportunity to build stakeholder trust to operate. the Group’s operational resilience
and rapid response capabilities.
HHREE RS TERESF BLESGAH B W IA SUR AR b o SE TG LABR IR BT oy - A SY nT FR s RORFS A | ERBTB AT BRI IE - & 1F
Legal and Regulatory | 3 » fETM4R T FHES o BLoh - BHAE R EAFESGEMEM BUE K > AR EI%F ~ B | fE& T T RIEISo
Opportunities T~ BEH BALRBEAE > SRR R I EB o - 2700153 » AR 1 HE
In complying with ESG-related regulations, the Group is positioned to access new markets | 1 > MRS THRRHEGT o
and foster innovation in sustainable products and services, thereby enhancing its competitive | By proactively implementing
advantage. Furthermore, a demonstrated commitment to legal and regulatory ESG standards helps | environmental measures, collaborating
build trust among customers, employees, investors, and communities, supporting our long-term | onresponsible gambling initiatives, and
business resilience. achieving ISO 27001 accreditation,
we strengthen regulatory compliance
and enhance stakeholder trust.
fRERR ADVOCATING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

A S T 1) R A S A TR DR e R B BT
H g o Rl > A —KATE A
o WMEEN TROE RS2 Bt
B AR MR R B - R RO R B > B
FAVEBLAR SR F AR - Sl R BRI 8O 2 35

The Group recognises that there is an increasing concern regarding our
environmental performance. During the Reporting Period, as a responsible
enterprise we have taken crucial measures to determine our targets and cast a
positive impact in the society. By setting these targets, it can help us to reach
our organisational goals and ensure our environmental performance was in
track properly.
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e
Base Year 2021

2 5B ik

Greenhouse Gases

(®

Reduce the carbon emission

g»»» >>>@Q7

ok it o \
Water Consumption O@
(“GHG”’) Emissions
B PE R B (R — M E . & KR (e s Tl aR) A%
A E W ICla) A 15% B 10%

R hAEH B
Target Year 2025

BRI B i B2
Energy Intensity

AE VR M FE 98 (5 | AV T IR
A 15%

Reduce energy consumpti

!ﬁy 15%

intensity (Scope 1 and Scope 2, per
\million HKS revenue) by 15%
i i) HESHEA BRI 98 10%
Reduce the waste to landfill by
on 10%
intensity (per million HK$ revenue)

Reduce water consumption
intensity (per million HK$ revenue)
by 10%

\ W \
Waste Management

B F AR S F AR H AR

MRS

> TR SR PR B T AR 729 M AR
L&, 5w olss > DIEE %
AR IR SR PR A o

> KRR T RS 1% ok
WEOTU AR > DAE B O AR KR
HAZ o

> ARURINFEIR T T (R8s %K LN
Wt 0 VBB R AR .

> BEWE AR R T 3,009,644 M LA
B R T TAEBEY A A .

B -

2 Gt A P i 2 SRR PSR B2 BT (HL R & S
A0 38 P A BRI D o BRI L T AR R AR A
O A i s w5 o w% 08 B TR SR R I
i R R da B T AR I B e A
G o L > BESRFRAMTE D PRl A8y T
;%_}EE o (ELRCR AR O R At SRR TR K

2025 Target Progress as of 20242

As for the Reporting Period:

> The GHG emissions intensity should be further reduced by 72% tCO2e/
million HKS revenue to achieve the 2025 GHG emissions target.

> The water intensity should be further reduced by 51% m?*million HK$
revenue, to achieve the 2025 water intensity target.

> The energy intensity should be reduced further by 88% for MWh/
million HKS revenue, to achieve the 2025 energy saving target.

> The waste consumption intensity should be further reduced by 3,009.64
tonnes to achieve the 2025 waste management target.

Note:

2 With an increase in the intensity of GHG emissions this year, the absolute amount

of our GHG emissions is indeed reduced. Our emissions intensity is calculated
based on the revenue generated during the year. This rise in intensity is primarily
due to a decline in revenue, which corresponds to a reduction in our operational
activities since 2021. Therefore, while we are making progress in reducing our
total emissions, the decrease in revenue has resulted in an unsatisfactory intensity
outcome.
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5o 3R BT AT R R R B M T #R LA To support and enhance our sustainability goals, various systems were
E3CES established as below:

FHEREREBAR | SRR EE R ADE > DR REER PR T FE RSP

Upgraded parking lot to Vehicles can enter and exit without stopping, reducing idling time, fuel consumption, and exhaust emissions;
contactless system v BUHAVES L > WD AR 2 I AR 2 15

Eliminates paper parking tickets, reducing paper waste and lowering our carbon footprint;
v EBRE IR S AE A o WA LI BRIRTHFE
Smart management to optimise traffic flow and parking space usage, minimising unnecessary energy
consumption;
v RS BE R B DR TIROR
Integrates data and real-time monitoring for improved efficiency;
v ENEGROHTEACEE - TR RS LA B R 5 &
Utilises data analytics to optimise operations and provides accurate parking trend reports for decision-making; and
v OBPBERS > REARIES R K A > (RN R A B o

Reduces cash transactions, lowering financial risks and management costs while increasing financial

transparency.
CERINCESH v URHTE HY R BCHEHE 5 b A AR R R B
E-Leave system Replaces paper-based applications and approvals, reducing paper consumption and carbon footprint;

VoY SCIFFTED ~ AERE A% > BRI A = BRI A
Minimises printing, filing, and transporting physical documents, lowering office resource waste;
v BT BERFR SRR R Rl R R e > SR TS T SRR
Allows employees to submit leave requests anytime, with quick management approval, enhancing flexibility
and convenience;
Vo N R B e R P R
Reduces human errors, improving accuracy in leave management;
v OB RREE SR A B B DA AOH BB - SRR K AR
Clearer leave record management helps employees plan vacations effectively, enhancing well-being and job satisfaction;
v REACBURE AR ORTC SR ERE - T8 LIS R A RO
Systematic data management ensures accurate records and compliance with labor regulations and internal policies;
v R BB R BT DL BRI IR G UL - SRS AR — 2 5 &
Provides automated reports and analytics to monitor leave usage, maintaining fairness and consistency; and
v ORTPEERCE o BB B AR

Enhances operational efficiency and drives digitalisation and sustainable development.

WY HRE RS v UL B R Bk B ST WD AR IR 2
E-Warehouse management Replaces traditional paper-based inventory records and documents, reducing paper usage and waste;
system v BCRIREEBD SCIATED ~ 248 Rk » 0 AR 5

Minimises printing, filing, and transporting documents, further lowering carbon emissions;
v B ERE AR W R KR
Digital management optimises warehouse space, reducing excess inventory and waste;
v RRER RS R D AN B S I o AR REVR FE B R B 5
Smart warehouse management decreases unnecessary transportation and handling, reducing energy
consumption and carbon footprint;
v BEL RS AR B> A S o WA LA R R R R 5 K
Automation and digital processes reduce manual errors, lowering workload and accident risks; and
v B D78 TR O M IR IR A O > BT AR B T A R R

Employees can access real-time inventory data via electronic devices, increasing operational efficiency and

minimising rework and wasted time.

58 MR AR ATRAT] 20244



BE - g &kE R HE G

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

S ) 1k A0 Bk B e Climate Resilience and Carbon Emission
YeE N/ a4 e ] Prepare for Climate Change
R 45 S A0 AF B B 5 B i L /E 4R ([ TCFDJ) 1 2 In accordance with the recommendations from the Task Force on Climate-
i > MM BELESGE R A 1E » B HS I N B related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”), we collaborate with the ESG advisor
5520 B YRR B B o 1F B IR IR IR 11 to identify risks and opportunities related to climate change in the Reporting
PRl — » SRR AL B L EOR SR 2 4 2 A Period. As one of the most crucial global challenges, climate change led to
Al AR 3 R SR B B o S AR AL W] B E A 1Y 5 changes in weather patterns and extreme weather occurrences. The possible
By N R PR o impacts of climate change are summarised in the table below.
ok B B TR IR 88 ) 2 i Jo R ) % 1 e O R s BRI b i 2 — > LR = S8 L TR B T 18 98 S A
Acute Physical Risk AR R o BRI EERS > AR B M BRI - SRR T = R S U B A Y 1 L B
2 o

As one of the less resilient areas against storm-surge threats from typhoons and coastal subsidence, Macau
has also experienced shifting climate patterns that increased the risks to our operations from natural
hazards. Over time, we have observed increasing instances of extreme precipitation, warmer temperatures
and more frequent tropical cyclones.

2% S SR B SR A AR B o K i e S A i ) S T 5 o e A B o T MR
ISR EE SRS B S R - BUR EE B L T2 > AR o 8 ] REE B SN
(ERWSE PN ¢/ V%2 X

The effects of these climate-exacerbated weather events pose challenges. Infrastructure damage from
floods or winds can disrupt critical supply chains. During severe events, such as No. 8 typhoon signals,
operations may be required to temporarily cease to prioritise worker safety. This may lead to unanticipated
downtime and human resource impacts.

1% 1 4 20 Bl FRAM Y S5 A A e A WP VR P B R R v TR R o TR 4R BT
Chronic Physical Risk 0.09°C » Tl ~F-34ifF i IR A 4F b T o sZ 45 8L BUR MM 2 2 B AR (L ) 28 RS0 > B )7

R A

Our operations are primarily located in Macau, the southern part of China along the South China Sea on
three sides. Average temperatures have risen 0.09°C every decade, and average sea levels have increased
annually. These chances indicate that Macau is already experiencing the impacts of climate change

through a warming climate and encroaching coastlines.

A AN AT AR Mt - TR T/ AR 0 B A N o SR P A A T RE A B PR AR I i %
AR o BEAL - PRI AP B BB B 25 R SRR SR A 2 ) B B m] e A s P 2

If mitigation measures are not adopted, rising costs are expected across various operational areas.
Increased maintenance and shortened asset lifecycles from more frequent repairs may arise. Additionally,
lost productivity and overtime from heatstroke risks or severe weather could adversely impact human
resources.
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S il g BH¥
Transition Risk Technology

Wl 5 A ) (RGBS R Y S O BR R I B RE A SRS R ) > LA

o REEEHIHE REIRMGE

o EAWIFERARRRYE 5 K

o PRITHEIKEAE -

As the economy transitions to a lower-carbon model, there is a pressing need for more eco-friendly and
energy-efficient business operation, which includes:

*  System control energy savings practices;

e Use of renewable energy; and

e Adoption of water-efficient devices.

AR o AR E A

o BEINBFEE R BRI S o AT TR SR AT 5 &

o BRHL B RMOE RART R BEINE ) > LA BORAR G R FRHE N o

During the transitional period, the Group anticipates:

e Increased research and development and/or procurement expenditures to introduce new and alternative
technologies; and

e Additional cost of adopting/deploying new practices and processes, as well as the increase in the costs
of installation in the future.

it

Market

BEEBR IR B TY - I EE AT A AR « BUE - H S AR R - AR DR
SRS RN AHBEREWG  o R > FH A 2 02038 AR mT RESG N - [R5 A % S i Bf
RS ER PRAG A i 2 PR

With greater consciousness on environmental issues, consumer behaviour is also shifting accordingly.
Investors are increasingly prioritising climate change consideration, and rating agencies are incorporating
climate change efforts into their investment strategies. Consequently, it is expected that the operating costs
of office may rise due to the higher expenses associated with environmentally friendly alternatives for
both offices and hotels.
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Countermeasures

The Group has taken proactive steps to enhance resilience against climate
change, acknowledging its impact on individuals and businesses. Extreme
weather events, such as typhoons and floods, pose safety risks to our
employees and guests, disrupt operations, and may lead to understaffing or
temporary closures.

In response to the increasing frequency of extreme weather, the Group has
formed a Typhoon Committee to address employee risks and updated our
Typhoon Policy to establish protocols for work, evacuation, and compensation
during typhoon alerts. All properties are equipped with physical defences,
including floodgates to prevent flooding and wind barriers with diesel-
powered pumps to mitigate power failures. To support our commitment to
reducing carbon emissions, we promote electric vehicles as an alternative to
petrol. At MFW, all visitor vehicles are now electric, and we have installed
more charging stations at MFW and Harbourview Hotel to accommodate the
growing use of electric vehicles.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with relevant laws and
regulations in Macau regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions, water
and land discharge, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
Furthermore, the Group was not aware of any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose.

Carbon Emission

Our primary sources of carbon emissions are the electricity, liquefied
petroleum gas (“LPG”) we consumed and the refrigerants we released. We
generated 25,208 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e”) of GHG
during the Reporting Period. The largest contributor to our overall carbon
emissions during the Reporting Period was electricity use.

Additionally, we have initiated the collection of Scope 3 GHG data in
the Reporting Period as part of our commitment to effective emissions
management. We understand the significance of broadening our Scope 3
inventory and are planning to improve our data collection efforts in the coming
years. This comprehensive approach enables us to analyse GHG emissions by
location and category, ultimately enhancing our ability to manage our overall
emissions more effectively.
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. e S 1 e
LALDT 2024 2023
i B — & il = R AW AL R
Scope 1 & 2 GHG Emission tCO,e 25,208.16 26445.11
i —> SR AR AL =
el {COe 376.80 425.55
i 4 AW AALBRE R
Scope 2* {COe 24,831.36 26,019.55
T E (AR — S i) ) S AW AR ERE R H oI 068 .
Intensity (Scope 1 & 2)° tCO,e/million HK$ revenue ’ '
i ] = 3 = SR i AW AR R 437830 N/A
Scope 3 GHG Emission * tCO,e e EN L
—JENL ¢ BRI 5 B s 7 AW AR E = 510,60 N/A
— Category 1: Purchased Goods and Services’ tCO,e ’ N1
—JN2 ¢ EARTE S AW AR E = 293,74 N/A
— Category 2: Capital Goods?® tCO,e ’ NN
—BRI3 : OB RRIRRH BA 35 B
GRaE A B — sk i —) AW AAb R E R ~ N/A
— Category 3: Fuel- and Energy-related activities tCO,e AT
(not included in Scope 1 or Scope 2)°
— %04« b s AW AALBRE R 587.60 N/A
— Category 4: Upstream Transportation and Distribution tCO,e ' NN
—JEUNS ¢ A B 1 AW AR E R 277 15 N/A
— Category 5: Waste Generated in Operations ! tCO,e ’ ENL
—Eile : TR 2 AW AL BRE R 0.18 N/A
— Category 6: Business Travel tCO,e ’ AN
—JET7 : HEE AW AR E 46035 N/A
— Category 7: Employee Commuting tCO,e ’ AN
— N8 : b AW AALBRE R N/A
— Category 8: Upstream Leased Assets ' tCO,e - N1
—JEUM9 ¢ T i A e gy B 1 AW AL E R ~ N/A
— Category 9: Downstream Transportation and Distribution '* tCO,e ANEH
—JRI10 : B T e AW SALBRE R - N/A
— Category 10: Processing of Sold Products '* tCO,e AN
— B DA S AW SRR B ~ N/A
— Category 11: Use of Sold Products tCO,e N
—RUN12 - B S P A i R R 8 AW AR E R N/A
— Category 12: End-of-life Treatment of Sold Products '3 tCO,e - N1
— B3 : T EEEY AW AR E 2 2318.68 N/A
— Category 13: Downstream Leased Assets tCO,e T N7
—HR4 : RERE AW AL BRE R N/A
- Category 14: Franchises? tCO,e - A
—Bs : g AW SRR R ~ N/A
— Category 15: Investments ! tCO,e N
W (R =) AW EARTRE R H B ol 5 68 N/A
Intensity (Scope 3) tCO,e/million HK$ revenue ' NN
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Notes:

Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of LPG of our
hospitality business. It is calculated with reference to the published emission
factors from 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories and
the guidance worksheets of World Resources Institute’s GHG Protocol Tool for
Mobile Combustion.

Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of purchased
electricity from the local power companies. The calculation is based on the
emission factors from 2020 Sustainability Report of Companhia de Electricidade
de Macau.

The intensity is calculated by dividing the emissions by the revenue. During the
Reporting Period, the revenue excludes operations in Lao PDR as the business
ceased in May 2024. We have also excluded revenue generated in Lao PDR
operation from 2023 intensity calculation to ensure consistency.

Scope 3 represents indirect GHG emissions (not included in Scope 2) generated
that occur in the value chain of an issuer, including both upstream and
downstream emissions. It is calculated with reference to the US Environmentally-
Extended Input-Output (“USEEIO”) Model published in 2022 and Department
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (“DEFRA”) published in 2023.

Scope 3 Category 1 Purchased Goods and Services includes purchased food
and beverages, retail merchandise and operating supplies, consulting services,
accounting services, repairing services, IT support services, maintenance
services and security services. It is calculated using spend-based methodology
with reference to the USEEIO Model published in 2022. The data was initially
collected in HKD and converted to USD based on the exchange rate as of 31
December 2024.

Scope 3 Category 2 Capital Goods includes furniture, fixtures and equipment,
leasehold improvements and machinery and equipment. It is calculated using
spend-based methodology with reference to the USEEIO Model published in
2022. The data was initially collected in HKD and converted to USD based on
the exchange rate as of 31 December 2024.

Scope 3 Category 3 Fuel- and Energy-related activities (not included in Scope 1
or Scope 2) was no applicable, the fuel and electricity consumption were solely
based on fuel and electricity consumption in Scope 1 and Scope 2. Furthermore,
we did not generate any purchased electricity to sell to end users.

Scope 3 Category 4 Upstream Transportation and Distribution includes sanitary
services, linens services and delivery services. It is calculated using spend-based
methodology with reference to the USEEIO Model published in 2022. The data
was initially collected in HKD and converted to USD based on the exchange rate
as of 31 December 2024.

Scope 3 Category 5 Waste Generated in Operations includes paper waste,
plastic waste, food waste, domestic waste and waste cooking oil generation. It is
calculated with reference with DEFRA Waste Disposal Guidelines published in
2023.
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Scope 3 Category 6 Business Travel includes air travel. It is calculated using
the International Civil Aviation Organisation (“ICAO”) to convert the travelling
distance into emissions of passengers’ CO,/journey.

Scope 3 Category 7 Employee Commuting includes data on the commuting
methods of 50 employees, such as car (plug-in hybrid electric vehicle), car
(petrol), bus and motorbike. It is calculated with reference to DEFRA Passenger
Vehicles Guidelines published in 2023.

Scope 3 Category 8 Upstream Leased Assets was not applicable, we did not lease
assets from others.

Scope 3 Category 9 Downstream Transportation and Distribution was not
applicable, we did not distribute products to customers.

Scope 3 Category 10 Processing of Sold Products was not applicable, we did not
sell any processing goods.

Scope 3 Category 11 Use of Sold Products was not applicable, we did not sell
any product that consume energy during use phrase.

Scope 3 Category 12 End-of-life Treatment of Sold Products was not applicable,
we did not sell any product that requires end-of-life treatment.

Scope 3 Category 13 Downstream Leased Assets include electricity and water
consumption of leased assets. The calculation is based on Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs of the "How to prepare an ESG Report" issued
by the Stock Exchange in March 2020 (the "Guide").

Scope 3 Category 14 Franchises was not applicable, we did not own any
franchises.

Scope 3 Category 15 Investments was not applicable, we did not own any
investment as major operations.
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Energy Efficiency

The Group invests in energy efficiency to lower its carbon footprint in order
to achieve environmental protection. Given that approximately 40,051
megawatt-hour (“MWh”) of the energy consumed over the Reporting Period
was electricity, a power monitoring system consisting of a series of current
transformers and recorders was installed in all the electrical switchboard. The
real time electrical consumption data is tracked and analysed.
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We remain committed to achieving our reduction target set for 2025. MFW
continues to make improvements in various measures to promote energy
conservation:

. Convert around 99% of non-LED lights to LED together with lighting
schedule optimisation to ensure only the necessary lights are on;

. Remove half of light bulbs on all mural lights at every hotel floor;

. Block out the entire floors of the hotels with 95% of the lights off;
unplug all refrigerators, set the temperature of all air conditioners to
25°C, and keep room curtains shut to prevent heat loss;

Notes:

2 The calculation is based on the emission factor taken from the Guide.

3 The intensity is calculated by dividing the energy consumption by the revenue.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue excludes operations in Lao PDR, as the
business ceased in May 2024. We have also excluded revenue generated in Lao
PDR operation from 2023 intensity calculation to ensure consistency.
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. Disable 40% of the escalators and elevators;

. Stop operating the boilers and replaced with the heat pumps to generate
the hot water for guest rooms, casino and restaurants usage;

. Remodel the water supply piping to stop a half of domestic water supply
pumps;

. Stop the hot water supply in the hotel's public guest washrooms during
the summer period to reduce the usage hot water; and

. Reduce the usage of electric water heater.

Besides, we have implemented energy saving devices for the chilled water
unit. Smart energy valve helps reduce operating costs and CO, emissions,
variable frequency drives are on primary air handling units and cooling
Towers for better load control. Replacing high energy consumption alternate
current motors with energy efficient direct current motors to save 25% of
energy consumption.

Air Emission and Indoor Environmental Quality

The Group’s air emissions are primarily generated by the use of LPG for
cooking. Having considered that indoor air quality may affect the comfort of
our guests, we did not emit significant amount of air pollutants in our hotel
operation.
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2 The calculation is based on the emission factor taken from “How to prepare an

ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” by Stock
Exchange.
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Use of Resources

Our business operation will inevitably require substantial resources and
generate waste. To minimise our environmental impact, the Group has
established guidelines and measures to ensure our waste management practise
are in full compliance with the relevant legislation and regulations, while
also promoting resource minimisation and recycling practices. During the
Reporting Period, a total of 3,522.10 kg of packaging materials was utilized,
resulting in an intensity of 4.57 kg/million HK$ revenue.

To promote sustainable waste management practices among both employees
and guests, we have strategically placed clear labelled recycling bins
throughout our facilities. In public spaces such as hotel rooms, corridors and
offices, separate containers are provided for items like paper, plastics and
aluminium to simplify the recycling process.

In back-of-house areas like employee changing rooms, restrooms and the
employee canteens, we have introduced additional recycling streams to
further encourage proper disposal practices. Additionally, specialised battery
recycling bins have also been situated next to major exit points used by
workers, helping reduce toxic e-waste entering local landfills.

Water Efticiency

We have implemented a robust water treatment programme for our chiller
plant to minimise the water consumption and address maintenance-related
challenges. This initiative not only lengthens the lifespan of the equipment but
also reduces cooling tower blowdowns and likelihood of water valves failures,
thereby prevents water loss.

In our hotel kitchen restaurants, we have installed water-saving values to
further conserve water. Employees are encouraged to adopt water-saving
practices in their daily workflows. Additionally, we have implemented

some environmental protection measures to reduce water usage by lowering
guest room linen laundry frequency. A greywater and swimming pool water
recapture system is being developed for irrigation purposes and other usage,
providing additional environmental benefits.

ki ik
Water Usage e 437,120 450,379
B> SETPR A E TR
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Reporting Period, the revenue excludes operations in Lao PDR, as the business
ceased in May 2024. We have also excluded revenue generated in Lao PDR
operation from 2023 intensity calculation to ensure consistency.
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Waste Management

Most of the waste generated by the Group is made up of plastic from the water
bottles given to our casino patrons as well as paper used for marketing or
administrative purposes. We have only produced non-hazardous waste in the
Reporting Period, as outlined below.

Food Waste
&1 R

We have implemented several frameworks to minimise waste production
across various categories, as detailed in the table below.

Paper use

We have adopted strategies to reduce our paper consumption. Employees are
encouraged to utilise electronic communications and documents whenever
feasible in their work processes, and to print on both sides of the page to
further decrease paper usage.

Plastic Use

We have significantly decreased our reliance on plastic products and reduced
their usage. We have eliminated plastic straws and takeaway containers at
our food and beverage outlets, replacing them with recyclable paper and eco-
friendly materials. Additionally, our hotels now feature water dispensers as a
sustainable alternative to bottled water.

In addition, we plan to transition from distributing water bottles to providing a
smart energy-saving and sterilizing drinking water dispenser to reduce plastic
waste in our hotel operations. This replacement initiative is set to begin in mid
or late 2025.

Construction Waste

In accordance with the Construction Material Waste Management Regime
of Macau, we set up construction waste recycling points at our properties
to collect and categorise construction waste produced by our undergoing
renovations of business premises.
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Food Waste

Food waste presents a considerable challenge in our hotel operations,
significantly contributing to overall waste generation. Recognising our
responsibility to operate sustainably, we conduct regular employees’ meetings
to reinforce proper kitchen waste disposal practices and track food waste
effectively.

To minimise food waste and divert it from landfills, we have implemented
several facilities within our hotel. Food waste composers have been installed,
and recycling bins are conveniently located throughout the premises. The
kitchen employees are tasked with ensuring that the waste they generate is
disposed of or recycled correctly.

Improperly composted food waste can produce methane,
a greenhouse gas that exacerbates global warming. To
combat this issue, our hotels utilise food-composting
machines (as shown) to process food waste, thereby
reducing the volume of waste transported to landfills
and lowering our carbon footprint associated with
transportation.

At Harbourview Hotel, our food-composting machine
processes 12kg of food waste into water daily, while
Legend Palace Hotel's machine converts 120kg of food
waste into fertiliser daily. This fertiliser is used for
landscaping at MFW, with any excess donated to local
plant nurseries. Additionally, cooking oil from our food
and beverage operations is recycled by licensed operators,
which helps alleviate the burden on our wastewater
treatment process and promotes the recycling of valuable
materials.

Furthermore, we are in the process of developing a centralised waste treatment
and recycling center. This facility will facilitate the sorting of waste into
recyclables, kitchen waste, hazardous waste, electrical waste, and more,
thereby enhancing our waste management practices even further.

In addition to implementing several waste reduction frameworks, we have
introduced various external protection measures across our hotels.

To enhance our sustainability efforts and conserve valuable resources, we
encourage guests to engage in several environmental protection initiatives.
These initiatives include allowing guests to request bed sheet and towel
replacements only when necessary, utilising wall-mounted bath amenities
to reduce plastic waste, and providing hand towels in bathrooms only upon
request. By promoting these simple actions, we aim to minimise excess
consumption and waste, thereby more effectively safeguarding our natural
environment and resources for future generations.
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Beyond protective measures, in terms of Scope 3 emissions management,
with the increasing emphasis on Scope 3 disclosures, we have provided our
material data to green suppliers.

The following shows a summary of the waste generated from our business
operations.

. R4 R4

B2 Unit 024 03
% BE Y 7 Non-hazardous waste
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Paper ThyTies 7.69 9.46
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collected data in 2024. We have enhanced the scope of data collection of the
generation of food waste in our operation.
2 The intensity is calculated by dividing the waste produced by the revenue.
During the Reporting Period, the revenue excludes operations in Lao PDR, as the
business ceased in May 2024. We have also excluded revenue generated in Lao
PDR operation from 2023 intensity calculation to ensure consistency.
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Promoting Environmental Awareness
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We have participated the Lai Si Envelope Recycle
activity since 2017. This year, approximately 6,250
envelopes were recycled as part of the initiative
aimed at encouraging colleagues to reuse and
recycle Lai Si envelopes, thereby reducing waste
and promoting environmental awareness.

H B & e % B
Mooncake Box Recycle Activity
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We have been participating in the Mooncake Box
Recycling Activity annually since 2018. In 2024,
we successfully recycled a total of 32 mooncake
boxes. This activity not only helps reduce waste
but also promotes environmental awareness among
the community, aligning with our commitment to
sustainability and responsible waste management.
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2024 Macau Green Week
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During the 2024 Macau Green Week, our
employees collaborated through hiking and tree
planting activities to promote a greener Macao,
fostering a sense of environmental stewardship and
community engagement.
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We have established Recycling Game Booth,
which encourages participation in recycling efforts
through interactive and educational activities.
This initiative not only raises awareness about the

importance of recycling but also fosters a sense of
community and teamwork among our employees.
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Hiking Event
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We organised hiking activities for our colleagues,
providing an opportunity to engage in a physical
and stress-relieving sport. Employees embraced
this chance to enjoy the fun of hiking while
connecting with nature, which also helped enhance
their environmental awareness. After the hike, all
participants gathered to savor delicious Hengqin
foods, making a delightful conclusion for the day.
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procurement

In addition, Harbourview Hotel has received the Gold Macau Green Hotel Award
and Rocks Hotel has received the Bronze Macau Green Hotel Award, and Macau
Fisherman Wharf was also awarded the Macau Energy Saving Activity 2024 —
Hotel Group B Excellence Award by Companhia de Electricidade de Macau,
recognising our commitment to sustainability and environmentally friendly
practices. These awards highlight our efforts in implementing energy conservation,
water management, and waste reduction initiatives, showcasing our dedication to
minimising our ecological footprint. By achieving these recognitions, we not only
enhance our reputation as a leader in sustainable hospitality but also attract eco-
conscious travellers. These accomplishments motivate us to continue improving
our sustainability initiatives and reinforces our commitment to making a positive
impact on the community and environment.

TG 5 EA VPN
Rocks Hotel MFW

SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

ESG considerations have been incorporated into the Group’s procurement
policy to guide all outsourcing and procurement decision-making. At the
strategic level, we make sure our procurement decisions are made in line with
the Group’s environmental objectives, including:

Promoting waste
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Strategic Fostering community
engagement with our
Level employees, guests and
the general public regarding
environmental issues
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The Group has adopted the Green Purchasing Guidelines established by the
Environmental Protection Bureau (“DSPA”). At the operational level, we have
set par levels for consumables, amenities, and other supplies in our hotels
to prevent excessive purchasing and inefficient storage. These par levels are
reviewed and adjusted bi-annually depending on actual consumption patterns.

Supplier Selection

In addition to cost-effectiveness, the Group considers ESG factors when
selecting suppliers. During the tendering process, suppliers and service
providers must demonstrate their ESG performance, which will form a crucial
part of the evaluation criteria for awarding business. We assess factors such
as the producers, origins, material composition, necessity, and proper disposal
of the expired products in particular. Whenever possible, preference is given
to products that are recognised by reputable organisations and have the least
negative impact on the environment.

Evaluation and Engagement with Suppliers

Our suppliers are expected to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and
ethical labour standards. This consists of ensuring workplace safety, paying
fair wages and respecting human and children’s rights. Through engagement
and knowledge exchange, we encourage and influence our suppliers to
improve their services, products and business operation in order to reduce
their environmental impact and promote sustainability.

During the Reporting Period, the Group collaborated with 1,813 suppliers
from the following countries and regions:

R PYLE —Es—=lE

2024 2023
WM

1,401 1,386
Macau
il

1
Hong Kong 33 330
v B g
Mainland China 61 60
i 55 9 B ) X
Other Asian countries
HAw B K
1 1

Other countries 6 5
Hask

1,813 1,796
Total :
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED CULTURE

The success and achievements of a company are fundamentally tied to its
employees. At Macau Legend, we strive to do more than just provides jobs;
we provide meaningful career opportunities. By fostering a culture of high
performance and honouring employee contributions, we aim to established
ourselves as the preferred employer and cultivate a culture of excellence.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material breach
of relevant laws and regulations in Macau that has a significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination,
other benefits and welfare, as well as child and forced labour.

The total workforce of the Group is summarised as follows:

TR YL G- Y
2024 2023
% B T 5135 By Gender
%t Male 600 635
%I Female 549 514
T4 %8 % %) 4 By Employment Type
2% Full-time 1,149 1,149
1% B TR 314 By Age Group
(18-295%) 18-29 115 130
(30-505%) 30-50 792 817
(5052 1) > 50 242 202
%18 B 25 8] 5 By Position
" B BLE Senior Management 12 13
#HE F4 Management/Supervisor 394 403
—% B T General Staff 743 733
HHb [ 314> By Geographical Region
" Macau 1,142 1,147
75 Hong Kong 6 2
H Ay Other 1 -
B85t Total 1,149 1,149
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An Inclusive and Diverse Working Environment

The Group is dedicated to promoting a fair and inclusive work environment
for all employees. Our employment policy emphasises the selection of
candidates based on relevant qualifications for open positions, including their
abilities, competencies, contributions, and performance.

We fully abide by all applicable labour laws, rules, and best practises. The
Group has a strict policy against forced labour and child labour. Prior to
employment, all applicants must undergo a thorough background check and
medical check. Our human resources team ensure that each applicant is treated
fairly and impartially. We adhere to our interviewing practice during the
recruiting process, and candidates accept job offers of their own free will.

Applicants who provide misleading, erroneous or deceptive information
during the recruitment process would not be considered.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance cases relating to labour standards.

Emphasising the Value of Our Employees

The Group is dedicated to fostering a close relationship and enhancing
productivity at work through effective communication. To facilitate employee
engagement, the Group has established several channels for employees
to emphasises their concerns to their respective managers or management
employees.

Employees can reach the Human Resources Department by phone, email, or
they can arrange an appointment with their representatives. For those who
prefer a more private approach, opinion boxes managed by employee relations
team are also set.

While we provide excellent food and service to our visitors, we also ensure
that our employees are well cared. As a more approachable, practical, and
ecologically responsible means to collect feedback, electronic survey systems
have been introduced. Employees can rate their dining experience at the
canteens based on the variety and quality of the food, comfortability of the
environment and level of services. The results are consolidated and analysed
to identify areas for improvement. During the Reporting Period, we received a
total of 74 responses from different canteens.

Tl J2 38 55 0

Harbourview Canteen

T 5

Legend Palace Canteen

65

G

Total

74
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Employee Feedback and Grievances

The Group places great importance on employee feedback and grievances,
treating them with utmost seriousness. Any feedback or complaints received
are promptly investigated and addressed by our management. Any feedback
or complaints received are promptly handled through a coordinated response
process. The relevant property's Human Resources Department initiates an
examination of the issue. The Head of the property and the Head of Human
Resources are informed as appropriate based on the nature of the concern.
In serious matters, escalation to the chief executive officer occurs. Relevant
stakeholders may be invited to participate in confidential investigatory
discussions as needed. Minor case resolutions aim to be addressed within
one week, while conclusions for more complex matters depend on timely
information gathering efforts. All investigation results are ultimately
reported to the chief executive officer for final review and sign-off. We take
appropriate action and thoroughly investigate any suggestions or grievances
expressed in good faith by employees. Within a reasonable extent, the
identities of complainants will be protected, and all reports will be kept strictly
confidential.

Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism

The Group has implemented robust measure to protect its employees who
report violations out of goodwill from any repercussions and retaliation.
Interference with an ongoing investigation is strictly forbidden under the
Group’s Code of Conduct and violators will be subject to disciplinary actions.

PR S A

Internal Investigation Mechanism

EIRE R > A&

AREETTIE SRR HLEOSAR HE B B T R M LURBUE — 247 8) - 6 K
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Upon receiving a report, the Human Resources Department conducts a thorough investigation before
forwarding it to the relevant employees and departments for further action. In cases involving serious
allegations, the senior management and the Audit Committee are promptly informed to ensure an impartial
inquiry.

S 1) B S R~ AT IR R e R A RO HE R AR o BRI B A I IR0

The Committee regularly reports the progress and findings of the investigation to the chairman of the Board,
the chief executive officer, and the Board. When deemed appropriate, the reporting employee is informed of the
investigation's findings.

SRS B — I AR R o LARL T R IRIAE (L B R SR ) R4 A\ B 2 A 45 1 S

A designated point of contact is provided to whistleblowers to privately receive investigation updates from
assigned personnel via confidential channels such as instant messaging or phone calls.
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Recreational and Team building

We strive to foster strong bonds within our community and treat our
MBS KFEN A - BFREH B THERH employees as members of the Macau Legend family. We occasionally
% > FRAM A 2y B B g0 1 K R R B T 40 organised enjoyable team-building and recreational events for our employees as
g o a way of expressing our gratitude to our workforce.

A AN > FRAM 2 B A ARG 45 RIS B Throughout the Reporting Period, various activities were organised for our
I employees as following:

DIY & #5 TAELy
DIY Rice Dumpling Workshop

TR - A A2 E T (TR
K B R B) DY (ks TAEY; » B —a
EART o Rl EARE B8 AR B 4
15> BB BBR o J8 IR B A E 5 h S
e > SRR A S 5 SRk 1 R e vp
HENRE ©

During the Dragon Boat Festival, we held a DIY
Rice Dumpling workshop for all employees,
including the chairman and management team,

HPHEAFFT T TR 15 B
Welcome Lunar New Year DIY Spring
Couplets Activities

TR TE BT AR > FAM 2 B TSR 1 453 B
DIY#EFIEE - BMAMS THERE - 2%
BAREEEHHNEE > ROURERES
W o ZHIURET HSRUR - BAMIREE (R A0R 4R /M
B R BT - EEHEE

During Chinese New Year, we held a DIY Spring
Couplets event for our colleagues to write their
wishes as a traditional fun activity. Participants
enjoyed crafting their couplets, which symbolise
good fortune and prosperity for the upcoming year.
To enhance the festive atmosphere, traditional
New Year snacks were also distributed, allowing
everyone to celebrate together and share in the joy
of the season.

to make rice dumplings together. Colleagues
also helped each other to learn the traditional
techniques of wrapping and making the dumplings,
fostering teamwork. This hands-on experience
not only celebrated our cultural heritage but also
strengthened our bonds as we enjoyed delicious
rice dumplings together.

H1gk B L5 7 2
Mid-Autumn Festival Staff Recognition Dinner

T R ET M > TR B R R
BT o MR AR — 5 Mg EE - FRRE
KRR o 1 B) S A A B BR B > A W
[ R 250 38 it > Bt RS B A0t ~
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During the Mid-Autumn Festival, we held a
recognition dinner to honour outstanding employees.
Team members enjoyed a delightful dinner together
while appreciating performances provided throughout
the evening. Engaging games were also played, and
over 250 prizes were given out during the night,
creating a festive atmosphere that celebrated both
individual achievements and team spirit.
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During the Christmas holiday, we held a DIY Cookies Workshop for colleagues to make delicious
cookies together. Magnificent Christmas packaging for cookies was also prepared for colleagues to

beautifully present their creations, making their homemade treats perfect for gifting to friends and
family.

Ji A
Mahjong Competition

A2 B BRI 2 R BRI S BB o SIS RS AR o B B
W o BREFERSN  BEPE T DI FRITA 2 BB A o B E A R A 0
We held a Mahjong Competition for our colleagues to come join the fun, and colleagues were also
encouraged to be part of the audience. A total of 52 players participated in the competition, showcasing
their skills and strategies. In addition to the main event, various games were organised, allowing everyone

to engage and enjoy the atmosphere. Winners received exciting prizes, making the event even more
thrilling and rewarding for all involved.

B i 7 T AE Sy
Icing Cookies Workshop

2024/03/27
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We held an Icing Cookies Workshop, allowing our employees to decorate cookies with icing,
transforming them into adorable animal figures such as rabbits, chickens, and butterflies. This fun
activity made the cookies not only delicious but also visually appealing, fostering creativity and
teamwork among participants. Everyone enjoyed the process of bringing their cookies designs to life,
making it a memorable experience for all involved.
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We take care of the employees’ needs and concerns. In 2024, the turnover rate
of the Group was about 16.6%.

R TYE e =
2024 2023

Overall

16.6 28.2

2 H TR 4y
By Gender

F:1 i
Male

21.8 30.1

Lol

Female

10.9 25.9

%R LA
By Age

(305EDL F)
Below 30

40.0 49.2

(30-5055%)
30-50

12.9 26.2

(5058 P 1)
250

17.8 22.8

e br Ed 4
By Location

WM

Macau

16.5 28.2

HiE
Hong Kong

333 50.0

BE B

A BT S B AEN ]~ B AR R
BT o BRTABRTF IR BA M
BT AR I B A E S0 JF 4 SR A8 )
FLAE PR AR P AN BLE R A A o

BiaE
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Employment Conditions

Our remuneration packages are thoughtfully designed to attract, retain and
motivate high-quality employees. In additional to competitive salary, we
offer bonuses and non-monetary incentives, such as welfare benefits and
professional development opportunities, based on individual performance and
contributions.

Note:

28 Turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of leaving employees in
each category by the total number of employees in the same category as at 31
December 2024.
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The Group follows a six-day workweek schedule with standard working
hours of eight hours per day, in compliance with Article 33 of the Macau
Labour Relations Law. Overtime work and corresponding remuneration are
respectively regulated by Articles 36 and 37 of the Law. To promote work-life
balance, employees are also entitled to various type of leaves, including annual
leave, weekly rest days, statutory holidays, sick leave, hospitalisation leave,
work injury leave, maternity leave, compensation leave and compassionate
leave. In addition, our Company Medical Scheme covers employees’ medical
expenses.

During the Reporting Period, we also implemented a Paid Sick Leave Healthy
Reward Program to encourage employees to maintain good physical health
and adopt a healthy lifestyle. Employees who meet the relevant terms and
conditions can receive corresponding health rewards.

For imported labour, the Group provides free accommodations and a housing
allowance which may be available upon request. All employees on duty
receive two meals daily at the employees’ canteens or other designated food
and beverage establishments. Employees at our Group-owned restaurants are
also entitled to enjoy various discounts.

In case of severe violation of business policies or misconduct, early
termination of employment through summary dismissal may occur. When
an employee resigns, we conduct exit interviews to gather their opinion and
identify areas for improvement.

Occupational Health and Workplace Safety
Employees’ Health

Our employees are vital asset to the Group, and we prioritise their health and
well-being through our human resources management strategy. To ensure
all applicants are physically qualified for their roles, they must successfully
complete the pre-employment medical examination, which is financially
covered by the Group.

We also provide annual medical check-ups to uphold the employees’ rights
and health. If any employees are diagnosed with significant medical condition,
the human resources department will make efforts to reassign them to suitable
positions within the Group, whenever possible.

As a leading business in Macau’s leisure and hospitality sectors, our hotels
serve numerous visitors, which exposes our frontline employees to the risk
of infectious illnesses. To mitigate such risk, the Group has established
operating procedures for the housekeeping employees when visitors are
suspected or confirmed to be infected. We have also implemented revised
cleaning protocols. Additionally, we conduct educational sessions to
enhance employees’ awareness of infectious diseases, enabling them to take
appropriate safety precautions.
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During the Reporting Period, there were 360 lost days due to work injury.
There was no work-related fatality that occurred in the past three years
including the reporting year. The Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in Macau concerning the provision of
a safe working environment and protection of employees from occupational
hazards. The following table provides details of work-related fatalities that
have occurred in the past three years:

TR TPYLE E- =Y : o TR AR
2024 2023 2022

ST A A R 3 0T ) ) )
Number of Work-related Fatalities
B TARA BRI 2 05 i - .
Number of Work-related Injuries
B LR LA H ¥
Lost Days due to Work-related Injuries 360 323 479

LA L2

FAMAE P A7 5 PR AEEAT T H W A B 22 2 A
A DU DU S 28 A e il 1

)
Hotel

Workplace Safety

Routine workplace safety inspections are conducted in all of our establishments
to check the safety control measures in the following areas:

H %5 T
General Operation Construction

. kA o B R EVRARAHIRET . A o KA AR
General safety Usage of stoves and hot Storage Equipment and
o HBEEA food containers BREAE machinery
Fire safety 4 o Electrical safety o WRLEAE
o SR Cold storage THB% A Electrical safety
First-aid items BT A SR SRR Y Fire safety o JEBSERYIE AL,
it Handling dangerous

Maintenance of food

substances and

lifts and gas stoves chemicals
JTEB A B A i o MREAER
Usage and storage of Noise management
knives o AMTRETAE
Ergonomic practices
. MZETAE
Working at height
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Safety Training
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In partnership with the Macau Labour Affairs
Bureau, we have established the Hotel & Catering
Industry Safety Card and Construction Industry
Occupational Safety Card training course for our
employee members. This comprehensive training
gives our employees knowledge of relevant laws
and rules regarding workplace safety and health. It
also covered typical risks in the hotel, catering, and
gaming industries, as well as safeguards and tools
to prevent accidents and occupational hazards.
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We have established comprehensive working procedures for the kitchen
employees at MFW regarding the safe use of cooking utensils and hygiene
maintenance. All new kitchen employees are required to undergo mandatory
training to learn these protocols before starting their roles. Furthermore,
management conducts routine employees’ meetings and shift briefings to
communicate any revised processes or workflow adjustments to the team
directly. This approach ensures all culinary personnel are well-informed of
policies to minimise risks and maintain optimal standards of safety in food
preparation.

= Tt e b7ty

=R
Pay Attention to (c pfal,
Health and Achieve a Safe Lifé To

E—15 | 2024m.04 g5 2024.11.05
First Round 11:00-15:30 Second Round | 11:00-14:30

BEATER RERRATRE
Legend Palace Staff Canteen Harbourview Hotel Staff Canteen

Bl 22 {R2 30z IRk 1 51 2024

Occupational Safety & Health Game Booth

We also regularly hold occupational safety and health games booth to
further enhance employees’ awareness of occupational safety, cultivate good
work habits, and establish a safety culture within the Company. Through
this engaging and educational approach, we hope to continue improving
employees’ competencies in occupational safety and health.

We have scheduled certified training for the fire safety officer within the
Reporting Period. It offers the skills necessary to carry out emergency
planning, put emergency response plans into action, coordinate them, and
be knowledgeable about how installed systems work and building fire
safety. Additionally, we have organized certified Adult First-Aid courses
(Including the operation of first aid, cardiopulmonary resuscitation (“CPR”),
and automated external defibrillators (“AEDs”)) for frontline employees to
enhance their safety awareness, emergency response capabilities, improve the
company's image, reduce risks, and promote teamwork.
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TR B 3 9% e Staff Training and Career Development

AAEETEIR B LS SRR E > B The Group ensures that its employees have ample opportunities for continuous
FEIE H AC80 ~ (ERRE - TR Rk SERE R DL S A development, including project-based exposure, on-the-job coaching,
PRI e - BTERFRRAM M B TR horizontal career development, and external training courses or seminars. This
PER AR — 0y TAE - R — O F R o commitment upholds our belief in giving each employee more than just a job,
TAM S B TELA AW EE S g R but a career. We encourage each employee to communicate their growth goals
DU FAM 58 ) S At AT B2 (it T BB A B K SCHE - B with their management so that we can provide them with the greatest support
LR ESFIEF AR T 4 possible. Employee training often covers the following topics:

o REMFBHN
Security Guard Service Training
o BB AL A
Hotel Product Knowledge
o HBIE A FAERR R R
Certified Training for Fire Safety Officer
o FAE LT B RIS
Become an expert in communication with subordinates
o BRI AR
Stress Management Workshop
o BYREBEERT
Food Hygiene Supervisor Training
o EVRMRE B RE A R T AR S B T

Master Service Skills and Become a Quality Frontline Service Employees

BRI
Employee Training

BN o A B B g o 7 % DI AR B 22 R R ) Additionally, the Group nominates and sponsors employees’ attendance at
HMEBIGRIERAE o relevant external training sessions.
W BIA R B LIRS The employee training data for the Reporting Period are as follows:

; A (%) NG AN (%) NG
S Number (%) Hour | Number (%) Hour
#5F Total 2,322 (202.1%) 2.80 586 (51.0%) 2.49
% B LRI #14r By Gender
%M Male 1,208 (52.0%) 3.44 355 (60.6%) 2.49
%t Female 1,114 (48.0%) 2.11 231 (39.4%) 2.48
1% B T4 %14 By Employee Category
= B PLE Senior Management 10 (0.4%) 31.07 5(0.9%) 19.35
%P, 34 Management/Supervisor 832 (35.8%) 3.21 142 (24.2%) 1.85
—#% B L General Employee 1,480 (63.7%) 2.14 439 (74.9%) 2.54
BF5E - Note:
». 2 B B o) AR 43 EG A ) AR 4 32 A2 55 5 2. The percentage of total participants trained is obtained by dividing the number of
SZHLE NG AR EE B T4 N8BS Tk participants who received training by the Group’s total workforce, whereas the
S ELFE B 52 B BRA I 40 00 1 4 LA &% percentage of participants trained by gender and participant category is obtained
SR R 1 2 Eﬁﬁlﬁiﬁ?uiﬁau SHLE by dividing the number of participants of the respective category who received
E"J\ o A%ﬂ(;ﬁ? 5 ﬁ*;&;ﬂ}ﬁfﬁ ; B %” Agﬁ(:ﬁ\ 2l training by the total number of trained participants. During the reporting period,
5 B P Tk e 517 e PN the number of participants increased compared to previous years, which were
TR B TR A AR S - significantly affected by the pandemic.
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National Security Education Exhibition 2024
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The Group’s Chairman, Directors lead our management team with a total

3 ,’) 017 AR 2

Macau Legend Development Ltd

PRESSEHSRE

National Security Education Exhibition

| 4.17
2024

of 26 team members participated in the guided tour of the 2024 “National
Security Education Exhibition.” This experience deepened our understanding
of the “Holistic Approach to National Security” proposed by the Government.
We learned about the changes in the national security system in 2024, the
historical achievements within the new security landscape, and the relevant
legal frameworks. Looking ahead, our Group is committed to aligning with

these national security principles and contributing to the overall stability and
development of our community.

HAH WK I

TP AR A R T T AT E A
MK > Lhatl B TR o 3% % aPAh Al 5
ke E B TAT TR B AT AR DA SR 75
BOE— I o ARSI B %A R 7 T
HEATRPAG o B R PP B4 B ) SRR A )
TEE G —gm > Rt
Wt B TR » ffg - EE @I m
B TSR > 4G T B SR d SRR o

Performance Appraisal and Career Development

To enhance the overall competitiveness of the Group, we conduct regular
performance appraisals to evaluate our employee’s performance. These
assessments allow us to identify if there are any strengths to utilise and
any needs for further training. For employees in different grades, they will
be assessed based on different aspects. The performance appraisal process
includes a two-way feedback mechanism, where supervisors first arrange one-
on-one meetings to provide constructive feedback and gather employees’
insights. These sessions conclude with supervisors offering guidance on
training opportunities and advice to support employees' career advancement.

— % B ARG AL B 2 TAERORE - WRERE T - B GAE KA
JE o A A BYBRAM R A B HERE o [ R AE AR
Pt R e o

The appraisal focuses on job skills, communication, team works
and attitude. This assessment helps us recognise and leverage their
existing skills while providing opportunities for improvement in
communication.

LB E TG T > HISEAE A po SoERe T - B RERE
VLK TAERE ST o wZ Al Bl AP i B A 1 4 55 181 K 2 A A0 B
TAE ERREE - [FE AT 72 IR 7y 1 ] AR — 20 e o
The appraisal evaluates their leadership and management skills, as
well as their attitude towards their work. This assessment enables us to
identify their strengths in leading teams and managing tasks effectively,
while also highlighting areas where further development may be
beneficial.
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FEBLTAL

Performance Appraisal

—RET

General Staff
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Supervisor Grade Employee

TAEHrE
Job Skills

|
RS

Communications

l
B A AF
Team Works

B
Attitude

w5 I 0 R A AL 22 BRI > (RS SR AT
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78 ML B B T A S5 0 A Y B8 AT A AR
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oy DR 7 S T ) R R AR I 2 PR S E
A BRAE WA R o SI0 M AR A S R By Lk L
bl A HEE R AR HE G T AR AT © A B BUR AL
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TG S R S ST AN > AR I E
POt L R B M b THE R o
BFM s B THT R - AR BRI AR
E o TR B B THAZ ISR G IR - AL
VS 5 S G DA S S LR KT > LA £
B RRAS HE AN~ s E A RS R o DA B %
2 EAERR I

TR 2 A7 ~ YEA SRS 10 2 R 1R 3 0
ST A W o A B BT A R T R ORAE
T B0 AT PR A5 i 2 A B 22 AR S AR A R
B~ SCHI AN AT ~ YEREEIIES -

SUERE T
Leadership
IR
Management Skills
I
B35V

Business Attitude

When new vacancies arise within the Group, we prioritise internal promotion
or transfer of suitable employees over external hiring. This approach
reflects our commitment to recognising and nurturing the talent within our
organisation, providing opportunities for growth and advancement to our
existing employee members.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

To safeguard the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group has taken
necessary steps to file trademark application and will consistently monitor and
prevent any unauthorised use or violation of its intellectual property rights.
If it is found that there has been an infringement of our intellectual property
rights, the Company will proactively take action against such infringement in
a timely manner.

UPHOLDING HIGHEST SERVICE QUALITY

The hospitality and entertainment sectors in Macau are highly competitive.
The Group is committed to consistently providing best possible service and
optimising enjoyment for our visitors. The customer service manual that
defined standards for their conduct, appearance, and manners, is a resource
that our hotel personnel received in training. Various trainings were held to
uphold good service quality, including security guard service training, hotel
product knowledge training, certified training for fire safety officers etc.

Strict guidelines govern culinary operations from sourcing to storage,
preparation and service. Our quality control method guarantees that
standards of hygiene and food safety are maintained at every stage, from the
procurement of the food to delivery and storage, preparation, and serving.
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During the Reporting Period, no sold or shipped products required recalls due
to safety and health reasons. There was no material breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to health and product safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters in connection to the products and services provided by
the Group, as well as the method of redress. The Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to intellectual
property regarding our products and services during the Reporting Period.

Customer Satisfaction

We recognise that customers’ preferences are continually changing. To keep
pace with evolving industry and consumer expectations, ongoing adaptation is
crucial.

Family vacationers and young individual tours have increased noticeably and
in response to this trend, our hotels’ have stocked a number of kid-friendly
goods, such as baby beds, faucet extenders, toothbrushes, etc., to improve its
babysitting services for guests in need. Besides, disabled and elders bathing
and toilet seats will be provided to the needed as well.

By attentively tracking trends and proactively customising our offerings, we
strive to anticipate and meet the wants of our diversifying customer base. This
commitment to flexibility strengthens our reputation as a leading choice for
memorable experiences catering to all.

Customer Satisfaction Survey

Our hotels incorporate feedback from satisfaction surveys into rigorous
quantitative and qualitative assessments. To determine our respective strengths
and limitations, we also assess our performance data in comparison to that of
our peers.

In 2024, the Group maintained exceptional satisfaction levels. According to
the results to a global leading guest experience platform, Legend Palace Hotel
received 3,928 reviews from all around the globe.

Legend Palace Hotel achieved an outstanding customer satisfaction overall
score of 5 out of 5, with nearly 100% of the respondents had given a “Good”
or higher satisfaction rating for their overall experience of staying. The scoring
areas cover “Room”, “Service”, “Cleanliness”, and “Food & Drinks”. Among
the other factors, the hotel’s environment and atmosphere (100%) influenced
guests’ decisions the most strongly to stay with us. We will continue to keep
track on the rating of our hotel performance and seek for a higher service
quality.
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TRAM A A B 1 AR S AL IR R R o E R AR Continued monitoring of ratings and service quality optimisation remains a
A B NS =2 o MAER focus to make sure our dining guests are able to attain the maximum level of
N B E AR M SN L o T A BN enjoyment. Guests are invited to give feedback and comments after finishing
U REEL IS o 7. )R T A 2 6 O S il A o R their meals. All issues identified are reported to the managers and chefs for
REl % o ratification immediately.

FRAM T T A B DA R e e o Our customer satisfaction management leverages the following channel to
BEEE understand customers’ expressions:

ST R

Physical Comment Card

FA 2 o A0 1) B AR B FT A R ZT I T Review Proff B2 TH RE T B > LU
TSN - R AA AR B AT R T R R R

We are gradually transitioning from traditional physical guest comments cards to employing Review
Pro's online survey tools and email, in order to provide a more user-friendly, cost-effective, and
sustainable approach to gathering guest feedback.

FEAZT- B (TR - i R
Expedia)

Major Social Media Platform

(e.g. Ctrip, TripAdvisor, and Expedia)

?ﬂdFﬁE’J %55 I B R WA AL ST & LR R o FRAMATRE PR B TR R
nﬁﬂ ©

Our room administrators regularly check on guest comments on major social media platforms. We
have access to reply to guest comments directly.

Daily Briefing Sheet

ReviewPro ReviewPro& — i BT 47 72 iy A IS F) B 4T SR A8 o FRAMI M Aie B 2% 15 9 B iy
ReviewPro is an ultimate review channel of all the products and services. We analyse the data and
review from the customers.

(EARRRIES

ﬁgg@ﬂ%%’*ﬁx%ﬁ%lﬁﬁf?ﬁﬁuﬂ o HIP i ) AR BT e o S i i BRI A A
ES 5 °

TEAFRBEUA 0 P R o o5 sl RO T A el e P S B o J P A AR o A R D Sl
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The Duty Managers will consolidate the social media updates, such as our hotels’ ratings and recent
comments, and share them with all Department Heads in the morning briefing.

During departmental briefings for each shift, all constructive feedback will be discussed and followed
up. The department heads will identify the underlying issue and address any operational shortcomings
to prevent it from happening again.

JE PR Complaints Handling

A E R EPEE I Z W A E > DB Duty managers at our hotels undergo extensive instruction respectfully,
o ELM S ZERY RE R PR o — Bl 3% genuinely and professionally in handling complaints. Any issues raised are
TR e L BIEAT I o S B A R B ] B DA Ry I promptly examined and directed to relevant teams for timely resolution.
iR o AR HATY > ASEE 13 Mk B A B RS During the Reporting Period, we did not receive material service-related
MR complaints.
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MAINTAINING HIGHEST BUSINESS ETHICS
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o A Responsible Gambling
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In light of the amendments under Law no. 7/2022, the Macao Gaming Law
requires casino concessionaires to have a comprehensive responsible gambling

Procurar ajuda
pata ganhiar o futuro

plan. The Group collaborated with the Macau government and various related
institutions to advance awareness and education on responsible gambling
among both existing and new employees.

SRR BT & R T B AL S MBS ) > R R B
R R GER EEE  WREA  TTRR ERRYEHE, o MR 2
‘ JHRR E R SUT R AR AR -

BREE amRn | aoE For internal promotion, our Legend Palace Casino hosts on-site promotional

savns activities in collaboration with Yat On Centre to emphasise the importance

HIRMAMEREE

| of responsible gambling for family harmony and the message of avoiding

gambling addiction. We will also promote various online responsible gambling
quizzes to enhance understanding.

RSN o FRAT LR RS T2 R TS ) > S ATy
MR ~ B R AR AT BURPIIE B o 25 TR B) B 7E TR 2 B3 &
TUAT R AR - 075 el [ RS o B 2 By

For external promotional, we held various activities including skill-based games
with the Macao Gaming Industry Employees Home, responsible gambling
workshops, and street flash events. These activities aim to deepen participants'
understanding of responsible gambling and enhance their awareness and defenses
against problem gambling.

AT TAE  FAM A B e B T (AR AR B BT R R
PSR B o BEAh - 25 T8 FRRE BB 28 0 R AR 24T 5 I A S5 B Rt
e B RACE B AR B > A REAL -

In 2024, responsible gambling training was provided to all employees in our
Legend Palace Casino, including new hires and current employees. Additionally,
several management employee members will participate in specialised training
courses organised by Yat On Center to further deepen their understanding of
responsible gambling and assist those in need.

FeAM 47 By A B T T B AR R (TR SRR D) JEE - DU 5@ (") 5 51
TAT R A B S P2 TR R - T 2 BBty B T3 & HUE B -
Every year, we conduct Responsible Gambling (“RG”) tests for all employees
to enhance their understanding of responsible gambling and strengthen overall
awareness. All employees who take the test successfully meet the required
standards.

88 MR AR ATRAT] 20244



BE - g &kE R HE G

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

FART bR AL BT B9 A AT R BUR - AT
BRE > GRFEHETLU R

We actively cooperate with the government's responsible gambling policies to
fullfil its social responsibilities, including below measures:

% R

Customer Service

A FTAEHE S HR A

Responsible Promotion Posters and Videos

FRAM i 15 48355 45 o 8 J s B BT TR i i S A
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We display responsible gambling posters and
videos in various locations throughout the casino.
All entrances and key areas feature these materials,
which include contact information for assistance.
Additionally, televisions in all smoking areas
play responsible gambling promotional videos to
remind patrons to avoid gambling addiction and
prevent gambling-related crimes.

LEA Ty ]

BRI I R R R L A B BURBE > $2
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T EEVRE FAE RS, - DA A 5 2 ey R ey
R -

Gaming Table Equipment

Each gaming table at our casino is equipped with a double-sided display
screen that provides game category information, a clock and responsible
gambling slogans to ensure all customers can clearly see reminders about their
gambling time and engage in gambling responsibly.

Customer Service

We have implemented measures for customer service, including clear
indications on membership application forms regarding the acceptance of
information from the casino. Responsible gambling messages are printed on
customer membership cards to facilitate immediate assistance when needed.
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Guest Counseling Room

We offer a counseling room for guests with gambling issues. Responsible
gambling specialists can provide counseling and referrals to other gambling
support organisations, as well as assisting guests in completing self-exclusion
and third-party exclusion application forms.

Responsible Gambling Information Booth

Our casino features a responsible gambling information booth developed
in collaboration with the Social Welfare Bureau, Gaming Inspection and
Coordination Bureau, and the University of Macau Gaming Research Institute.
This booth serves as a key initiative for promoting responsible gambling,
providing convenient and comprehensive information to enhance public
awareness and prevent gambling disorders. It offers resources on responsible
gambling, addiction assessments, self-exclusion, family gambling counseling
applications, interactive games, and assistance.

Privacy Protection

Ensuring stringent protection of guest personal data is essential. We are fully
committed to complying with Macao’s Personal Data Protection Act No.
8/2005 and all relevant regulations of Macao.

Policies and procedures on the handling and storage of private data are
established to guide our front desk employees in minimising the risk of
privacy information leakage. Only authorised IT and technical personnel can
access data through designated devices and applications safely situated on
company premises. As part of our dedication, we actively conduct regular
cybersecurity evaluations employing a range of technical and procedural
auditing activities, including external vulnerability scanning, access privilege
reviews, and comprehensive security audits. This defence-in-depth approach
aims to proactively identify and mitigate risks from evolving cyber threats.

Our commitment to cybersecurity, and ability to identify, manage and
reduce the severity of regular threats to our information are evidenced by the
accreditation of the international standards ISO/IEC 27001.

Anti-corruption
Group Anti-corruption Policy

The Group upholds a stringent anti-corruption policy along with implementing
guidelines to govern business gifts and ensure transparency in all interactions.
While casino employees are typically prohibited from accepting presents
of any kind or value, employee in on-gaming roles permit modest, nominal
tokens from clients to strengthen relationships appropriately without creating
undue influence. All employees are advised to avoid receiving gifts from
parties or companies that have commercial relations with the Group.
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Bribery is strictly prohibited and constitutes using gifts, entertainment or
other benefits to improperly sway business decisions instead of legitimately
cultivating partnerships and consumer ties. To ensure transparency all
transactions must accurately reflect their nature and purpose. All employees
have received specific instructions on business transactions and the company
auditor is responsible for assessing any risks related to corruption and bribery.

Reporting Procedure

Employees and external stakeholders can confidentially report any suspected
breaches through defined whistleblowing channels as outlined in our policy.
Please see the “Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism”
section above for details.

Employee Code of Conduct

Our Code of Conduct establishes high ethical standards expected of all
employees and directors, ensuring full complying with all applicable laws
and regulations in Macau and in Hong Kong. The code outlines the values
and guidelines that govern employee behaviour. Failure to adhere to these
standards may result in disciplinary actions, including dismissal, to maintain
integrity.

Anti-corruption Training

Our gaming segment’s management and general workforce received
anticorruption training in 2024 for a combined total of 30 hours and 717
hours, respectively. In order to enhance our gaming employee’s anti-money
laundering knowledge and understanding, we also test them through an
electronic system.

During the Reporting Period, no legal case regarding corrupt practices was
brought against the Group or its employees. The Group was not aware of any
material breach of laws and regulations in Macau relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering during the Reporting Period.

COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

Without the help of the community, we believe no business can prosper. We
are more than happy to participate in any opportunity to help charities in
any field and give back to society. The Group’s contribution areas focus on
contributing to the local community.
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We held a Blood Donation event for our colleagues to join since 2016. In
total, 26 employees participated, and 21 successfully donated. This event

soemmEEN - |

B | helps raise awareness about the importance of blood donation, fosters a sense
sucesiuly dmared | of community among employees, and contributes to saving lives in our local
area.
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We collaborated with The Salvation Army (Macau) to receive unwanted but
still useful items from our colleagues across all our hotels. The items were
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collected by professionals to ensure that the donated goods are properly
transferred and utilised. This event helps support those in need within our
community, promotes sustainability by reducing waste, and fosters a spirit
of generosity among our employees.
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Visiting Community Facilities
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We organised a visit for our management team and team members to the Kai
Chi Early Training Centre, where we brought gifts for the children. During
this visit, our members interacted with the children and were guided on a tour
of the centre by social workers. This experience helped employees deepen
their understanding of the living conditions of vulnerable groups in society
and highlighted the importance of providing support and assistance in their
daily lives.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, which includes
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development and
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing, discussion on
the relationships with its key stakeholders and particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance
Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual
report. The Group has always been committed to establish and improve the
relationship with customers to gain and maintain customers. The review forms
part of the directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 109 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 220 of this annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY AND
EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the investment properties
and property and equipment of the Group are set out in notes 17 and 18,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares including the sale of treasury shares during the year ended
31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, there were no treasury shares held by the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$1,929.2 million comprising
share premium of approximately HK$4,163.8 million and other reserve of
approximately HK$202.3 million, net of accumulated loss of approximately
HK$2,436.9 million.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, subject to the provisions of
memorandum of association of the Company or the Articles of Association,
the Company’s share premium account may be applied to pay distributions or
dividends to Shareholders, provided that immediately following the date the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman & chief executive officer)
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Li Chun Tak
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr Mak Ka Wing,
Patrick shall retire by rotation at the 2025 AGM being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM. Ms Melinda Chan will retire as an
executive Director and Mr Wang Hongxin will retire as an independent non-
executive Director at the conclusion of the AGM in order to devote more time
to pursue their other work commitments.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has
a service contract with the Company that is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as referred to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force throughout the
year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final
dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’ approval.
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EH R EEITHA BRA LR Z Bt B DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
B8 Jie Ay WO R 4 2 90 AT SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY
WZEZNEFZA=+—H s AAVER R As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short position of the Directors
FBATHON B I KAH BRI A3 A AR DR 8 2 and chief executives of the Company in the Shares and underlying Shares, as
B BRI 565 35 20 K A Hh AR 2 R A 9 5w recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
kiR sk 2 B i S IR > mOMR A A ST JU) 2 RN of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
AN R B AE T 2 g BORETANE pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
(1) AR TG A (1)  Long Position in Shares of the Company
Al CEAT IR O A
WA /i ety B H MAE S
*Approximate
percentage of total
Name of Director Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
PRt A A 129,690,066 2.09%
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda Beneficial owner
i E i 483,781,402 7.80%

Interest of spouse

613,471,468 9.89%

BFRE - Note:
o Wi 25 A5 2 1 Tl e 7 208 JEL TR ) 46 W S €)) Ms Melinda Chan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the

MRS A B A i s T R interest of her spouse, Mr David Chow.
% HALER - mEFA=+—H0 * The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the

VEATRE 25 27 I 8 I DL B 8647 1 4 number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.

H o
% FSCRRds 8 4 > AN F) M A = Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
WEESFHAAR E WAEF A Company, as at 31 December 2024, had registered an interest or a short
= [ BB LN T 8 AT ]k B position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
e (B RES R SEEEXVER 2 or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
A ~ K BE P47 B A 0 3 b M AT S0 B the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
AN R 3 e T ) B MG (0 A 3 5 206 JBA T pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
B T A R MR 4 A v < I & AR Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

O3 ) RS P B R A R
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SHARE SCHEMES

The Company had no share option scheme or share award scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transcations” and in notes 10 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transcations” and in notes 10 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transcations” in this annual report and in notes 10 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements, there is no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

RoFEPEFT H=ZFH > EEERE
MR 5 5 T30 & 0 ) 56 33 61 K 2 1l AR Rl AF
BB TME > UF&T RAFRESR KL
FEATHN B BRI 7B B B A v A

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
parties (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section

f IR 336 of the SFO:
1) AARA B P (1) Long position in Shares of the Company
Al O B AT I AR Y
FEB N AW gl B4y ¥ H RN pida
*Approximate

percentage of total

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
R AR JEETR7 ZEDN 6,661,000 0.11%
Mr Chan Weng Lin Beneficial owner
ZHE 2,051,485,252 33.08%
Controlled corporation
2,058,146,252 33.19%
R HREA A 2,051,485,252V 33.08%
Perfect Achiever Beneficial owner
Wu Jo Hsuan %+ T B 4 2,058,146,252® 33.19%
Ms Wu Jo Hsuan Interest of spouse
Elite Success JEETR7 ZSDN 1,012,599,750 16.33%
Elite Success Beneficial owner
By e Haa A 109,446,429 1.76%
Mr Li Chi Keung Beneficial owner
ZHEEE 1,012,599,750® 16.33%
Controlled corporation
1,122,046,179 18.09%
BRGNS T 1,012,599,750® 16.33%
Ms Wong Hoi Ping Controlled corporation
i 3 M 2 109,446,429¢ 1.76%
Interest of spouse
1,122,046,179 18.09%
BRI 4+ HaA A 75,664,000 1.22%
Ms Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner
T 937,104,609 15.11%
Controlled corporation
1,012,768,609 16.33%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. HadEa A 934,269,609 © 15.07%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. Beneficial owner
JE SRS HaEA A 483,781,402 7.80%
Mr David Chow Beneficial owner
T (R £ 129,690,066 ™ 2.09%
Interest of spouse
613,471,468 9.89%
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Notes:

1. These Shares were held by Perfect Achiever, a controlled corporation of
Mr Chan Weng Lin.

2. Ms Wu Jo Hsuan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the

interest of her spouse, Mr Chan Weng Lin.

3. These Shares were held by Elite Success (a company in which Mr Li Chi
Keung and Ms Wong Hoi Ping, spouse of Mr Li Chi Keung, held 51%
and 39% of the total issued capital, respectively).

4. Ms Wong Hoi Ping was deemed to be interested in these Shares through
the interest of her spouse, Mr Li Chi Keung.

5. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd. and UNIR (HK)
Management Limited, controlled corporations of Ms Chan Un Chan.

6. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd., a controlled
corporation of Ms Chan Un Chan.

7. Mr David Chow was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the
interest of his spouse, Ms Melinda Chan.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the
number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other corporation
or individual (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2024, had registered an interest or a short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group
strives to minimize the environmental impact by saving electricity and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. Details of the
environmental policies of the Group and the Company’s relationships with
its employees, customers, supplies and others that have significant impact on
the Company and on which the Company’s success depends are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report™ of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the year ended December 2024, the Company was in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
in all material aspects.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into continuing connected transactions, details of
which are set out below:

Continuing connected transactions which are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement

Kit Lai Hotel Lines Rental And Laundry Services Agreement

On 9 August 2024, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf International Investment
Limited (“MFW International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Kit Lai Business Management Limited (“Kit Lai”) entered into a services
agreement in relation to the provision of the hotel lines rental and laundry
services to the Group.

Kit Lai is a company incorporated in Macau and is owned as to approximately
96.7% and 3.3% by Mr Ho Cho Si (“Mr Ho”) and Ms Tang Lai Ngo (“Ms
Tang”) respectively. Mr Ho is a son of Ms Tang, and they are respectively
a cousin and an aunt of Ms Melinda Chan, an executive Director and the
vice-chairman of the Company. They are therefore connected persons of the
Company.

Pursuant to the services agreement, Kit Lai is required to provide: (a) rental
service which includes rental and maintenance of hotel linens (i.e. the fabric
items used in the hotel industry, including but not limited to bed sheets, duvet
covers, pillowcases, pillows, duvets, decorative fabrics, handkerchiefs, face
towels, bath towels, bathrobes, floor towels, table cloths, napkins and chair
covers); and (b) laundry service which include, laundry and ironing service
for the employee uniforms, customer laundry and hotel linens of the Macau
Fisherman’s Wharf, Legend Palace Hotel, Harbourview Hotel and Rocks
Hotel, all of which are located in Macau and operated by MFW. As disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 9 August 2024, the annual cap
for the aggregate amount payable by the Group to Kit Lai pursuant to the
services agreement for the three financial years ending 31 December 2024,
2025 and 2026 are HK$11.0 million, HK$14.0 million and HK$15.0 million
respectively.

The aggregate amount of the transactions attributable to the above-mentioned

agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$9.7
million.
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Annual Review by Independence non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024 and have
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or
better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor
of the Company to report on the continuing connected transactions of the
Group. The auditor was engaged in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has
reported to the Board and issued an unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are reviewed and determined by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to, inter alia, the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As stated in the Supplemental Prospectus, the Company has applied for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
the minimum public float requirement of 25% and the Stock Exchange
accepted a lower percentage of 19.04% (the “Public Float Waiver”). Based
on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, the Company
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules and as required
by the Public Float Waiver.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2024, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
64.6% of the Group’s revenue with the largest customer, SJM, accounted for
approximately 51.0% of the Group’s revenue.

In 2024, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
30.0% of the Group’s total purchases with the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 18.1% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The interests of Directors (other than independent non-executive Directors)
in a business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely
to compete either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business (or any
changes thereof) as informed by the relevant Directors pursuant to Rule 8.10(2)
(b) and Rule 8.10(2)(c) respectively of the Listing Rules are as follows:

—  Mr Li Chu Kwan is a director of a company which provides venue
leasing services to Waldo Casino. He is also a director of a company
which, through its subsidiary, operates Waldo Hotel. Waldo Casino
and Waldo Hotel are engaged in casino operation and hotel business in
Macau, respectively.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by separate entities
with independent management and administration.

The Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s-length from, the businesses of
above-mentioned entities. When making decisions, the relevant Directors, in
performance of their duties as Directors of the Company, have acted and will
continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above and in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus, none
of the Directors is considered to have interests in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

SJM has provided with the Group a confirmation dated 18 February 2025 that
its anti-money laundering policies and procedures implemented in the casinos
and gaming premises at MFW were in full compliance with the applicable
legal and regulatory requirements of the Macau government for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that
has a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any significant events after the reporting period.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 27 July 2020. The Company has not changed its auditors in any of the
preceding three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2025 AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young

as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Chu Kwan
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer
28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young KGNS R Tel EB5%: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EBMIERHSE 07998 Fax [HEL: +852 2868 4432

979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong REth—E 27 12 ey.com

To the shareholders of Macau Legend Development Limited
R Jh e A s A PR 2 )
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Macau
Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 219, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties
relating to going concern and their possible cumulative effect on the
consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for disclaimer
of opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
net current liabilities of HK$2,513.0 million as at 31 December 2024 and
incurred a net loss of HK$622.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. The Group’s total bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,405.8
million, which will be due for repayment within the next 12 months from the
end of the reporting period or are repayable on demand, while its cash and
bank balances amounted to HK$52.3 million as at 31 December 2024. As
a result of non-compliance of certain loan covenants by the Group, its total
outstanding bank borrowings of HK$2,066.4 million become immediately
repayable if demanded by the creditor banks, of which an instalment of
loan principal amounting to HK$132.0 million has been in default as at
31 December 2024 according to the original loan repayment schedule. In
addition, the Company repaid shareholders’ loans of HK$125.6 million during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Company has yet to obtain any
confirmations from the controlling shareholder and substantial shareholders of
the Company that they would continue to agree not to demand for repayment
of the outstanding shareholders’ loans with an aggregate amount of HK$339.4
million within the next 12 months from the end of the reporting period. These
conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties which cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have undertaken plans and measures to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going concern
assumption on which the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
depends on the outcome of these plans and measures, which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including (i) the continual support from the Group’s
creditor banks for not taking any actions against the Group to exercise their
right to demand immediate repayment of the Group’s outstanding borrowings
as a result of the non-compliance of loan covenants and the Group’s default in
instalments of loan principal due; (ii) the continual support from the Group’s
creditor banks for the restructuring of the Group’s outstanding instalments
of loan principal in default and instalments of loan to be due in 2025 in
the Group’s favour; and (iii) the continual support from the Company’s
controlling shareholder and substantial shareholders for not requesting for
repayment of shareholders’ loans of HK$339.4 million in aggregate.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction, and the
possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form an opinion as to
whether the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate. Should the
Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not
be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities to current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section
of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chow Chi Chung.

Ernst & Young
Certitied Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

WEZEFDEF A= H IR
Year ended 31 December 2024

TR PR xR =
2024 2023
i Tt T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
(% 51)
(Restated)
TR B CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Wtk REVENUE 5 771,465 739,656
S K RS R A Cost of sales and services (675,780) (697,256)
95,685 42,400
AN ~ s S stE o 1R Other income, gains and losses, net 7 (5,330) (1,108)
SRVERE (R (EkER) W (EEHE  (Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment losses
b JCINEIRECE on financial assets, net 8 22) 138
IE 4 & 2 W E G 1R Impairment losses on non-financial assets 42 (376,239) -
T 5 e % R B S Marketing and promotional expenses (113,035) (101,612)
R AT S I B 5 Operating, administrative and other expenses (152,369) (208,637)
il B AR Finance costs 9 (189,792) (202,159)
AR SR B BB M 11 LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS 12 (741,102) (470,978)
IRET RN Income tax credit 13 43,440 421,096
PR AN ER LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (697,662) (49,882)
#OR IR R DISCONTINUED OPERATION
He 1| BB SRR A IR U6 Profit for the year from a discontinued operation 14 75,035 44,961
AR N i 4R LOSS FOR THE YEAR (622,627) (4,921)
Jefb 2 mBOA OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
T A BEHE Fr 0 8 £ /R4 Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be
ZHAb 2 T () WA - reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
TSRS A A A 1 e 0,25 A Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations
— [ 2w — subsidiaries (18,644) 1,938
GRWNRE P b ] Reclassification adjustment for a foreign operation
[k disposed of during the year (25,967) -
AE Wb 2 Ok 81, BOA OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR
(FBRBLIH) THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (44,611) 1,938
AR 1A 2 i Mg 4L AU 7 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (667,238) (2,983)
IR 1R LOSS PER SHARE
FEAR () Basic (HK cents)
— N E — For loss for the year 16 (10.04) (0.08)
— RS B R — For loss from continuing operations 16 (11.25) (0.80)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SECEE A=

31 December 2024

—R P —E=
2024 2023
Bt 3 T#IT T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
F i By e v NON-CURRENT ASSETS
&Y % Investment properties 17 428,777 446,771
%%&‘ﬁ)’%ﬁ Property and equipment 18 3,855,098 4,571,922
o PR Right-of-use assets 19 1,014,905 1,150,094
HoAth fE TR Other intangible assets 20 = 43,305
S NP 4y Investment in an associate 21 - -
] i 2 m) R Loan to an associate 22 226,631 210,888
O %4 Deposits paid 23 196,111 229,184
FE R & E A ER Total non-current assets 5,721,522 6,652,164
il % CURRENT ASSETS
peSty Inventories 24 11,448 21,321
5 B HAMFEYCRIE ~ Fi 4 Trade and other receivables,
&fﬁfﬁ%ﬁlﬁ deposits and prepayments 25 94,236 124,224
CHEHRERAT Ak Pledged bank deposits 26 1,681 1,674
Bl M sRAT &5 B Cash and bank balances 26 52,321 63,233
LB i AR Total current assets 159,686 210,452
b BNy CURRENT LIABILITIES

5 Ty B F A RE A #0E Trade and other payables 27 266,087 367,911

JEABL K Tax payable - 770

SRAT S HABAE R Bank and other borrowings 28 2,405,775 633,607

&AM Lease liabilities 29 784 7,732
T A AR Total current liabilities 2,672,646 1,010,020
it B £ Ao NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (2,512,960) (799,568)
HOF RS R ) £ 05 TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,208,562 5,852,596
i ) £ 4 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

SRAT S AR K Bank and other borrowings 28 = 1,934,949

HEAMA Lease liabilities 29 87,220 86,384

R IEBIIE & 5 Deferred tax liabilities 30 83,351 126,034
JE A E) & i A %E Total non-current liabilities 170,571 2,147,367
B FE Net assets 3,037,991 3,705,229
2 EQUITY

i & Share capital 31 620,119 620,119

Tt Reserves 2,417,872 3,085,110
W 25 AR Total equity 3,037,991 3,705,229

Ze i B % 1%
#HH #HH
Li Chu Kwan Chan Mei Yi, Melinda
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEZETPETF A =+ —H IR
Year ended 31 December 2024

B A Bt i oAt it = W = WS = Bt At
Share Share Other Legal Translation Accumulated
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* Total
THT TH#T THTT THTT THTT TH#T T
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(HHREG) (FfF (i)
(note (i) (note (ii))

RoE = —H—H At 1 January 2023 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 59,441 (818,193) 3,708,212
ER R Loss for the year - - - - - (4,921) (4,921)
AE R A A A Other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 1,938 - 1,938

ERAETIA (B8 45 Total comprehensive

income/(loss) for the year - - - - 1,938 (4,921) (2,983)
MEEZZEF A= —H  At31 December 2023 and
R ZEZE—H—H 1 January 2024 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 61,379 (823,114) 3,705,229
RN ) Loss for the year = = = = = (622,627) (622,627)
A HCA A T Other comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - (44,611) - (44,611)
AR T AR Total comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - (44,611) (622,627) (667,238)
A B o ] B g Transfer upon disposal of
subsidiaries - - - (6,915) - 6,915 -

B ZFZWEFZH=+—H  At31 December 2024 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) - 16,768 (1,438,826) 3,037,991

BF5E - Notes:

(1) A B2 B 0 A A5 77 2'—‘/ \ﬂilf(ﬁg 114 B S A i 1Y (1) The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
JB 3 THT (B BRAR A W) TN+ ] SR value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal
SRR U S T I A \75145?@{@39 FHE - value of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition at the time of group

reorganisation in December 2006.
Gi)  RIFEEMARR LM (el A% 7R (i)  In accordance with the Enterprise Law of the Lao People’s Democratic Republic
BB O BR S 2 )  FZEOR O & (“Lao PDR”), the subsidiary registered in Lao PDR is required to transfer not
AR 10% 1)U A8 25 15 il > R A G less than 10% of its profits of each accounting period to its legal reserve, until
FEAHAE A AR BB 0 m) 2 — 2RI o the amount reaches an amount equal to half of the share capital of the respective
subsidiary.

# REMMIRARER X ME+ A *

= — B & A BB IR B AR
2,417,872,000% 70 (ZF — =4F+H =+—
H :3,085,110,000%50) °

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,417,872,000
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: HK$3,085,110,000).
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-F NWEF A=+ —HIHEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

TR TPYLE S
2024 2023
{oR: T#x T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
(KEE 1))
(Restated)
R H B B2 Bl CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
W AT (5 18) ¥ Al (Loss)/profit before tax:
RS From continuing operations (741,102) (470,978)
IR 57 From a discontinued operation 90,131 62,126
S A AR R Adjustments for:
FLE YA Interest income 7 (221) (206)
FIE B 2 Interest expenses 9 189,930 202,849
TR EE BV 58,1 7 14 Unrealised exchange gain, net (398) (264)
eaterdiar dm Reversal of allowance for inventories 12 (784) (390)
E Y ST Depreciation of investment properties 12 17,994 17,994
VEN S TN Depreciation of property and equipment 18 267,574 311,989
i FARE S AT Depreciation of right-of-use assets 19 46,763 50,599
0 W R A T e 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment 7 12,926 11,958
B — ] B A T 2 i g Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (77,912) -
oAb T 7 A Amortisation of other intangible assets 20 364 1,007
2 5 RECK T R e 18 Impairment losses on trade receivables 8 22 42
At R SR T (e 4B 8 [ Reversal of impairment losses on other receivables 8 - 2)
I 4 1l o B R 18 Impairment losses on non-financial assets 42 376,239 -
181,526 186,724
ﬁ%ﬁ W Decrease in inventories 3,025 373
5 B HAE WS ERIE ~ 924 [t T Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables,
TJ\IEHIJ\/ i"le] deposits and prepayments 23,456 (16,916)
B 5y J HAbERTEIE () B (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (24,627) 48,811
AR T B Cash generated from operations 183,380 218,992
CAT TS HL Income tax paid (11,934) (36,454)
e L o T B U TR AR Net cash flows from operating activities 171,446 182,538
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

BEZETPETF A =+ —H IR
Year ended 31 December 2024

TR TPYLE S
2024 2023
i T#x T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
(% 51)
(Restated)
o BB B 2 Bl CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
= E Y& Purchase of items of property and equipment (14,750) (16,324)
B4 Deposits paid (2,730) (3,608)
C RIS, Interest received 214 204
I — [ B A ) BAER Advance to an associate (15,743) (94,421)
0 W 3 R A P A Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 8,001 3,135
O L — [ A ) i 4 Deposits received for disposal of a subsidiary - 78,153
AR SR SE Disposal of a discontinued operation 14 175,562 -
WG E TS, () B4 Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities
i 150,554 (32,861)
2 il B 2 Bl i CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TR ERAT S HoAth 1 3k Repayment of bank and other borrowings (167,475) (70,500)
EATFLE Interest paid (156,545) (172,572)
R B A A Repayments of principal portion of lease liabilities (6,396) (10,788)
B RAT P A K Bank and other borrowings raised - 80,000
V7S B T PR B 4 VR AR Net cash flows used in financing activities (330,416) (173,860)
Bl KRB &S EWRD F NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (8,416) (24,183)
TAEERIIY B4 1 3 4 5 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 63,233 87,341
SIS TE S T 15228 TRAE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (2,496) 75
AR BLE R BB EY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
PP &5 65 JA 858 DL 36 P B & |2 OF YEAR, REPRESENTING CASH AND
AT HE R BANK BALANCES AS STATED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION 52,321 63,233
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

=

WLE D B A A PR A W) (TAR A A R —
EENETALAEMZFERENS
RES A RNESE 225 (— JLN — 4R 58 =Rk
1l - #E&R B AE T sk ML 5 e
PR > B i 7 s Wk 5 28 5 BT A BR
ARSI v DI o o M /A =5
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AT B (TP 1) ) 2 S b B ) A 1
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EEACPN:
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FEEEH RN M EE41 o 7 =%
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located
at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business of the
Company in Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) is located
at Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf, Avenida da Amizade e
Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen, Macau.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 41. As at 31 December
2024, the Group owned Macau Fisherman’s Wharf (“MFW”) in
Macau. MFW is a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention
and entertainment complex located on the outer harbour of the Macau
Peninsula. During the year, the Group disposed of its business operation
in Lao People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR”). Further disclosures
about the discontinued operation are set out in note 14.

Pursuant to the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 (the “Old
Service Agreement”) and its related amendments entered into with STM
Resorts S.A. (“SIM”), being one of the three original concessionaires
in Macau, the Group provides gaming services to SIM in its premises
in Macau. The Old Service Agreement between the Group and SJIM
expired on 26 June 2022 when the term of SJM concession agreement
with the Macau government ended on the same date. On 16 June 2022,
the Group entered into an addendum to the Old Service Agreement
with SJM (the “Addendum”) that the service period was extended to
31 December 2022. On 30 December 2022, the Group signed a new
three-year service agreement with SJM for the provision of services in
selling, promotion, advertising, customer development and introduction,
coordination of activities and other related services to SIM for a
term of three years commencing 1 January 2023 (the “New Service
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 1st Addendum of the New Service
Agreement signed on 3 April 2023, the Group paid a deposit of HK$7
million and provided a bank guarantee of HK$82 million to STM.
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2.1

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024
GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

On 23 June 2022, the Macau government extended the term of
concession agreements of SJM and all the other concessionaires and
sub-concessionaires from 26 June 2022 to 31 December 2022. On 16
December 2022, SJM, together with other existing concessionaires
and sub-concessionaires, were formally awarded a ten-year gaming
concession for the operation of casino games of fortune in Macau under
a definitive gaming contract entered into with the Macau government.

In accordance with the Macau Law No. 16/2001 (the “Macau Gaming
Law”), as amended by Law No. 7/2022, the Macau Gaming Law allows
existing satellite casinos to continue to operate in premises not owned
by Macau casino gaming concessionaries and casino management
services provided by satellite casino operators to be compensated based
on net gaming wins of the satellite casinos during a 3-year transition
period up to 31 December 2025. The Group has maintained regular
discussions with SJM on the continuation of cooperation beyond the
transition period. The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have
confirmed the Group intends to continue operating all of the Group’s
principal businesses in Macau for the foreseeable future. The Group has
also been closely monitoring the regulatory developments with respect
to satellite casinos beyond the 3-year transition period, in particular
how the compensation for the provision of casino management services
is to be determined whereas the sharing of gaming revenue of satellite
casinos by the concessionaires with satellite casino operators will no
longer be permitted beyond the transition period. Any unfavourable
regulatory developments with respect to satellite casinos beyond the
transition period would have a material adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Group had net current liabilities of HK$2,513.0 million as at
31 December 2024 and incurred a net loss of HK$622.6 million during
the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group’s total bank and other
borrowings amounting to HK$2,405.8 million, which will be due for
repayment within the next 12 months from the end of the reporting
period or are repayable on demand, included instalments of loan
principal amounting to HK$166.4 million which have been in default
as at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements and
instalments of loan principal with an aggregate amount of HK$144.0
million which will be due by the end of 2025 according to the original
loan repayment schedule, while its cash and bank balances amounted to
HK$52.3 million as at 31 December 2024.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2024 Annual Report 115



2.1

116

BB e A& M RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

2R ()

R A BB 3 o e - AN B [ e 2 1 K
BAGE o A 7R B R BB AE ST B
oo ARLEEERERAT ([RZ S5 MAT)) nI AT
i FLARE ) % 2 0 BEOR ST RIME 2 AT AT
RAE B RAT IS K (B ALE)  HE
FOPES T H = IR Ak
9] — [H] B A m) R RSy AR SR [ H e —TH
SRATAH KA T B (R 58 i &
AR EIE 2 M 51 L) > W R IEE
ST FRIA M T > 5| B8 AN SR
TR R - B JRENY
H A5 AR AL G 88— A 1 SR 1T 1 3K
1,898,600,000% L B F B - S S i B &
& > AR SE [ T A $RAT i 502,066,400,000
5 o0 35 28 5 5% S R AT 1Y SR IR o R AE
e MEEIMEFT A =+—HIE
AERE s R RRE — H B R A SR AT R ST
BE I B R bl Hi R o3 A A 4
KOG —F ARSI A s s A
B FREAT R AT > SR R IR Y
Koo NG MR H Y > AREE
()3l A L7 S B B o AT T 8 e %
HER O HE R B i 2 AR B 4
WA Gk B M (b)) 4 2
5% A5 BRAT BE AT ] 3 B R AN AE AR N
SRAT A5 B BR > HE R 4 B AR B OA 4
166,400,000 TGRS ©

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

2.1

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the relevant loan agreements, the Group is required to
comply with the loan covenants. Should the Group fail to comply with
the loan covenant clauses, the Group’s creditor banks (the “Banks’) may
exercise their rights to serve notice to demand for immediate repayment
of all outstanding bank borrowings including interest. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, a subsidiary of the Group failed to comply
with certain loan covenants for one of the Group’s bank borrowings
(triggered by the completion of disposal of the Group’s operation in Lao
PDR) regarding the arrangement of disposal proceeds, which in turn
triggered the non-compliance of a covenant of the Group’s another bank
borrowing. As a result, bank borrowings of HK$1,898.6 million with
original maturity date of over one year from the end of the reporting
period have been reclassified to current liabilities and all of the Group’s
bank borrowings of HK$2,066.4 million become immediately repayable
if demanded by the Banks. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the management has been holding ongoing discussions with the Banks
for an amicable solution in respect of the non-compliance of loan
covenants and extension of repayment dates of the aforesaid instalments
of loan principal in default and instalments to be due in 2025. As at the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group
(a) has not obtained any waiver in respect of the non-compliance of
loan covenants nor extension of repayment dates of the instalments
of loan principal in default and instalments to be due in 2025; and (b)
has not received any demand for immediate repayment of the Group’s
remaining bank borrowings from the Banks other than the instalments
of loan principal of HK$166.4 million in default.
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31 December 2024

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Also within the Group’s total bank and other borrowings to be due
for repayment within one year from the end of the reporting period
or repayable on demand, HK$50.0 million represents a loan from
the controlling shareholder of the Company, and HK$289.4 million
represents loans from the other substantial shareholders of the
Company. Notwithstanding that the Group has yet to obtain further
written confirmation from the controlling and substantial shareholders
of the Company that they would continue to agree not to demand for
repayment of these shareholder’s loans within the next 12 months
from the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group
expects that, based on past experience, the controlling and substantial
shareholders of the Company would not demand for repayment of
these shareholders’ loans within the next 12 months from the end of
the reporting period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, management was
also aware of the prevailing unstable economic conditions, driven by
factors including but not limited to persistent geopolitical tension,
high interest rate environment and sluggish property market in China,
which may have adversely impacted the personal financial position and
liquidity of certain of the Company’s substantial shareholders, and in
turn their ability to continue to provide additional financial resources
to the Group for meeting its financial obligations. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, balance of shareholders’ loans decreased by
HK$125.6 million upon partial repayment made by the Group to the
substantial shareholders. As such, based on the forecasts prepared by the
management, management assumes that there is no further repayment
of shareholders’ loans and there is no assumption that the decreased
amount or other additional shareholder’s loan will be injected back or
into the Group within the next 12 months from the end of the reporting
period.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
notwithstanding that the Group has not received any demand for
immediate repayment of the Group’s remaining bank borrowings
from the Banks as a result of the non-compliance of loan covenants,
the Group does not currently have sufficient financial resources to
fulfil its obligation of the instalments of loan principal of HK$166.4
million which have been in default as at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

As stated and outlined above, there exist circumstances that cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2024 Annual Report 117



2.1

118

BB e A& M RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

2R ()

EHRRR > AREER R LNE S
5 JFL R 4 45 A8 A0 8 i M A AR A D65 L
A7 ) S RO SRR R
128 H B E TR > IR AL
B LT O U A T A A AR B
S EARE

()  ASHE B AR = 5K % 45 SRAT I 5 4
SCRF > DRSS AF SRAT DN A B
BB Bt B 7 I AR A
ST AS SR SR AT Y > A7 R
SR A S [ S BV O OR AR £

2, .
BN >

(b) AR B DA A = 5K % 4 R AT A 5 A
SCRF > A M A A S o] B AL A 4R A 4
R AR AR 0 S B 4 B IR —
T TARE R

(c)  AAEE ] TE A AT R AR 2 vl i B R
PERTIE SIEST B E I N -3
1354 35339,400,000% JC B LR
F e

(d) FREREFSEH RN > ALE O K
HRCSI i A DR R 2 e 2 R 5 i - £
5 ELAT AT i & ) LA D JF 6 7
A A BLE I o

HHAG > 487% 55 Ll 5T K A
AR > ASE B A I A
A E S AR R e sle 20 1248 H 18 A
TR o L > EHER - R S
MRS T UE =
H IE4E B 10 45 5 B R ) JB i i -

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The Directors consider whether the Group will have adequate funds
available to enable it to continue its operations as a going concern and
have sufficient working capital to satisfy its present requirements for at
least 12 months from the end of the reporting period, will depend upon
the Group’s ability to generate sufficient financing and operating cash
flows through the following:

(a) the Group is actively seeking continual support from the Banks
for not taking any actions against the Group to exercise their
right to demand immediate repayment of the Group’s outstanding
borrowings as a result of the non-compliance of loan covenants
and the Group’s default in instalments of loan principal due;

(b) the Group is actively seeking continual support from the Banks
for the restructuring of the Group’s outstanding instalments of
loan principal in default and instalments of loan to be due in 2025
in the Group’s favour;

(c) the Group is actively seeking continual support from the
controlling shareholder and substantial shareholders of the
Company by not requesting for repayment of shareholders’ loans
of HK$339.4 million in aggregate; and

(d) the Group has undertaken and will continue to undertake various
mitigating measures to manage the current business environment,
including a cost control program to minimise the cash outflow of
non-essential items.

The Directors believe that, taking into account the above plans and
measures being successfully achieved, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to satisfy its present requirements for at least the next
12 months from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
on a going concern basis.
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2.2

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as described above.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the following:

(a) the continual support from the Banks for not taking any actions
against the Group to exercise their right to demand immediate
repayment of the Group’s outstanding borrowings as a result of
the non-compliance of loan covenants and the Group’s default in
instalments of loan principal due;

(b) the continual support from the Banks for the restructuring of the
Group’s outstanding instalments of loan principal in default and
instalments of loan to be due in 2025 in the Group’s favour; and

(c) the continual support from the Company’s controlling shareholder
and substantial shareholders for not requesting for repayment of
shareholders’ loans of HK$339.4 million in aggregate.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and non-current
liabilities to current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Report Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

T A
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
G 5B 2 I ) ([~ FAFERT )
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
B2t 0 B A ([ F = A ERTA))
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
1L il 2

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that
the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current
remained unchanged upon initial application of the amendments.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c)  Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FININCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised HKFRSs,
if applicable, when they become effective.

Vibis EJEZINE /T o

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’®
FELIEZFEEAT M 2N A« iR

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures’

Al TR A R il AT

Amendments to the Classitication and Measurement of Financial
Instruments’

RN F1 SR BE AL 15 7B T HY 3 #9

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity’
TG H BRI E 4 7] 2 & B R 3.2 HIH B ) B 7T

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

e Z A s

Lack of Exchangeability’

TR B S HE NS 198 - Ak A i E RSB 798 A ik DA T i e
HISEO9E ~ F il A sl e FI) 26 1095 M B il & s I SR 758 2 15 7T2

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7>

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January

2027
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.4 1ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FININCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income
and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It also
requires disclosures about management-defined performance measures
in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is
renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of
the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that
prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the
Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS
19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application
of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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2.4 1ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system before the
settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify
how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other similar contingent
features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an
adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of equity)
at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the “own-
use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for
in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to understand the effects these
contracts have on an entity’s financial performance and future cash
flows. The amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be
applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The amendments
relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to
new hedging relationships designated on or after the date of initial
application. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale of contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not
being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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He 1) (48) FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
Bl BT IR A R g g R 2 A 2 Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
AE—F5 1 1 5 B v s R R R set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
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. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs 1G1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard and/
or with the concepts and terminology used in other standards.
In addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does
it create additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and
Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 1ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

. HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of
HKEFRS 10 is just one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties acting as de facto
agents of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the
requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the
term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s share of results and net assets of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statement of an associate used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the net investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group transacts with an associate, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

A performance obligation represents a promise in a contract with a
customer to transfer to the customer either (a) a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or (b) a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the assets is created or enhanced; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct goods or services.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation
of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation
including an obligation to provide goods or services to customers on
complementary basis or related to the customer relationship programs,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to
be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn licensing income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising from derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is
its carrying amount at the date of change in use. If a property occupied
by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property and equipment” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the
date of change in use.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment (other than construction in progress) are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of each item of
property and equipment (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over (i) in the case of gaming machinery and equipment,
the shorter of their estimated useful lives and ten years, based on the
ten-year gaming concession granted to SJM commencing 1 January
2023; and (ii) in the case of other property and equipment, their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 2%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5% — 50%

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 10% — 33%

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles 10% — 25%

Vessels 10%

Machinery and equipment (except for 5% — 15%
“gaming machinery and equipment”)

Gaming machinery and equipment 10% —20%

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents integrated resort under development
or construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HOR 6 wHBOR (4)
LiiN=1

A A B 5 [R] A A B A 5 [ O 75 4 B
BEE o i F 2 B E AR T 7E
— B IR [H] oA 42 o ik I E O T Y R
A AZA R AR E S HE -

LA ) k2 T ) B 2 AR T S BB R R
AXBaEE AR > AEER
0% 7 o B R R RIS 1698 TH T 2
3 o PSR A R AT - B RT Sl i 2
H (781 22 15 Ji A e S A - B
AT B B TR) 2 MR BRI AR % A
B > AR T E R o

AL P25 AR RN

SR B RIT A LR (IS AR B BR A1) SR B
RS AP Tk o A AR
B DA R BRI 5 T R R E
o AT B S O REA -

B 5 AR B AL A 0 M AL LSRR 23
14 5[] BH i B =008 B0 A IR > AR 4R
PR R AL T 325 S I AR B AL A 2>
o3 BH > T L AL RS 20 B AR B A I A
B AL A B — T B — AL AL 2
N

HHH B

B A A B O FUEE E A 1248 H 2
TA) L ST 0 0 5 i AR 458 R 1) L ST AR
SRR A SR B I T A B R R
G o S5 IIAE B B0 AL IR I 4 LA R T A
RELI P e 0 B S

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing
the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of machinery and equipment that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
The cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Leasehold land 25 to 75 years
Buildings 2 to 5 years

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by (a)
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect
the partial or full termination of the lease for lease modifications that
decrease the scope of the lease. The Group recognises any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss;
or (b) making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset for all other lease modifications. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Licensing
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and
is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as licensing income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part
of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HOR 6 wHBOR (4)
A ()

DAGI R 122 JBE s A AN IR MO LA
B 5 H I HERBGIE  LUOMNEZ A 72
Ert I BWIHA LISt RA AR H
¥ RE A BT o O A (e Rt R
W IE H AR Ul S R BGEZIE A A
(B 5 ) 7 2R 1O i 4 ok PR E R O K —
B0 B o fE i s B0k 1R 7 FEAt 2 T U
4t 1 4 il B8 2 JH 2 B S0 22 R AR 20
P A 2 ThT i it AR i T

A it 5 A 1k e B TR A QAR A R 9 T
BRI SO RO B G 4
AR B A~ T SO TR Y B A
WA oy H e A4 400 e ke R TR A A
PR JE B R A BOR B RO
o SO OO Z SET AT R BIAAE
Vo a2 38 A BSOSO A — ST A AUE
LT H o

BUSHEWIHA U R E RS A IEA
T P P B 554 A EL A A A S0 TR R R 4R
iR

BUAm RAR S B IRR T S o AL EE
T P ) S R T A R SR B
il BEE 42 #0070y A% 4 [ A9 2 90 1 T (R ot
JE) o WA K B S IE 22 30 A0 ~F- 447 e 2 46
B e U A BEE SR H B K W D IR Ui
P2 5y H B E SEAT A T AR Y
ME S 253 (A7) S e s oAt A T i £ -
A B FGHA ET R AT L o

ARG B ERT S - #5HHE A 7
9 B 4 L Y o B U AU Y B
T UETT o Mg 2> 7 A B A 4
AW AR 1 B O R R B S 5 HI Y
BUAT W AR A 1O B S R o o

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to
the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects
the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect any
adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For
non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not
change the amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if
applicable.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same tax authority.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax
treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the
expected value.

Inventories

Inventories which consist of food and beverage, retail merchandise
and operating supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all costs necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Licences

Purchased licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Further details of the amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets are
included in note 20 of the financial statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

The recoverable amounts of property and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amounts individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGU. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue from contracts with customers” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through protfit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“other income, gain and losses, net”.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
and credit enhancement by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, and
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(1)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1)  has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or of a parent of the Group;

or
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

®

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for lease
contracts in which it is a lessee with a renewal option, specifically, the
leases relating to leasehold land in Macau. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable. Leases are considered to be no longer
enforceable when the Group as the lessee and the relevant lessors both
have the right to terminate the lease without permission from the other
party with no more than an insignificant contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
renewal options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-
assessment is performed upon the occurrence of either a significant
event or a significant change in circumstances that is within the control
of lessee and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances including economic incentives/penalties for
exercising or not exercising the options. Factors considered include:

. contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods
compared with market rates (e.g. whether the amount of payments
in the optional periods is below the market rates);

. the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by Group; and

. costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs,
costs of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the
Group’s needs).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for the lease contracts which the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option were HK$54,906,000
(2023: HK$60,974,000) and HK$80,051,000 (2023: HK$78,646,000)
respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Recoverability of refundable deposit for a potential long-term
investment project

The management of the Group takes into consideration the likelihood of
utilisation of such deposit based on the potential long-term investment
project status. Meanwhile, the management of the Group considered
that the deposit shall be used to settle the consideration in full for the
proposed acquisition of certain land use rights in connection with a
proposed development project in Cambodia, and there is uncertainty
on the timing on when such transaction can be finalised and the
recoverability of the deposit thereon if such transaction is not going
to proceed further. Where the expectation on the recoverability of
the deposit is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of the deposit and loss allowance in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed. Details of the
refundable deposit are disclosed in note 23.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. When calculating the recoverable amounts, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows based on projected income
and expenses of the business, working capital needs, growth rates,
discount rates and physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation rates.

Changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of
the assets are based could significantly affect the Group’s assessment
resulting in an impairment loss being recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the management performed
an impairment assessment on the Group’s CGUs and an impairment
loss of HK$376,239,000 was recognised on these non-financial assets
(2023: no impairment loss was recognised on these non-financial assets).
Details of the impairment losses recognised are disclosed in notes 17,
18,19, 23 and 42.
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W i
FREACE BRI T T

5. REVENUE

An analysis of revenue from continuing operations is as follows:

&R TAERTEAE
2024 2023
T#x TH#EIC
HK$’000 HK$’000
(R 5)
(Restated)
2% TR RH B 2 S i 4R Revenue from gaming related operations:
i = B IR ] AR Recognised over time:
WA 3R B AR IRBS o e S 1L From provision of gaming related facilities
TR AR B it S IR AR B — AR and gaming related general management
PR - services under the New Service Agreement
in respect of:
— gL — Mass market tables 393,139 335,663
2 B FE R M B B R W A Revenue from non-gaming related operations:
Wit L B I [H] T LATERR - Recognised over time:
WIE & F A Income from hotel rooms 197,467 218,570
M IR Income from building management services 26,012 20,070
223,479 238,640
ARG T LATERR Recognised at a point in time:
E Food and beverage 103,496 107,385
TR B Sales of merchandise 72 164
Fops Others 7,235 18,938
110,803 126,487
MAEHET S For operating leases:
PeEEW) AR RTRCE R Licensing income from investment properties 44,044 38,866
378,326 403,993
771,465 739,656

TRMESR AT PRA ] 202443
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

An analysis of revenue from continuing operations is as follows:
(Continued)

2024 2023
Tt THEIC
HK$°000 HK$’000
(R&H5)
(Restated)

BF AT 2 Wi O g fEsR ngE ) Revenue from contracts with customers,

timing of revenue recognition:
— BB H] — over time 616,618 574,303
— AR — at a point in time 110,803 126,487
727,421 700,790
REZEHENI Revenue from operating leases:

— ERFHER — fixed lease payments 41,553 36,849
— AT EAR — variable lease payments 2,491 2,017
44,044 38,866
771,465 739,656

HRARZ AR
HR I 5

2 HR A7 AR B it S RS A B — i
PR 2 i g bl 25 50 U A 3 5 (R B
A A I A R s IR R 2 1 T IR Wi
B FE AR 52 [ B 40 r 4 4t 2 Il %) (9 1FF
BENERR - REBMBAZRG EE AR
T 37 M5 T ok o) YL Y] — 4% 1R 755 9 i 4
4t 0% 4 855 BRI TS - AN 4 B A RE A A0
Il 5 R AR 9 1 ) R 4 85 2 U R TR
R PR IR S A o

A ) T R A B TR 1 TR B
PR R 4 0 B RS T E N > R A
SRR TR AT W R R IS E
A S OE S NEN TR E L s
5 R ) A S J S 412 AR 2 9 T MR

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
Gaming related operations

Revenue from the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming
related general management services are recognised over time when
performance obligations are satisfied while the gaming operator
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group renders its services. The Group’s
performance obligation is primarily the provision of casino management
services to a gaming operator in Macau under the New Service
Agreement. The Group has the right to receive its service income, based
on net gaming wins of the casinos of each month, from the gaming
operator when the service is rendered.

The Directors of the Company considered that the Group acts as a
principal for casino management services provided to gaming operator
as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the contractual
obligations to provide the specified service to customers and controls
the specified service to be provided by the Group before the specific
service is transferred to the customer.
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W sk (%)
%P A Z 8 #13#H (5)
T R 5

IG5~ B TS LA R
L5y AN T 48 % 7 0L % 5 7 ot B R S
W Z 1R o %A S T 2 B Gy ARG TR 1)
5T R I e e e A R o R
BCPE AT R ~ A T il B A IR S ey
RO AR o

A¢ T A BRI B 2 WO B A A T 1)
7S B TR B 4 S AL 4R (R T A
LIRS 114 B B 1A B R 2 o2 BB K SR o
A A A A £ A3 I B e AR 1 o 4
MR LIRS A AR P SRS A -

g i)

AN FBATE S (TUTER]) TR 2
EEEE PR ((REEEIORE D) - #
A7 26 o7 3 DA AR B 11 Yy oAl At DA SR A
B RS BLECUR

SR 3t 1R R B it % 1R A B — R
AR 07 T > AT S S T T 8
S e 4 5 WSO B R A B i B o
AT T R S B ORI % O 1
7 T A P A WO AR R R A
Bt AT S AR A o0 A R A Y )
P 8 [ AH 77 ) il P 8 15 B M SR A0 ¥
VLSS ERL A s

3 VR R B AT S A B DL T
U B RPAN R BB A TR — B e TR
ASE B AL AR YE S SR B C B
TE 275 AR E i B s AL AR A S T o
3 R n] SRR LR B AR

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers (Continued)
Non-gaming related operations

The transaction price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, retail
transactions and other services is the net amount collected from the
customer for such goods and services. The transaction price for such
transactions is recorded as revenue when the goods or services are
transferred or rendered to the customers during their stay at the hotel or
when the delivery is made for the food and beverage, retail goods and
other services.

Income from building management services is recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time, when the Group provides
building management services to tenants of the Group’s properties in
Macau. The Group has the right to receive its service income, based
on agreed monthly building management service fee, from the tenants
when the service is rendered.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”)
have been identified as the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?”). The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reports
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

For the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming related
general management services, the Executive Directors regularly analyse
gaming related revenue in terms of service income from mass market
tables. The Executive Directors review separately the entire revenues
and operating results attributable to gaming related services and non-
gaming operations. As such, the Executive Directors have identified the
operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating segments
as gaming and non-gaming operations.

The segment information is consistent with the internal information
that is regularly reviewed by the Executive Directors for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance. This is also
the basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management has
determined to organise the Group with reference to the differences
in products and services. The principal activities of the operating and
reportable segments are as follows:
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Gaming — Gaming related services for mass market tables under the
New Service Agreement entered into between Hong Hock Development
Company Ltd. (“Hong Hock”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the gaming operator, SIM, whereby the revenue was
derived based on net gaming wins.

Non-gaming — operations at MFW including hotel and other operations
such as licensing income from the shops, provision of building
management service, food and beverage and others. For segment
reporting under HKFRS 8, financial information of these operations
with similar economic characteristics has been aggregated into a single
operating segment named “non-gaming”.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segments of continuing operations:

Year ended 31 December 2024

L2 ERLY Vi Ky i) oy

Gaming  Non-gaming Segment total ~ Elimination Consolidated

Tt T# Tt T# Tt

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

SRR R External revenue 393,139 378,326 771,465 = 771,465

vanilillien Inter-segment revenue - 34,830 34,830 (34,830) -

it Segment revenue 393,139 413,156 806,295 (34,830) 771,465

SR R Segment profit/(loss) 51,572 (539,535)* (487,963) = (487,963)

AR BT Bk Unallocated depreciation and amortisation (54,191)

KA FHAA K AFEH L > Unallocated other income and corporate

T expenses, net (9,156)

Tl A Finance costs (189,792)

FHE RS BB 1R Loss before tax from continuing operations (741,102)
* TR 43 30 s A A 458 O A 4% 463 (s 1 * The gaming segment profit included impairment losses on deposits paid

15,098,000 G © of HK$15,098,000.

# FEHR oy B s B 45 A4 46 B (B s 18
12,360,0003 7T ~ 3¢ K3 #5274,473,000
0 Xl REE 74,308,000 T >
o — B RRIm A SCI RE4245 5% -

The non-gaming segment loss included impairment losses on deposits
paid of HK$12,360,000, property and equipment of HK$274,473,000,
and right-of-use assets of HK$74,308,000, further details of which are
disclosed in note 42 below.
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43 BB B (4)

Vg LV &Y E F )

DATR o A 552 T 42 £ 208 A8 /8 6705 1) 48 I
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#E_E = T = HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segments of continuing operations: (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

RE R et s by
Gaming ~ Non-gaming  Segment total Elimination ~ Consolidated
T T Tt T Tt
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
(K3 (#HF) (KT (K3 (HHEF)

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

S External revenue 335,663 403,993 739,656 - 739,656
o Jitilve Inter-segment revenue - 32,986 32,986 (32,986) -
il gs Segment revenue 335,663 436,979 772,642 (32,986) 739,656
S AL R Segment profit/(loss) 32,974 (234,976) (202,002) - (202,002)
RO R Unallocated depreciation and amortisation (54,322)
KA FHAA B AFEHZ > Unallocated other income and corporate

T expenses, net (12,495)
Tl AR Finance costs (202,159)
FHE B BB 1R Loss before tax from continuing operations (470,978)

Gy Hl IS A ) 3% BT B e B R o

B T ISR B R S R 3 P e A £ 1
B RTEORME o 20 0 S A 25 20 WP 36
o H P A LA 2 T R S T e N
SR % FL R 22 W] (TR P i A\ 5 Sr 4L 14 1)
A H Y 2 o (e 9 R BT 2 A o T
E NS/ E V& DK IR LRSIy
FEHES ~ R B A A R AR SEBE ST
TR RRVE IR o ROTBLARER S
FEA A B A B0 A 3 S P < R4 T
VA 26 AR A9 AT BB 52 LTS 20 i
UGS R B AT E F 2 WA a2y
i .

i A 2 [ S 0 5 30 2 {3 05 T v 2 9

Jr B LA AT T AT R
HUOHE 9 23 A7 Bl 3 AT -

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

Inter-segment revenue is charged at amounts agreed by both parties.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment results
represent the results of each segment without allocation of depreciation
of certain investment properties and property and equipment
arising from the fair value adjustments on acquisition of MFW
and its subsidiaries (the “MFW Group”) and amortisation of other
intangible assets, unallocated other income and corporate expenses,
net, and finance costs. Unallocated corporate expenses include
Directors’ remuneration paid or payable by the Company and certain
administrative expenses for corporate use. This is the measure reported
to the Executive Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the
Executive Directors for review.
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g1 H B R (%0 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
HoAi 48 & B Other segment information
BEZFETES A=A HILEE Year ended 31 December 2024
W% El3LY A4 Hg B
Gaming Non-gaming Unallocated Consolidated
Tt T o Tt T#u
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
LIE V& ki Depreciation of property and equipment 13,813 228,966 17,296 260,075
Eitd<v7/ELily Depreciation of investment properties - 16,401 1,593 17,994
o FRE G RE TS Depreciation of right-of-use assets - 9,459 35,302 44,761
B 7 S T A Reversal of allowance for inventories - (784) - (784)
LB W R A O e 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment 105 10,574 2,497 13,176
LE G it Impairment loss on property and equipment - 274,473 - 274,473
18 FTRE S 7 W (s 4 Impairment loss on right-of-use assets - 74,308 - 74,308
Fe g 1R Impairment loss on deposit 15,098 12,360 - 27,458
#EF A H=A—HILEE Year ended 31 December 2023
L2 EaL Y ESL A
Gaming  Non-gaming Unallocated  Consolidated
T T Tt THs T TH#T
HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(&) (K& 51) (e & 51)) (K& S1))

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

VE NS RN Depreciation of property and equipment 23,125 251,525 17,428 292,078
BB Depreciation of investment properties - 16,401 1,593 17,994
e P Depreciation of right-of-use assets - 9,739 35,301 45,040
e dmpea=Erin Reversal of allowance for inventories - (390) (390)
B S R A e 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment 10,596 1,970 (532) 12,034
TR E MR R T 2 4 A The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each
VEW PSR o N I 254 & s M ATk B segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment liability is presented
B0 > DA Ay T2 2548 4 T 55 3 31 as the CODM does not regularly review such information for the
LA BE & TR S B EEAL B i E I purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,
ey I L R a3 only segment revenue and segment results are presented.

45 o
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6. JrEREFL () 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
P B Geographical information
AR B 8 7 S 67 7 R P B At b [ (2 The Group’s operations are located on Macau and others (including
FEORIHE K A F) o Cambodia and Cape Verde).
AL QINEF 2 0o &R Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
KRR o A B A S B IR ) & presented based on the locations of the operations. Information about
JAE R (I W 2 ) Rk e 4 R 7 ) the Group’s non-current assets (excluding loan to an associate and
iz M B R o financial assets) is presented based on the geographical locations of the
assets.
2 H AR S s Ik By & A
BET A= HILAE +=H=+—H
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
Year ended 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
T#x THET T#x THT
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(K5 (R&EF)
(Restated) (Restated)
T Macau 771,465 739,656 5,298,780 5,964,613
EIB—#1E#E  Lao PDR — Discontinued
E operation - - - 229,005
HoAty Others - - - 18,474
711,465 739,656 5,298,780 6,212,092
FEEFNER Information about major customer
R E_—F E‘I‘:H =+—HIE4 Revenue of HK$393,139,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
B AR AR (— A B R (2023: HK$335,663,000) was derived from SIM, a customer in the
) s 45393, 139 000 JT (—F = gaming segment, amounting to approximately 51.0% (2023 (restated):
4F 1 335,663,000 70) (LA 4L 4R Llﬁtﬁn 45.4%) of the total revenue of the Group.
#151.0% (—F =4 (REES) ¢ 45.4%)

162 TP BT TRAT 202444
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HAA ~ Wedk R4 - 7.  OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET
P A8 2ET I oMl A~ i 25 K An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net from continuing
B FES TR operations is as follows:
(a) HAtA (a) Other income
R TRTZAR
2024 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(KE&E 1))
(Restated)
SRATAE A EIA Interest income from bank deposits 193 135
EL SR B 2L s Insurance claims received 134 90
Fopts Others 7,250 10,713
7,577 10,938
(b) HAbMess RIEHE - S (b)  Other gains and losses, net
TR TP e
2024 2023
T#x T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(K& & 51))
(Restated)
B Se i ts (5 1R) > 1RAH Exchange gains/(losses), net 269 (12)
Hh AR W 3 R Y s 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment (13,176) (12,034)
(12,907) (12,046)
FoAA ~ e Bl 4R TR AR AR Total other income, gains and losses, net (5,330) (1,108)
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8. Sl EZ WALE R 8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS
I 28 A8 7 SE TS 1) 4 Rl I 2 WEL IS 1R 4 An analysis of impairment losses on financial assets from continuing
Branr : operations is as follows:
2024 2023
T#x T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(K¢ 51))
(Restated)
DU IE H AR 2 W E s 1R A Impairment losses, net, recognised on:
B 5 RENGH R W (E R Loss allowance for impairment/(reversal of
(Y1 e PR3 () impairment losses) of trade receivables 22 (136)
L VAL K T (M 15438 ) Reversal of impairment losses of other receivables - 2)
22 (138)

A7 R R (B AT < RO B 838

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 38.

9. hE A 9. FINANCE COSTS
PR RS B R G AT IR

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:

TR PR TR

2024 2023

Tt T

HK$°000 HK$’000

(B F)

(Restated)

SRAT A OB Interest on bank borrowings 142,314 140,948

HoAtb A5 A E Interest on other borrowings 39,224 51,196

FHE A AL Interest on lease liabilities 4,860 4,791
SRAT(H AR R & A B HiAth Amortisation of finance costs on bank

Rl A A A borrowings and other finance costs 3,394 5,224

189,792 202,159

TRMESR AT PRA ] 202443
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10. #FHFRRFEGTBAEME 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS
HHERFEETRANBME Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
CATSEA A A Rl R FEATHA B The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and chief executive of
HEEnT the Company were as follows:
BT FUES BT
Executive Directors Non-executive Directors Independent non-executive Directors
ESit ] Bk o FHE & ke g EALKk 5% gt
Li Chan Ho Li Wong Lau Mak
Chu Mei Yi, Chiulin, Chun Che Man, Ngai Kee, Wang Ka Wing,
Kwan Melinda Laurinda Tak Eddy Ricky Hongxin Patrick Total
SR BRI Tkt RRTH RRLTH Tt Tt T Tk
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

BREZZONESA For the year ended

SRR 31 December 2024
[k Fees - - 291 262 262 281 264 264 1,624
Fe LA Salaries and allowances 2,383 1472 = = = = = = 3,855
Essibil b e Performance related incentive payments 160 - - - - - - - 160
R RI Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 1 1 - - - - - - 2
il 4 Total emoluments 254 1473 291 262 262 281 264 264 5,641

BRE-Z-=8100 For the year ended

St HkAERE 31 December 2023
%3 Fees - - 390 360 360 330 330 330 2,100
B L Salaries and allowances 2260 1,714 - - - - - - 3974
FIHB B 5k Performance related incentive payments 240 180 - - - - - - 420
RIRHE R RIS Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 1 1 - - - - - - 2
A& Total emoluments 2501 1,895 390 360 360 330 330 330 6496
Tia] 75 ) o S 9 1) 3R SRR R 5 AT 3k The performance related incentive payments to the Directors of the
V12 AR RS o WHES Company are determined by reference to the Group’s performance and
HEAE - approved by the Board of Directors.
b ST R AT EE N 2 A B The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
e S5 AR A A ) W) R A AR T Y SR 4R services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Ptz RH - Company and the Group.
b SCRT Y IF AT HE S RO ST O AT IR The emoluments of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
114 7 I 5 3 S A R A D G 4 executive Directors shown above were for their services as Directors of
P IRFS the Company.
T T AR 4E BE - AR A [ ’fﬂiﬂf la] A\ F) & During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
%\ig A 387 ?)ﬂ » LIRSy m)\z"(ﬂ% El ﬁ Directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
T LA B 5 ) B Y - A 2 A Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors of

B o MEEEAR 24 ) 5 g % 5 8 47 2 i 5
(EREEA

the Company has waived any emoluments in both years.
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10. FEHFRRFETHRABNE () 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

HRREPHEAERESRNR Y - B Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the Directors
HEH have material interests
ik Ly SURSEHR R P YR T PUE
Agreement Connected party Relationship with the Group Nature of transactions and major terms Transaction amount
CEONE SRR
2024 2023
Ti#n TiEx
HK$°000 HK$'000
AR s ok FlACHRIE (RF9) AR RREEEZBEA  RRRAAREZREAAR () AEERWRE - 2HRCES - 52
(TR i) i fe A 192 8 Adrian Pinto-Marques /64 2 0 HEmiko RS
Mito Pinto-Marques % 1 J Adriano Dillon Guerrero (i) Procurement of travelling, ticketing and
Pinto-Marques /& transportation services to the Group”
Amigo Travel Service Agreement Amigo Travel (Macau) Limited An associate of Mr David Chow as the shareholders of
(“Amigo Travel”)* Amigo Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques and (i) 44 B[S 2107 5 7 T e - 53
Mr Adriano Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques, the parents (i) Provision of hotel rooms from
of Mr Adrian Pinto-Marques, the son-in-law of Mr the Group®
David Chow
DB B R AR B EARAT () bR B = — VR A N AR S R A ) () FEbR RO RS 780 780
Macau Legend Investment Holdings Limited!i £ (i) Provision of management service to
B nw o Lai Teng*
Lai leng Investment Company Limited  Lai leng Investment Company Limited ~ Lai leng was acquired by Macau Legend Investment (ii) 77 41 958
Management Service Agreement (“Lai Teng") Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, (ii) Consultancy fee

as an associate on 16 April 2019.

MR S A RS REHEERARA (NRE) BB TR BHEELH0RD) REBRG o) FERENRER (RS 1,002 -
T (R R LB A 14,0000 0% (ZF =4 ¢ )

(i) Service fees for linen rental (included
continuing connected transactions of

HKS$714,000* (2023:Nil))*
Linen Rental and Laundry Service Kit Lai Business Management Limited ~ Kit Lai is owned by Mr Ho Cho Si (the cousin of Ms (ii) SRAEEACRAS (@A FF R 5 8,738 -
Agreement (“Kit Lai”) Melinda Chan) and Ms Tang Lai Ngo (the aunt of Ms 6,216,000f 0% (C R =4 )
Melinda Chan). (ii) Provision of laundry services (included

continuing connected transactions of
HK$6,216,000% (2023:Nil))*

* A SR TR 14A T T 2 * These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions for the
FREBE AT G o IR AR EMERR I T 3% purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of certain of these
SRR A Sy I EE G o ZHBESE BT continuing connected transactions recognised in current year, which are
FIES 14 A TRy OB E > 37 4K ER R subject to the reporting requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing
EHGWEBEL S | —H T - Rules, have been disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions” in

the Directors’ Report.

# T A S 1 4 A3 Py A BRI A5 ) &2 % Y # The relevant services were provided to the Group up to 31 December
FETZHA=+—H [HEiE2EBRETLL 2024 at prices determined on the prevailing market price for comparable
JEUR IG5 ) BRAT T 95 (RS 2 2 1 D U types of services in the same industry.

P E
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A B 7 AR T Y T 4% B I L 4
—HANFEE(CF S WAE
5) o AR B A B R 10885 > DL %Y
A IFA L A EEREBATHAR Z R

11.

“ECEEF A
31 December 2024
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year included
one Director (2023: two Directors) of the Company whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 10 and four (2023: three) employees who are
neither a Director nor chief executive of the Company. Details of the

B(CE =4 =4) c HREBTITUZA emoluments of the remaining four (2023: three) individuals are as
T(CF A SR FHM BT follows:
2024 2023
T#x T
HK$’000 HK$’000
W~ R K AR R Salaries, allowances and benefits 7,749 6,869
RBURABSEEI A X Performance related incentive payments - 364
7,749 7,233
A FAEE M E T Emoluments of the employees were within the following bands:
TR TPYLE —E =
2024 2023
AN# N4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,000,001 5 7T % 1,500,000 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1
1,500,001 5 7T % 2,000,000 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 -
2,000,001 57T %£2,500,000%5 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 -
2,500,001 57T % 3,000,000 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 1

R T I JEE A A 4 AR 1) T 4% 0
B L (B35 2 3 KA B S AT o
o DA 5y i A 4 1 A o B A 4 T
R SEHY - SF 2 B A -

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals (including Directors and employees) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

12, BBt 12. LOSS BEFORE TAX
A A B R A A SE TS R BRI e 4R T IR The Group’s loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived at
Bk, (GEA) DL IE B &5 after charging/(crediting):
TE YA e
2024 2023
Wt T TH#IT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
()
(Restated)
BTHA Staff costs
WM (FEE10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 5,641 6,496
Hith B TRcA& Other staff costs
— B S H b AE — salaries and other benefits 200,754 216,506
— RRAE AR K — contributions to retirement benefits schemes 3,481 2,900
BT AR Total staff costs 209,876 225,902
7 BTt 2 ) (ELRGTESH & R BIA  Reversal of allowance for inventories

A) (included in cost of sales and services) (784) (390)
AZ BT 5 Auditor’s remuneration 4,340 4,280
TERRAE B BLAS 5y PR S (S TE B I Cost of inventories recognised as an expense

IR B A 1) (included in cost of sales and services) 48,376 67,947
BOEY AT Depreciation of investment properties 17 17,994 17,994
VEN &3 TN Depreciation of property and equipment 260,075 292,077
o PR S B (L 7E B 5 B TR Depreciation of right-of-use assets (included in cost

AR M44,656,0004 7T (— %~ =4F of sales and services of HK$44,656,000 (2023

44,934,0008 7T) K ~ TTEC HAlL HK$44,934,000) and operating, administrative and

PH 3 141105,000% 70 (Z%F —=4F ¢ other expenses HK$105,000 (2023: HK$106,000)

106,000 7T) ) 44,761 45,040
A3 B E R AR R AR Gross licensing income from investment properties (44,044) (38,866)
B AR BN A Less: Direct operating expenses that generate licensing

NGNS 15 income from investment properties 17,994 17,994
Eid=C/E kS s g DN Net licensing income from investment properties (26,050) (20,872)
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ZERZNEF A =1+—H
31 December 2024

13. Fifasi 13. INCOME TAX
Jee 1 S
2024 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WP PS4 STl Macau complementary tax
— A — current year - (770)
— R A R R AR A — over provision in prior year 770 415,537
770 414,767
SR ZER AL Cambodia complementary tax
— AR — current year 13) (177)
IR S TR A (5300 Deferred tax credit (note 30) 42,683 6,506
TR B AR N B I S R AR Total tax credit for the year from continuing
operations 43,440 421,096
el B ZET I, AN BUERSZ 445 Total tax charge for the period/year from a
discontinued operation (15,096) (17,165)
st Total 28,344 403,931

VL T A5 4 700 T 4% 4E T B9 5 IRE R
Wi IR B 120 (T8 = =4F  12%) &5
T o Fh A A R A B AR I A A S A
FLIE B 18 - R AR A A B A S R
T MG B LB (T =4F - ) o

Macau complementary tax is calculated at the rate of 12% (2023: 12%)
on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements
as the relevant group entities incurred tax losses in Hong Kong during
the year (2023: Nil).
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“ERCEFZA=+—H
31 December 2024

P B (40)

MR W P B BRI i B E SR+ — A
T H S SO BB R R
— AR —H U H g R A R
BE T R -NET A
=t HIEFEME A EE - A8
IR 5 W e A 1 T2 A I8 Wi 25 380 T 2 A
AR BT IS4 AR o Bb Y R % SR I £
ToU B RS A R e ([# %)

W AR A R a5 IR 25 16,2001 9515
B 28 I S 2 R M e I AT B 0 > AR BE
TEREPE A = HE30,72004
MR > S —— 4 —H T =HW
%5378, 201 1A /R X —FE—/NF LA
+ILA 55329, 201 695 HE R HEFZ ER 4 -
WM M RR - F—NE+—H
o HE MR R A o ER RR
CEREH -E—LF— H—Hii_
T oFAE = H =4 — H IR -
TAEZH =+ = HNE89,20208E LR
e RS EREY T &
FWH—HEE -F - FNH N
H > HBEMBMERE R & —4FNH
I H B EERR K o AR M B U R
TR T A A BB AR A
W H —FE - FNA -+ EHE
FoHEF A=A IR E RS
B o TR Ay AN 45 B BV R 4 B T oL B IR
BihmnissT > TR s — % ——
EHTA=ZF 0 Bk E

ANAStHLEHREE F D 4EF A
#+ H 1k 3 8 R 7 G R 47 A I il
B - AR T =F—H—H
%%MﬁW%%mFEMﬁ il e
ME > RMHERZSF 455 MR R B -

B R Y T A5 M R R IR R
PRI

_?_

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

13.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Dispatch of the Financial Services Bureau of Macau
dated 17 November 2006 and a confirmation letter issued by the
Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 14 January 2013, gaming
related revenue generated from the Old Service Agreement was not
subject to Macau Complementary Tax for any of the years ended 31
December 2012 to 2016 since it was derived from SJM gaming revenue
(the “Exemption”), for which the gaming revenue was exempted
pursuant to the terms of No. 2 of article 28 of the Law 16/2001 and
the Exemption granted by Dispatch No. 30/2004 of 23 February
2004, Dispatch No. 378/2011 of 23 November 2011 and Dispatch No.
329/2016 of 19 September 2016. Pursuant to the confirmation letter
issued by the Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 21 November
2016, the Exemption has been extended for the period from 1 January
2017 to 31 March 2020. Dispatch No.89/2020 of 23 March 2020 further
extended the exemption period from 1 April 2020 to 26 June 2022
with a confirmation letter issued by the Financial Services Bureau of
Macau dated 10 June 2021. Pursuant to the confirmation letter issued
by the Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 5 January 2023, no
Exemption has been extended for the period from 27 June 2022 to 31
December 2022 as the Group entered into an amendment to the Old
Service Agreement with SJM that the service period was extended to
31 December 2022 for which no gaming revenue was received from
SIM during the period from 27 June 2022 to 31 December 2022. For
the gaming related revenue generated from the New Service Agreement
commenced on 1 January 2023, as at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the confirmation letter regarding its
treatment on Macau complementary tax calculation is still pending.
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P B (40)

RIFR MBS 88 0 A & ——F
NHATHRHESE . BBEAESSE
?—?ﬁmﬂ Hﬁ%—?—- 55'5«'—_
A=+—HIE# M Z(7595,000# M0
(M2 577,000%00) » BE & ——14F
§H793 0007 ™ JT (FH 2 A 770, ooo;‘%
P —F A —HRE
_$/\H s S ANE| J}:,ﬂ;ﬁrﬁﬁzﬁass,ooo
W0 (FHEE R 376,000 o) 2 4F & —
YR B B TN BLAT 3K 1E L BRI 2
JBE R S AT AR AR B AR 1 B AR A i 1L 1
INGT e 37Vl iy AP
B IR MERT 2 WP BT i3 7ol - i &
TAEF A= WBAEEA  F
A B 4 1 T 1 4F 1 B ST R
HE_ZFZWEFT+ A=+ —HILF
FE > 770,00085 70 (& = 4F © FnBREEHE
770,00035 70) 2 B [0 FKHFE AR f5 o

A A B 5 o B A 4 B — [ RS N WD R
24 55 e R IR A 1P 4 70 BT A B
415,000,000%5 70 o ARIEHAT B B & K&
AR AT IR A A U BR 5 T R T A
1554 o A H415,000,000 7T O 8
EORCCHES A= IR EERE
[EESEEE

13.

—EZNETFZA=+—H
31 December 2024

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the approval letter issued by the Financial Services Bureau
of Macau dated 10 June 2021, Hong Hock was obligated to pay an
annual lump sum dividend withholding tax of MOP595,000 (equivalent
to HK$577,000) for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020,
MOP793,000 (equivalent to HK$770,000) for the year of 2021 and
MOP388,000 (equivalent to HK$376,000) for the period from 1 January
2022 to 26 June 2022 as payment in lieu of Macau complementary
tax otherwise due by the shareholders of Hong Hock on dividend
distributions from gaming profits generated in relation to the operation
of the casino at MFW. As at 31 December 2024, Hong Hock declared
that it will indefinitely refrain from distributing the accumulated profits
from previous years. For the year ended 31 December 2024, a reversal
of HK$770,000 (2023: provision of HK$770,000 charged) was credited
to profit or loss.

The Group had recognised a provision for Macau complementary
tax of HK$415,000,000 in the prior years resulted from a disposal
of a subsidiary of the Group. Pursuant to the prevailing tax rules and
regulation, the limitation on period to perform retrospective review
is 5 years after the profit was recognised. An over-provision of
HK$415,000,000 was written back to profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

13.  Fife Bt (%) 13. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
AR N Bl IE BLBRBL A B IR A B IR IR

The tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax as follows:

2024 2023
T#x T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(R 5)
(Restated)
AR A TS BB IS R Loss before tax from continuing operations (741,102) (470,978)
A b 288 ST R i i A Profit before tax from discontinued operation 90,131 62,126
(650,971) (408,852)
2 129% BB R AR A TR 154 e Bl Tax credit at Macau Complementary Tax rate
at 12% (78,117) (49,062)
AN TN B ST B R Tax effect of expenses not deductible 96,580 48,037
HEJEERAL A BTS2 Tax effect of income not taxable (50,519) 197)
TR AR B A A BB A e B Tax effect of tax exemption granted to certain
2 gaming related revenue (48,643) (47,643)
W ARSI A B E SR 228 Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised 38,016 42,359
TR BL Income tax in Lao PDR 15,096 17,165
A A ) VR Dt A 1Y) AR A ) Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
ZARIR] B A Y 5 operating in other jurisdictions 13 177
—WRPER R FESIR Lump sum dividend withholding tax (770) 770
A B R 1 1A [R] 24— T ) i Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods - (415,537)
NPT R RIS Income tax credit for the year (28,344) (403,931)

RoEPE A=+ —H > AREFR
B IE R 4 Y B 1575 1,750,338,000
HET (L E T =4F ¢ 1,957,791,000#7T) >
AT DA S S B R BLAE R EE = R
FIWIR) AR - BE T UEF
A=+ —H IR E > BBl E
B4 £523,516,000 50 (—F . =4F ¢
305,724,000 70) ©

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had tax losses of HK$1,750,338,000
(2023: HK$1,957,791,000) from non-gaming operations available for
offset against future profit that will expire in three years from the year
of assessment. For the year ended 31 December 2024, approximately
HK$523,516,000 (2023: HK$305,724,000) of tax losses have expired.

i AT B AT AR 2 I R B BT IR 2 LA T
B 2 R B I BLE G IR > R e AR A S
THEE -

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable temporary differences will be available against which
unutilised tax losses can be utilised.
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Rk BB

ATFEWERA > ANTE R E
MLD Resorts Laos Limited > — [H] i 2 J&
RS MRS A RATR > AR
) [l $ 2 E Mt i 22 7] © MLD Resorts Laos
Limited 75 & #A{E F F% SOH 5 26755 o A&
SRR R ET > U
T R G T R 2 L P ) S R
K KA EEJ# o MLD Resorts Laos Limited
BT B L R 26T RO iy 2
W AN PR AR 2 H ORI

il / AEAMLD Resorts Laos Limited ) 2
SEIIE

14.

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024
DISCONTINUED OPERATION

In May 2024, the Company completed the disposal of MLD Resorts
Laos Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
MLD Resorts Laos Limited is engaged in the gaming and hotel business
in Lao PDR. The Group ceased its business operation in Lao PDR in
order to centralise and reallocate its resources to its business operation
in Macau and future development. MLD Resorts Laos Limited was
classified as a discontinued operation and the business operation in
Lao PDR was no longer included in the note for operating segment
information.

The results of MLD Resorts Laos Limited for the period/year are
presented below:

H % P94 WE_E =
—H—H#&E® +=H=1+—H
iR AER: 1L
For the period

from 1 January For the

2024 to the date year ended

of disposal 31 December 2023

Tl T

HK$°000 HK$°000

Wi i Revenue 51,018 161,989

B 2 Expenses (38,661) (99,173)

Pl AR Finance costs (138) (690)

He Il R S E A R Profit from the discontinued operation 12,219 62,126

AR LR SRS I LA Gain on disposal of the discontinued operation 77,912 -

H b 288 ST R Al s A Profit before tax from the discontinued operation 90,131 62,126

EET Income tax:
B BAR: B 3 — Bl S A3 BAH B Related to Lao PDR annual flat tax and

income tax (8,877) (17,165)

B B A i A B Related to gain on disposal (6,219) -
A SCEFEHEIRT A Profit for the period/year from the discontinued

operation 75,035 44,961
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

kR S () 14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)
W EKEREET AN HE EE An analysis of net assets disposed as at the date of the disposal of the
TEHZ TR discontinued operation is as follows:
e S 1120
2024
T#x
HK$°000
R A R Net assets disposed of:
W2 ~ W Beshts Property, plant and equipment 155,915
6 R Right of use assets 12,833
SV Intangible assets 40,294
75 Inventories 7,632
Bl S ARAT H5 R Cash and bank balances 30,747
B 5 B Ho A E YR I Trade and other receivables 13,560
B 5y B H A EAT I Trade and other payables (21,129)
JREAT B 2K Tax payable (3,010)
A Lease liabilities (4,325)
/NiE Subtotal 232,517
[T 5, Y5 S it A Exchange fluctuation reserve (25,967)
Hh B A L R SERS i 2 Gain on disposal of the discontinued operation 77,912
HAAE Total consideration 284,462
AT Satisfied by:
B4 Cash 284,462
MBS ATEATRAT 20244
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ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

14. #IEREEH (H) 14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)
HEMLD Resorts Laos Limited /& 4 i 5 The net cash flows generated from the disposal of MLD Resorts Laos
SR IFHES IR Limited are as follows:
H % PY4E
—H—H#E
& H I
For the period
from 1 January
2024 to date
of disposal
T
HK$°000
e Cash consideration 284,462
FAECHHEE Deposit received in the prior year (78,153)
E BLE M ERAT A5 R Cash and bank balances disposed of (30,747)
AR SR BB SEB M Bl I Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal
Bl S B ImAF #E of the discontinued operation 175,562
MLP Resorts Laos Limited & /£ 9 81 4 I The net cash flows incurred by MLD Resorts Laos Limited are as
BIFFEESIN follows:

H_Z 4 BE TR T AR
—H—H®E=E A=+ —H

A H IR JIS23) 3
For the period
from 1 January For the
2024 to the date year ended
of disposal 31 December 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
T ) Operating activities 5,781 40,858
WG TET) Investing activities (3,907) (5.291)
Rl U ) Financing activities = (18,406)
Bl AR Net cash inflow 1,874 17,161
BIREF Earnings per share:
FEA AL > 2Rk B A& IR S8 2 Basic (HK cents), from the discontinued
operation 1.21 0.73
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31 December 2024

14. #ARRREEY () 14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)

e 1l KR8 S I 5 JB AR 8 M T AR A

The calculation of basic earnings per share from the discontinued

NS EFHA operation is based on:
H % g4 WE_E =
—H—HE% +=ZH=+—H
& H IR R4
For the period
from 1 January For the
2024 to the date year ended
of disposal 31 December 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
B Earnings
b 288 S Profit from the discontinued operation 75,035 44,961
JB 45 B H
Number of shares
H =2 Y4 [ S—
—H—HE%E +=ZA=1+—H
A H I R4
For the period
from 1 January For the
2024 to the date year ended
of disposal 31 December 2023
T T
‘000 ‘000
Ji& oy Shares
PG AR SR 10 1, 4E N 8847 Weighted average number of ordinary shares
TEH M-8 i RE~F- 24 outstanding during the period/year used in the
basic loss per share calculation 6,201,187 6,201,187
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TSI 4B 1) AR 2 ] 3 98 A P AROUR AT B
FRIRAT R (T =4 #) o

Bt e 15

A% FHEAT B 0 65 1 2 s 4L T 4
SRk

15.

16.

ZERZNEF A =1+—H
31 December 2024

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the

Company during the year (2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of

the Company is based on the following:

V& 18 Loss
2024 2023
T FHIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
AT A e 1R T I R 4R (Loss)/profit for the year for the purpose of
(k18) ¥ basic loss per share calculation
A& PR AR A 2B From continuing operations (697,662) (49,882)
o B & A8 SRS From a discontinued operation 75,035 44,961
(622,627) (4,921)
Ity B H Number of shares
B S 1140 &=
2024 2023
T T
‘000 ‘000
FHEAE RS s 18 I R AR TR Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BEATAE AN 38 R RE ST 34 8 outstanding during the year for the purpose
of basic loss per share calculation 6,201,187 6,201,187

B A2 ) T A8 4 52 24 4 L 7 A v
SR A o Ol I 2 A A B
1

Diluted loss per share amounts are not presented as the Company did
not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares for both years.
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“ERCEFZA=+—H
31 December 2024

17. REWE 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
T
HK$°000
FEAR Cost:
TR EF—A—H XS H=1—H 0 At January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
ZECFE—H—H R EF A=+ —H and 31 December 2024 558,515
iR Accumulated depreciation:
W oE - ZFE—H—H At 1 January 2023 93,750
GRNE 21 Provided for the year 17,994
WEE AT A= —H K At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 111,744
ZENFE—H—H
AN A Provided for the year 17,994
RoEWE+ A =+—H At 31 December 2024 129,738
HRTEH : Carrying amounts:
W_FE_UFEF_H=+—H At 31 December 2024 428,777
WoE =+ HA=1+—H At 31 December 2023 446,771

178

At B ) 3 4 A R YR A AL
FRERSO4F A1 (AR & 7 ) 7 8%

SR H A R SRR R LS
TR E R > AT L4 o

W EER LA
= H o REE ARG E S IR
TERAT o AE B3R T A S FERAT M A 5
P o FEIG G B E28 532 -

AL EYETI LU ABE G & -
AR CPEF T HZF—H > WiE
WA N A ER RN R > RIS 2 %
jC/E SCi ISR THESY/E X X DADA/N
FOE (A AREHA 256 =) > #HEFEA
AL G E 2 E - R
T 7 B2 A A R Bl R B R AT BR A
APEATIEAY > AFE £ 1,731,000,00035 70
(TE T =4 1 1,836,000,00070) o d R
W T LI A LG 28 Ao A I s 65 A
(DO FER & AN MR~ C//E

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the term of the lease and 50 years.

All the Group’s investment properties are held for rental purpose under
operating leases and are situated on the land in Macau.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the Group’s investment
properties were pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings granted
to the Group. Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.

The Group’s investment properties are measured under cost model. As at
31 December 2024, should the said investment properties be measured
under fair value model, the fair values (Level 3 of fair value hierarchy)
of the Group’s investment properties, representing commercial property
units located in Macau, together with the leasehold land included in
the Group’s right-of-use assets, would be HK$1,731,000,000 (2023:
HK$1,836,000,000) in aggregate based on valuations performed by
Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent professional qualified
valuer. Impairment loss is not allocated to investment properties as
the carrying amount is not reduced below its fair value less costs of
disposal.
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17. #&EWE (F)

AT DA BGE RS A S B i B &
SE0T LA H AR DL B M s TR
DU AR 5300w R A 4 M AR A Y
BT U8 i > Sl DA BB )
SETBRGHE S SR A I E A o 2R E

TEAS A S A AL A 2 AR (E I
) S 2 ] EL R i 09 de e S AR AR S
HBLR I
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17.

ZERZNEF A =1+—H
31 December 2024

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The fair values were determined by the comparison method on the
assumption that the Group’s investment properties can be sold in their
existing state and conditions, wherever appropriate, investment method
by taking into account the current rents passing the reversionary income
potential of the tenancies. The comparison is based on the prices of
actual sales and/or offerings of similar properties.

In estimating the fair value of the properties together with the leasehold
land, the highest and best use of the properties together with the
leasehold land is their current use.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year (2023:
Nil).

Further details of the Group’s major properties are set out in the section
“Particulars of Major Properties” in this annual report.

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases with licensing
fee receivable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of
1 to 5 years. The leases of retail stores contain variable lease payments
that are based on 5% to 40% of sales and minimum annual lease
payments that are fixed over the lease terms.
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31 December 2024

Y 2y
18. g Kot thi 18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
IR~ lE iV
&3 KB R LB 31 Ol v R Rk i3 AN it
Furniture, Machinery
fixtures and Leasehold Motor and Construction
Buildings quip imp) vehicles Vessels equipment in progress Total
T T#T T THT Tt Tt Tt Tt
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$"000 HKS'000 HK$"000 HKS'000
REZTWEF A= 31 December 2024
RERE—H—H At 1 January 2024:
WA Cost 4,834,231 988,933 910,032 30,774 - 145,805 798,892 7,708,667
ZRHTE R Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,174,875 755,225 738,258 28,618 = 110,130 329,639 3,136,745
FRIEF Net carrying amount 3,659,356 233,708 171,774 2,156 - 35,675 469,253 4,571,922

REFZPE—A—H > IR RFHTE K At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated

W depreciation and impairment 3,659,356 233,708 171,774 2,156 = 35,675 469,253 4,571,922
R Additions 3,019 4,791 3,095 - - 1,032 1,206 13,143
e Disposals = (2,568) (11,925) (213) = (6,221) = (20927)
o W A ] (3 14) Disposals of subsidiaries (note 14) (120,483) (19,948) (4,360) (1,526) = (9,598) = (155,915)
AR Depreciation provided during the year (139,130) (57,318) (63,524) (312) - (7,290) - (267,574)
RS (k42 Impairment losses (note 42) (216,952) (8,804) (6,043) = = = (42,674) (274473)
i Transfers - 64 (44 - - (20) - -
5 7 4 Exchange realignment (7,896) (1412) (296) (105) = (653) (716) (11,078)

REFZPETZA=—H o fIBREF At31 December 2024, net of accumulated

I B depreciation and impairment 3177914 148,513 88,677 - - 12,925 427,069 3,855,098
REFZNEF A= At 31 December 2024:
A Cost 4,562,961 879,972 686,734 4,563 - 53,874 746,135 6,934,239
T R Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,385,047 731,459 598,057 4,563 = 40,949 319,066 3,079,141
T Net carrying amount 3177914 148,513 88,677 - - 12,925 427,069 3,855,098
REFZ=AEFZAZEF R 31 December 2023
: At 1 January 2023:
S Cost 4,815,092 982,922 933,770 30,148 5973 164,537 834,175 7,766,617
BEHIE S Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,031,935 725,900 686,637 28212 4281 88,634 320,653 2,886,252
R v Net carrying amount 3,783,157 257,022 247,133 1,936 1,692 75,903 513,522 4,880,365

REFZ=H—H—H o MREFHTER At January 2023, net of accumulated

Wl depreciation and impairment 3,783,157 257,022 247,133 1936 1,692 75,903 513,522 4,880,365
nE Additions - 3467 1,245 961 - 3,900 7875 17,448
e Disposals - (6,570) (2,681) - (1,564) (4,278) - (15,093)
AT Depreciation provided during the year (141,992) (76,390) (71,071) (750) (128) (21,658) - (311,989)
i Transfers 14,291 56,024 (2,888) - - (15,265) (52,162) -
[ b 7 Exchange realignment 3,900 155 36 9 - (2.927) 18 1,191

REFZZETFZA=ST—H o MBRZF At31 December 2023, net of accumulated

P8 Risife depreciation and impairment 3,659,356 233,708 171,774 2,156 - 35,675 469,253 4,571,922
S e S = At 31 December 2023:

A Cost 4,834,231 988,933 910,032 30,774 - 145,805 798,892 7,708,667

St R Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,174,875 755,225 738,258 28,618 - 110,130 329,639 3,136,745

BRI i Net carrying amount 3,659,356 233,708 171,774 2,156 - 35,675 469,253 4,571,922
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B YT

A A [ 0 A 5 07 P L P ) L o AR SR [
AT AT B s S s (
FEARBAFL L L) fy e A A o AR
eI RZ S W RS R © — M S A
HFIE o

SN B R T > B T R ok B
o Y R B = A I M T R > R
T TR B S R s DR SR P
M TEI 2 SN2 o B ARG R
AE KRR AEECEER L T
e R b R A DN EY S E S
o) AT W E B - B2 R AR
+oHZt—H > BeEA AR A
[m] 4 %A £55,301,455,000% 50 > &% &R )
R 5 {0 (30 B P v 0 S g 8t vf )
oS TE SR AP 3R A TR N R E o Bl
It TR BRI BT R B R 25 10.1% (—
FE A 11.6%) o ARPERE R - B
iz 7 AR B B T (B9 25 330,354,000
WIC (R =AF M) o U R
ABREELHEMANNE &S - WE
B i DA T A ) HE 5 1Y) R T (B 49 il
113,000 70 (- =4F ¢ E) -
260,955,000 70 (& T AR M)
69,286,0004 TG (—F . =4F : M) o

A H T IR DR 9% A5 A IERORT B2 1 1 1 )
A5 0 B 4 7 AR BEAEAT (B R AL -
I AR E BB S AR A IR
2B - stABRSEEREAND
{745 4 ~ W) 36 TRt DA R il P RE & 2 1Y)
W TG {72 A i 27,345,00085 00 (& — =
4 M) ~ 13,518,000 7T (F U =4F
48) 125,022,000 70 (&2 — = AF « 4E) o
675 A B 4 7 AR B IE I — 2B RS
HOR B E42 o

P 3L 4 7 A A7 Dl 0 5k R
By R AE 500 Bl T % B A i A B
R EB AR EE - DOk (s
SERE TR A LA D) = AR I A
] 18 52 A5 BE 5% 3 4 A B0 M AL I 4R 8
P A 00 4 3 4 T R S 1) A AR L o
o8 e S0 0 D L Tt PR ) AR 5%
JH8 A S B D Bk sl > B4R T 1
e 8K 23 B 384 330,400,000 7T B 1 F1
364,900,000 7T °

18.

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group’s buildings are situated on the land in Macau. The Group
owns several office buildings and is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests.

As set out in note 1, with the New Service Agreement nearing its
conclusion and the accompanying 3-year transition period drawing to a
close, the management has initiated a strategic realignment to address
the unanticipated effects on the gaming operations in Macau. Together
with the fact that the Group has been incurring substantial losses, the
Group performed an impairment test on the CGU in Macau (which
is included in gaming and non-gaming segments) as the key business
of the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of
the CGU was HK$5,301,455,000 which was determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate
applied in the cash flow projections was 10.1% (2023: 11.6%). Based
on the impairment test, the carrying amount of the CGU was impaired
by HK$330,354,000 (2023: Nil). Consequently, the carrying amounts of
deposits paid, property and equipment, and right-of-use assets included
in the CGU were written down for the year by HK$113,000 (2023:
Nil), HK$260,955,000 (2023: Nil) and HK$69,286,000 (2023: Nil),
respectively.

The management also performed an impairment assessment on
the CGU in Cape Verde due to the issue raised by the Cape Verde
Government. As a result, the Group fully impaired the carrying amount
of the said CGU. The carrying amounts of deposits paid, property and
equipment, and right-of-use assets included in the CGU were written
down by HK$27,345,000 (2023: Nil), HK$13,518,000 (2023: Nil)
and HK$5,022,000 (2023: Nil), respectively. Further details of the
impairment of the CGU in Cape Verde are set out in note 42.

The key assumptions involved in the impairment test on the CGU
in Macau were the number of gaming table allocated by SIM to the
satellite casino operation of the CGU and how the management fee
is to be determined regarding the compensation for the provision of
casino management services with regard to the satellite casino of the
CGU beyond the 3-year transition period of the Macau Gaming Law.
If the number of gaming tables increased or decreased by 5 from the
probability-weighted number of gaming table adopted in the impairment
test, the impairment loss would decrease by HK$330.4 million or
increase by HK$364.9 million, respectively, during the year.
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18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The impairment loss of the above CGUs recognised was included
in “Impairment losses on non-financial assets” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

\Q?QMEJr A=+—H  A%MH
HAH 53,177,914,000 8 ST AE T (2

T**ﬁ 3,555,183,000i JT) # 4K

THAT - A BT AL M ERAT R

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s buildings with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$3,177,914,000 (2023: HK$3,555,183,000) were
pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group.
Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.

PR o FEIGHG A B E28 K32 -
19. fHEFIRER E 19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
ML te Bt
Leasehold land Buildings Total
TC TC TC
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
WoE =~ —H As at 1 January 2023 1,189,473 10,920 1,200,393
e e L Depreciation charge (45,004) (5,595) (50,599)
BFE 5, 2 i 4 Exchange realignment 269 31 300
i 432:515* “H=Et—HK As at 31 December 2023 and
SECNE—A—H 1 January 2024 1,144,738 5,356 1,150,094
B B A\ (G 14) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) (9,698) (3,135) (12,833)
gL Depreciation charge (44,848) (1,915) (46,763)
WAE R (i 5E42) Impairment losses (note 42) (74,308) = (74,308)
TFE 5, 2 i 4 Exchange realignment 979) (306) (1,285)
RE WA = —H As at 31 December 2024 1,014,905 = 1,014,905
TR YR S
2024 2023
Tt Tt
HK$°000 HK$°000
BET A=+ —HILAE For the year ended 31 December
FLHATH B AH B 2 BH 3 Expense relating to short-term leases 2,946 7,540
EAHEAGRS Interest paid on lease liabilities 4,998 5,481
BRI TR A EA ST Repayments of principal portion of lease liabilities 1,398 10,785
B 2 Bl th A3 Total cash outflow for leases 9,341 23,806
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ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

6 FH R ¥ 7 (A0) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
AL MR RS FERR R AR T - The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as
follows:
R4 TAERTEAE
2024 2023
Tt THEIC
HK$’000 HK$’000
iEk=g=Frvil)=} Interest on lease liabilities 4,860 4,791
6 R M AT B S Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 46,763 50,599
e NFH AR B 2 BH S (BLFR 4848 - 1T Expense relating to short-term leases (included in
B H A BH =0 operating, administrative and other expenses) 2,946 7,540
6 R M T Impairment of right-of-use assets 74,308 -
A E 2 TERR ) A FR AR AR Total amount recognized in profit or loss 128,877 62,930

T A S A 45 o Ak 2 L A b A8
FREAHA AL A o 77 IR A9 FLEE 1 b Y
L IO 46 ik i i1 7 A 254 > ml AR5 2
EOI AR EA o RN EFHEA
AT E - B LB TwEES50H
& P R AE > A A0 MR8
Py EAWAE o ZEBBUN T Thakhek Clubft
A B 54F o 6 BB E T O RER

HE o

LT A5 A B RE B 4t 1 FE B RS E 7
754 > MR 1K o

LI DL 928 T 7 310 60 5 22 A Tl A sk
et o 7 AE 3 K ATl AN R SRCES H R
R A SR e 5 40 2 2RI E A A
TSR AT 2 S -

ATERCPEF A= H > AREE
R T A8 {E 1,014,905,0003 0 (& =
41 1,067,871,000%70) 2 i HEEED
T RAT > DMER TAREE Z |ATMH
AR o FENG T M RE28 232 o

Lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for certain of its
leasehold land and buildings. Lease term of leasehold land in Macau
is negotiated for a term of 25 years at a fixed rental and is subject for
renewal in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. Leases
for buildings in Laos include office properties, warehouse and staff
quarters that are negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals
are fixed for an average term of two years, and the Thakhek Club with
lease term of 5 years granted by the Lao PDR government. Leases for
buildings in Laos are disposed during the year.

Lease term of leasehold land in Cape Verde is negotiated for a term
of 75 years at an annual rental which is subject to review on an annual
basis.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use assets with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,014,905,000 (2023:
HKS$1,067,871,000) were pledged to banks to secure the bank
borrowings granted to the Group. Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.
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SECEE A=

31 December 2024

J0Ath i 5 20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R EE LT PN
B k-4 HirB iz %R A
Gaming
Gaming promoter
operating operating Referral Customer
licence rights relationships relationships Total
THET TiT THTT THTT THTT
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
A Cost
RoF-=HE—H—H At 1 January 2023 95,122 274,142 26,053 17,372 412,689
e 58, T i Exchange realignment 550 - - - 550
WCE =+ H=1+—H At31 December 2023 and
K= FFE—H—H 1 January 2024 95,672 274,142 26,053 17,372 413,239
I A Ak 14) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) (78,184) - - - (78,184)
HEE 5 T 7 o Exchange realignment (5,100) - - - (5,100)
WRZEZAEFTZH=1+—H  At31 December 2024 12,388 274,142 26,053 17,372 329,955
SRS R Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
RoF - ZF—-A—H At 1 January 2023 51,095 274,142 26,053 17372 368,662
ERBE Provided for the year 1,007 - - - 1,007
e 5, 5 A Exchange realignment 265 - - - 265
WZEZ =T ZH=1—H At31 December 2023 and
RZFZPUE—H—H 1 January 2024 52,367 274,142 26,053 17,372 369,934
B 2 7D (B e 14) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) (37,890) - - - (37,890)
AR N Provided for the year 364 - - - 364
e 58, T i Exchange realignment (2,453) - - - (2,453)
RZFZMEFZH=+—H At31 December 2024 12,388 274,142 26,053 17372 329,955
R (E Carrying amounts
RZEZEFTZH=1—H  At31 December 2024 - - - - -
WEFE =+ ZHA=+—H  At31 December 2023 43,305 - - - 43,305
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20. - fibJEIE & FE (4)

A T PUAT AR B A AR B T A
T T D R o S G B W R AR A
317,567,000 702 HAh#ETE & 2 (5 1H0R
A NESERE - AR K F T BIR) -
£ 512,388,000 o0 2 HAh 4 &
(Fi5 A 5 18] oy o A 85 RS T o i S A+ 11 2
) > A B AR T T ARSI A R
R R AT I Y o e
FE+AZ+—8B > EARASEBE

20.

ZERZNEF A =1+—H
31 December 2024

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

In 2014, the Group recognised the other intangible assets representing
gaming promoter operating rights, referral relationships and customer
relationships in an aggregate amount of HK$317,567,000, through the
acquisition of New Legend under the VIE structure. Other intangible
assets represent the premium the Group paid to renew the Old Service
Agreement in an amount of HK$12,388,000 and amortised over the
remaining term of the Old Service Agreement expiring in 2022, all of
which has been fully amortised as of 31 December 2022.

21, RBEAFRZHRE 21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
2024 2023
T THIT
HK$°000 HK$°000
S /NI | S S TE S &2 %A N Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted 56,321 56,321
S U A% R 1R Share of post-acquisition losses (65,256) (65,256)
A3 b SRR A 4 T A Share of post-acquisition other comprehensive
income 8,935 8,935
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

R A Z B (4) 21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
BB B g A A IR R IR 2 #F Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as
THaF - follows:
KA 2 ALHRHZ
HHRAR LAY AL ER EX 2l BT HE L B HE L B =)
Country of Principal place Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
Name of entity incorporation of business interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activity
CRONE CECCE CERONE SR
2024 2023 2024 2023
BELEARAR (BE) R PR 21.5% 21.5% 21.5% 25% BRI Y
Lai Ieng Investment Company ~ Macau PRC Ownership and management

Limited (“Lai leng”)

of shopping mall

N RWI A B AL B 2 WA F 2R
LB G o T 5 ok KR A% P S
EORHIE By 6 2 AR T o0 S
) 5 B S B TR TR R o

Wit R A % 4 A SRS R T L RE 4R

Summarised unaudited financial information in respect of Group’s
associate is set out below. The summarised unaudited financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

AR o consolidated financial statements.
—R YA TR
2024 2023
Tl T
HK$’000 HK$’000
T E Current assets 460,817 483,349
JE B E A Non-current assets 1,877,298 1,922,984
i B=N Current liabilities (1,483,880) (1,466,403)
s & Non-current liabilities (1,213,360) (1,213,360)
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ZERZNEF A =1+—H
31 December 2024

R A Z B (4) 21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
TR TPYLE S
2024 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Wi 4 Revenue 49,469 34,511
TR Loss for the year (51,243) (86,997)
AR HAD A HE 1R Other comprehensive loss for the year (34,452) (14,724)
AT B A T e T AR AR Total comprehensive loss for the year (85,695) (101,721)
5 BA S R AR B A A B SR SR A T Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
SN TN S N ) 2 REZS 2 WG T (A HRE T the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
T consolidated financial statements:
TR TP CE T A
2024 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RN =E Net liabilities of Lai Ieng (359,125) (273,430)
A [ 2 2 A HE L) Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest
in Lai Ieng 21.5% 21.5%
7R A1 A ) 282 v The Group’s share of net liabilities of Lai Ieng (77,212) (58,788)
WA R OB S s 2 Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition (3,226) (3,226)
AR F R Loss of associate not recognised 80,438 62,014
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

22, [BEE A W B 22. LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE
1] B ) AR SRR AT - SRR LA The loan to an associate is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has
[ 7 i K o AN T EE R 4 A 4R [ A no fixed term of repayment. In the opinion of the Directors of the
R WIRRF 128 A R ER - Company, the Group has no intention to make a request for repayment
B > 5B J0 5 FE LB within the 12 months from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly,

the loan is classified as a non-current asset.

A [ 58 225 3 T 7 2 R BH B S IR L EE The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the underlying financial
G SR o R WER F position of the counterparty. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
CEET A= WEEEKE impairment loss was assessed to be minimal. Details of the impairment
Al 26 T L0 - A B E FEAL 2 FE 1S assessment are set out in note 38.
JRHEEE3S
23. Dff&s 23. DEPOSITS PAID
2024 2023
Fitoe Tk
HK$°000 HK$°000

TETERINCE I B 2 R 7 4 & Refundable deposit and the related land processing

A B B B A (B (i) costs for a potential long-term investment project
(note (1)) 740,361 740,141
RS W (E R 15 Impairment loss recognised (546,926) (546,926)
193,435 193,215
WA BCE IR B 2 48 (i) Deposits for an investment project in Cape Verde
(note (ii)) 34,909 35,718
RS W (E R 15 Impairment loss recognised (34,909) (7,564)
- 28,154
SR W 2 3% 4 (M EE: (i) Deposit for the New Service Agreement (note (iii)) - 7,050
W R 2 B et 2 AR & Deposits paid for acquisition of property and
equipment 2,789 765
LR W (E s 15 Impairment loss recognised (113) -
2,676 765
196,111 229,184
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e 4 (4)

ik :

@

(i)

(iii)

HAER I SIS = (TE ) X
A5 AR (o7 s SR g 2 ek s R TE H I
WS 7 b A PR (5% b)) AE R T
ERWMBCETE B FE s (4]
R B b BB o i L — AR
TZHZNH > Fh AL E
Howing Enterprises Co., Ltd. ([Howing])
BT AT A (T84 8 Ay ) 7T |
FRYE ([3%395]) - Howing M M+
A%t o O T R4 52 0E H
+ A A A% - iEE T Howing © 8
Ry B 5% T i 2 #8048 490,010,000
6 (697,800,000 70) B Jy BLASE [
[F] 72 5% 4% 4 08 R R B M A -
B F—JUE—H U H mAEE
BCRET S B0y o IRIEH WA F— L
T A= NH Z BT8R4 > H R
46 8 [ 551 i 58 5% T T Howing 2 M
ﬁL&i%ﬁ%ﬁ%%iﬁﬁ@ﬁi:
ﬁ#ﬁm%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%a%ﬁ~
T OEBENHA SN HSE B TTR
£ (155 —RABRT ) - 57 AR AL B W) &
g E% + b T Howing 2 JH B4 — 45
FE B ERFT A BRI 2 A £
T —4ENHA T ANE o BEAMTHR
FHAEZ H > 5 RBRTRAAE St
W) o SR 5 W R - M A RO o
ML > MEH RN F - —4FN
H 75 H SR AT A 1 52 2 19 7 A 42 [
B I R > 4 S A B
LA AS T PR B O A HUR R o JE 2 F
:m$+*ﬁ*+ H oo A4 [ i
wz T E AR A 642,317,000 00 (&
TR 1 42,317,0009 70) 2 i H AR
A B AHBABIE o

M:;:@$+*H*+~Hz

CHAEARMN THEMS Z K
E#NS(wsooo%jn f4h4$
12,677,0004570) » FEAML B AL ER
PEOBAG 1 JE H 4808 WS35 350 oy H 8
HEFT 25 W25 4 o A4 B e RR Il (B s 4E
#127,345,000%5 70 © A B 6 (A 5F AL 9 #F
I Bl B 42 -

WZEZPAE A =+ — H 2 S
R B MV 55 T i ) B85 — 9 B 1 10 L 5
B AN 427,050,000 0T > IR A
TR CAE—A— ARG AR o R
ZECUFEF A= B SF NS
%m%ﬁé’ﬁﬁxgigﬂi+ A
b B RS R 4 o R T R

—EZNETFZA=+—H
31 December 2024

23. DEPOSITS PAID (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

The amount represents a deposit paid (the “Deposit”) and its related
land processing costs to an independent third party (the “Vendor”) for
a potential long-term investment project in connection with a proposed
acquisition of certain land use rights (the “Land”) in respect of a proposed
development project in Cambodia. On 28 December 2018, the Vendor
and the Group entered into a sale and purchase deed (the “Deed”) in
respect of the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital (“Sale
Shares”) of Howing Enterprises Co., Ltd. (“Howing”), which in turn,
will hold the Land. The Vendor shall transfer the Land to Howing within
12 months from the date of signing the Deed. The total consideration for
the Sale Shares and the Land is US$90,010,000 (HK$697,800,000). The
Vendor and the Group agreed that the Deposit shall be used to settle the
consideration in full. On 28 January 2019, the Vendor has transferred
the Sale Shares to the Group. Pursuant to the amendment deed dated 28
December 2019, the Vendor and the Group agreed to extend the transfer
period of the Land to Howing for 6 months from the signing of the
amendment deed to 28 June 2020 (“First Amendment”). Subsequent to
the expiry of the First Amendment and pursuant to the second amendment
deed dated 26 June 2020 (“Second Amendment”), the Vendor and the
Group agreed to further extend the transfer period of the Land to Howing
for 12 months from the signing of the Second Amendment to 26 June
2021. There was no further extension to the Second Amendment as at
the date of approval of these financial statements. During the year, there
was no significant progress made on the acquisition of the Land. Pursuant
to the Deed, the Deposit and its related land processing costs would be
fully refunded from the Vendor in the event that it fails to transfer the
Sale Shares and the Land to the Group by 26 June 2021 or any agreed
extension. As of 31 December 2024, the Group incurred land processing
costs and related tax totalling HK$42,317,000 (2023: HK$42,317,000) for
the transfer of the Land.

The amount as at 31 December 2024 included a payment of approximately
HK$15,098,000 (2023: HK$12,677,000) for a gaming concession with
a term of 25 years from the first day of operation of the casino operated
by the Group under the project in Cape Verde. Impairment loss of
approximately HK$27,345,000 was recognised during the year. Details of
the impairment assessment are set out in note 42.

The amount as at 31 December 2024 represents a deposit of
HK$7,050,000 paid to SJM pursuant to the 1st Addendum of the New
Service Agreement, for service term of three years commencing 1 January
2023. The amount as at 31 December 2024 was classified as a current asset
as it is refundable at the end of service term on 31 December 2025.
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“ERZNET A =+—H
31 December 2024

78] INVENTORIES
e S LS =
2024 2023
Tt Tk
HK$°000 HKS$’000
K Food and beverage 2,898 4,618
FAET Retail merchandise 2,808 2,816
L Operating supplies 5,742 13,887
11,448 21,321
5 K H A EWGRIE ~ #1048 K A 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
X IH PREPAYMENTS
TR =
2024 2023
Tt Tk
HK$°000 HKS$’000
& 5 E K IH Trade receivables 111,993 155,276
W EE TR Less: Impairment losses (52,648) (64,065)
59,345 91,211
oA RS R Other receivables 85,408 82,370
W EE R Less: Impairment losses (67,131) (67,131)
18,277 15,239
P R IR Deposits and prepayments 16,614 17,774
R T 1 {8 Net carrying amount 94,236 124,224
MR AIEATRAT 202448
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S5 B LAt ORI > 5  RPAT
#KIA (4)

B O BEWGRIR £ G — Z R E
A —M S - R EEEREE &
JRATHE A FH

RS BR B 5 SRR T LA I A
Al B R & 3KIE 5,000,000 0T (F1ER
TR E 146,062,000 70) (& - =A4F ¢
5,000,000 7C (F1IBR 5 (B 75 46,103,000%5
Jb)) e

HC At R 5K T B % < E AL 4 e i A
B R R B A BN & Ho At
O Bt % 4 o

RS R > AR [ 5 B UK T A R
A B AS L R AL IR R IR T &
T EACAS A T A T S 2 B B AR
TAI{E120,0009 70 (—F — = 4F 1 343,000%
J6) © ZAEMENCA A R A T R RIE A 38
SR AR - RFEHE RE R E R

LN

PR o

7S AR At O AU B 446 1R A R P s 4 7 1
A0 ESEN - T T
RAT AL 3930 B A5 S0 a7 HARF
IS H A AE B o LU 5 ik
R o BTy SO TE T IR k(L 4884 4 5

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables mainly included receivables from a gaming operator,
SJM, individual VIP gaming patrons and travel agents.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables included
receivables from individual VIP gaming patrons of HK$5,000,000 (net
of impairment allowance of HK$46,062,000) (2023: HK$5,000,000 (net
of impairment allowance of HK$46,103,000)).

Other receivables and deposits mainly included interest receivables,
temporary payments and other utility deposits for the purpose of daily
operations.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the Group’s trade
receivable balances was an aggregate carrying amount of HK$120,000
(2023: HK$343,000), which is due from certain Directors of the
Company in relation to non-gaming services provided by the Group.
Such amounts due from certain Directors of the Company are trade in
nature, unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group allows a credit period with an average of 30 days to the
gaming operator relating to provision of gaming related services, an
average of 30 days to certain travel agents and an average of 15 days to
its tenants. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net
of impairment allowance, presented based on the invoice date at the end

H 1 251 2 BRES AT » of the reporting period.
TR —E=

2024 2023
Tt THIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
=EHAR Within 3 months 53,541 72,152
R = B AEAE SR H A Over 3 months but within 6 months 605 636
e 7S (8 A AE—4E A Over 6 months but within 1 year 122 13,423
i — A Over | year 5,077 5,000
st Total 59,345 91,211
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“ERZNET A =+—H

31 December 2024
B 5 B A EWCKIE ~ ¥4 AT
X JE (%)

HoEDWEF A= —H o REH
2 8 5y R TR 5 % (BRI ) 45
IR TR A8 ({E 10,780,0009 J0 (& — = 4F
31,323,000 70) 2 REWC AR K > e H
Byt o m A AR E H5,199,0009 50 (—
ETAFE 18,423,000 00) EL A 180 H
b RN EEFEARE
FRAEBAR - BRI L AR %5 &
F 0BT T B B IS R > AN TEE
HER 5 BSR4 Tk el > R AN
TR A R R AT o ANSE B M e
LG LR TR -

R > SR TR T A
A 3 SRAT A 30 FE T ) B ) R SRR I
W THi {H /547,872,000 70 (& — =4 :
69,044,000%7T) © A ZF ZPU4E+ A
=+—H > 1,661,000¥ 70 (—~F . =4F ¢
1,618,000 70) 1Y FHL 4 4 4 LAFH &5 & 7 1E
JEH o FERE B RE28 ~ 29432 ©

H o BN IR E R R B A B A T

25.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances, net of impairment allowance, were debtors with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$10,780,000 (2023: HK$31,323,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$5,199,000 (2023: HK$18,423,000) has been past due 180 days or
more but is not considered as in default as the Directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the balances are still considered to be fully
recoverable due to long-term/on-going relationships, financial condition
and all available forward-looking information of these customers. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the trade
receivables, which have been pledged to banks to secure the bank
borrowings granted to the Group, was HK$47,872,000 (2023:
HK$69,044,000). As at 31 December 2024, the rental deposits of
HK$1,661,000 (2023: HK$1,618,000) were secured to leased assets.
Details are set out in notes 28, 29 and 32.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

TR TPULE e
2024 2023
Tt THIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
) At beginning of year 64,065 64,023
ARSI > RAR Impairment losses, net 22 42
HEMEA A Disposal of subsidiary (11,439) _
R At end of year 52,648 64,065

R 2% R A S AR (o D AEL ek B T AR 0
HLEATRE T -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
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25.

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

gl
Past due
A 1A H 1£3f8H 830 H
B3 Less than 1to3 Over gk
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
TAMIE FOfIE% Expected credit loss rate 0.03% 0.32% 1.00% 90.06% 47.01%
HAIRTHI{E (T-#0)  Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 48,580 4,693 300 58,420 111,993
T REE
(F#s0) Expected credit losses (HK$000) 14 15 3 52,616 52,648
HoE - =EF+H=+—H As at 31 December 2023
Past due
DR A 1Z3(f H i 34 H
HIEx] Less than 1to3 Over st
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
FAWIE EETH%  Expected credit loss rate 1.42% 0.39% 0.94% 76.82% 41.26%
HIRTA (T-#570)  Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 60,748 11,679 635 82,214 155,276
THME B 1R
(Fis70) Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 860 45 6 63,154 64,065

S5 5 B T A R W T 2 (L R A R
TR B E3S -

IR RAT kBl T SRAT A %

CUEN SR A7 77 2

IR > SR ERAT A B HE i SRAT
R A AE K > A B SR AT 1 AR 4E [ A9 58 )
48 0 O S5 A B A AR o SR A
W EE28 K32 °

Bl B RAT A5 0%

AT B SRR IRAT R HAF A R F B)
A BROMLE, - U B H R =R A 5
VAR o BT A SRAT &5 Bk B 8 A7 37 A (8
B R AT R A0 S RO SRAT -

26.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 38.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

Pledged bank deposits

At the end of the reporting period, pledged bank deposits represented
deposits pledged to a bank as security against the issuance of letter of
credit by the bank in favour of electricity provider to the Group. Details
are set out in notes 28 and 32.

Cash and bank balances

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates, with original maturity of three months or less. All the bank
balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.
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27. 5 RIS wKIH

BTy B HC At B A 3 T AL R S A
9 35 SRR I R TR OH o AR 4R A
HENSZ 92 (5 B — A 2 =R

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for
ongoing costs and construction work. The average credit period granted
by the Group’s creditors is one month to three months.

ARG -
2024 2023
Tt THIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
5 A R IH Trade payables 33,837 39,445
JREAST e 5 K A B A Construction and retention payables 16,307 16,883
oAb AT FCIE Other payables 73,827 100,932
L0 — [ B 2 W) 2 i 4 Deposits received for disposal of a subsidiary - 78,153
A 4 Deposits received from tenants 27,323 25,222
TR R A N4 Deposits received from gaming promoters - 1,211
MR B TR Accrued staff costs 37,203 38,158
oAt TERE S OE Other sundry accruals 77,590 67,907
Hawt Total 266,087 367,911

E MR A A 4% B AR - R K
JRIE SR

The deposits received from gaming promoters are unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

T R % B 2R H O BB B 5 AT

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based

AIEIRES AT on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
R4 TR
2024 2023
Tt THT
HK$°000 HKS$°000
=MANR Within 3 months 33,327 38,851
jet i = AR A (EA 7SR TR Over 3 months but within 6 months 119 535
A AR E A — 4N Over 6 months but within 1 year 344 -
i — 4 Over 1 year 47 59
st Total 33,837 39,445
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SRAT B LAt A sk 28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
TR PYE S
2024 2023
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
SRATAE A > AT (B G)) Bank borrowings, secured (note (i)) 2,066,375 2,103,556
HoAh A R (B i) Other borrowings (note (ii)) 339,400 465,000
2,405,775 2,568,556
R BT £ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
LB Current liabilities 2,405,775 633,607
E R ON=L Non-current liabilities - 1,934,949
2,405,775 2,568,556
BiEE - Notes:
(i) SRATAE R > A 4K @) Bank borrowings, secured
R YEE B S o
2024 2023
Tt RR
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT ZI A S B9 A SRR ERA T g 3K Secured bank borrowings due
— AR N ER — within one year or on demand 2,066,375 168,607
— B A s (EAS A AR — more than one year, but not exceeding
two years - 249,352
— AR > (HASEE FLAR — more than two years, but not exceeding
five years - 1,685,597
2,066,375 2,103,556
W AN SR B R B S A Less: Amounts due within one year or on demand
A3 R ) & fif classified as current liabilities (2,066,375) (168,607)
—AEAR B ] E0H Amounts due after one year - 1,934,949

RO ECEAESANA > ALK
TERAT (T84T 1) HUAS — 40 A e s i
2,300,000,000% 7T (155 —F &) © i
TR AEFA TN AL
1" [ % R AT I 003 A R ) (TR [
M 2GR T ] A —4£350,000,000%5 70
MRS NE IR (55 45 EaR)) -

On 4 September 2020, the Group obtained a term loan facility of HK$2.3
billion (the “First Loan”) from the certain banks (the “Banks”). On 26
October 2021, the Group obtained an additional term loan facility of
HK$350.0 million (the “Second Loan”) from Luso International Bank
Limited (“Luso” and the “Lead Bank™).
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28, SRAT R A Ak (4)

BFRE - (280
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@

SRATRE - AT ()

B S E LA H B
MEAY WM B — SR %
ZRFEILA M AR o SR A
T PUAEA+ H N B B REZ A
e Bk — R IHEE —F bt
AN HEE -

BRAT MR LW JCFIHE o i & U4
FToHA=t—H > S FIBR
TR PR R ([ F USERATIR] 572 D) n4F
F#%225% (—F _=F+_H=+—
H o Ay ERAT IR S 47 2 AF R #62.25%)
FEE o AR 7 0 RE ST 2 R AR R R
7.01% (ZF =4 0 7.96%) ° 5 4
T T s R AT [ 2E R B4R I 3 9%
FEE o AR O 0 RE ST 2 R AR R R
7.30% (ZF =4 8.81%) ©

RoEET A=+ —H > A%E
TESS — B HUE T 242 52,300,000,000
WOC > ME RS S IE N R RA
90,000,000 TG 0] F & 4x - 55 4
IS AR B S RCE R — A s DL
TP [ PR AL AE AR 5 AT HEE o

WEE R T A=+ —HIEE
] B BOARE B 5 A 4R A R SERE R
HEZ G RATR BB — I F e —
B T AR S 1B ) AR B T E R G &
2,800,000,000%7C > HE —F =
+ZH=+—HIk-

MWoEZ - =ZENA=+—H  AEED

B {1 V(B R G UM %2.2,800,000,000
WG SAETT B G o

MR BB R h k > AR SR HI A < 0K
UG BRI R ERRRRUE - i
B~ MEHCIBRAT AR 5 45 8% B i 45 B
PRI LR - M AR AT — YO B
I > N o

AR 5 ASSE ] — [HI 2 A R R AT
S A B R A A A S Y 26
B B T A T 22 Pk 0 L b — TR AT
TR - ki g B A
SE ] 5 — FEERAT A B s o UL
JRE]H 1A o AR 8 — R
SRATFEK1,898,600,000 7T C. 57 4048
ERE AR LA A RATH R
2,066,400,000%5 76 7E $R 1T K IEZE 37 R
& -
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

@

Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)

The First Loan is repayable in instalments commencing from 4 September
2021, with the final instalment repayable on 4 September 2027. The
Second Loan is repayable in instalments commencing from 26 October
2024, with the final instalment repayable on 26 October 2027.

The bank borrowings are denominated in HK$. As at 31 December
2024, the First Loan bears interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) plus 2.25% per annum (31 December 2023: HIBOR plus
2.25% per annum) and the weighted average effective interest rate was
7.01% (2023: 7.96%) per annum during the year. The Second Loan bears
interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum and the weighted average effective
interest rate was 7.30% (2023: 8.81%) per annum during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has fully drawn down HK$2.3 billion
under the First Loan, and HK$90.0 million under the Second Loan. The
unutilised facility under the Second Loan is subject to further application
and approval by Luso.

As at the prior financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was
not in compliance with one of the covenant clauses, but the Banks agreed
to further amend the minimum net assets undertaking of the Group to
HK$2,800.0 million by another waiver, up to 31 December 2023.

On 31 August 2023, the Group has entered into a variation agreement
with the Banks to lower the minimum net assets undertaking of the Group
to HK$2,800.0 million and amended the loan repayment schedule.

Pursuant to the relevant loan agreements, the Group is required to
comply with loan covenants including minimum net assets undertaking
requirement, indebtedness ratio, balances of unemcumbered bank
accounts and arrangement of disposal proceeds with respective applicable
test on a semi-annual basis until maturity.

During the current year, a subsidiary of the Group failed to comply with
certain loan covenants for one of the Group’s bank borrowings regarding
the arrangement of disposal proceeds from the disposal of the Group’s
operation in Lao PDR, which in turn triggered the non-compliance of
a covenant of the Group’s another bank borrowing. As a result, bank
borrowings of HK$1,898.6 million with original maturity date of over one
year from the end of the reporting period have been reclassified to current
liabilities and all of the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$2,066.4 million
become immediately repayable if demanded by the Banks.
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28, BRAT B A Ak (4E) 28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

ek = (%) Notes: (Continued)

G) ST AR () @

Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)

SR I 19 SRAT A R S IH AR AT R
PEOR > HorpaLss

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured or guaranteed, inter alia, by the

following:

@ A& ;E%E&E%% i Say (a)  mortgage over certain of the Group’s investment properties,
FAREEE AR buildings and right-of-use assets;

(b) @Fﬁ‘fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁg&ﬂ%ﬁ(ﬂﬁﬂ% (b)  all shares in two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely MFW
X B A D) 1) T A IR Investment and Hong Hock;

(©) @Fﬁ?ﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁ*&ﬁ&ﬂ%?ﬁ%ﬁ 1y (c)  all the designated bank balances held by MFW Investment and
Fr A 15 e SRATAE R Hong Hock;

@ AR R RIS 2 R (d)  corporate guarantee by Hong Hock and the Company;

(e) ﬁ?@ ! ‘iﬁa}\ﬁ%f’fﬁi Eﬁﬁ%%& (e)  all rights and interests in leases, tenancy agreements, proceeds
Zfﬂﬁ% - HLAY Tﬂ;;ff 3 a{?)—% o from hotel operation and management, licensing income and other
e S B BT A E“J\iﬁ ~ R proceeds of the pledged properties of MFW Group;
A B H A i 45 3K JEL ) 7 A A
M B A 5

H A Fi/@}\jﬁ—ﬁ%% [EEELE7ES (f)  all receivables arising from leases, licensing income, disposal,
z *ﬂ% > CH AL ﬁéqéli\ > il hotel operations and other proceeds of the pledged properties of
B~ A B A SRR MFW Group; and
PE R BITAT MBSO 5

(& /z"i/f\ ﬁj E# Hﬁ;ﬁﬁ?ﬁ i Sk f’i (g)  apersonal guarantee by Mr Li Chi Keung, a substantial shareholder
= ﬂf%ﬂi%@ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬂiz_\ of the Company, Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, a substantial
A A R PSSR AR I S 2 2 13k 1 A1 shareholder of the Company and Mr Chan Weng Lin, a controlling
N shareholder of the Company.

(i) HAhE K (i)  Other borrowings

(@) %iiijiiﬁitﬁa’ (1)  On 27 October 2021, the Group obtained a loan facility of
fﬁﬁiﬁﬁAﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ HK$100.0 million from Perfect Achiever Group Limited (“Perfect
i"%lﬂ& EREMARA f‘j g% Achiever”), which is a controlled corporation of the controlling
%i )ﬁx&g—%ﬁgqiogo,ooovﬁzuﬁ@ shareholder of the Company. As at 31 December 2024, loan of
%ﬁ'f%ﬁlﬂg ° ﬁ:_%"\_lﬂlgf‘zﬂ‘ HK$50.0 million was outstanding by the Group (31 December
*:’1 +—H & % [? E’iﬂ%{% %ﬁ 2023: HK$50.0 million). The loan is unsecured, interest bearing at
?J\?E&SO,QO0,000?’E‘.E (#Z#;‘E 5% per annum and was repayable upon written demand issued by
i“~ﬁ = j“\* H : 50,000,000 Perfect Achiever. Perfect Achiever has confirmed in writing not to
75):’ gﬁ; 2] jmejﬁjrqi * AR AR demand repayment of the loan prior to 31 August 2024.
5%t S B AR PR 55 85 A S
ZORMEE o RO EHMMHRE - A
FEE_EMEAA =R
B R A R -

b REFZZFEA=AH AL (b)  On 30 May 2022, the Group obtained a loan facility of HK$100.0

] L 08 A ) R A A —
100,000,000 JT Y S 2Rl & o it
ZEZEF A= —H A
£E 9] 1) A 15 7 55 3K 75 84,400,000
WL (CE =+ A=+ —
H : 100,000,000870) o 83k d
A~ HRERR4% (CF =
40 11.4%) FHE MZE —F =
FRNH =T HAER - S FERR
O EsR » AN ErfE ZF U4
ZHA=Z+—H 2R R

2,
wA

million from a substantial shareholder of the Company. As at 31
December 2024, loan of HK$84.4 million was outstanding by
the Group (31 December 2023: HK$100.0 million). The loan is
unsecured, interest bearing at 11.4% (2023: 11.4%) per annum and
was repayable on 30 June 2023. The substantial shareholder has
confirmed in writing not to demand repayment of the loan prior to
31 March 2024.
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28.  SRAT K I A K (4D 28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
e = (%) Notes: (Continued)
()  HAfEK G (i)  Other borrowings (Continued)
(c) AN ETIAE+YH=+—H - (c) As at 31 December 2024, the Group entered into several loan
AL — AR j FERE R agreements for an aggregate loan amount of HK$330.0 million
ST 2R S SRR from another substantial shareholder of the Company. As at 31
330,000,000 5T © )j\# L~ PY4AF December 2024, loans with an aggregate principal amount of
+oH=Zt—H s AEEFEE HK$205.0 million were outstanding by the Group. These loans
E’J); A 4 AR £5205,000,0009 are unsecured, interest bearing at 11.4% (2023: 11.4%) per annum
o PZAEBHE EHLHY ~ IRAEA and were repayable between 31 March 2024 and 2 April 2025. The
111 49 (T 24 0 11.4%) 7 substantial shareholder has confirmed in writing not to demand
BORHEN ZE YE=ZH =+ — repayment of any of these loan amounts prior to 31 March 2025.

HE X HAFMA — Elﬁﬁﬁﬂié‘
oo B BN R E E AT
‘%T;igﬂiiﬂzﬁ‘—ﬂz
T SRAE R AT 52 K -

29. MEAM 29. LEASE LIABILITIES
TR TPYLE B
2024 2023
Tt T#IT
HK$’000 HK$°000
FEATTH R AR - Lease liabilities payable:
—4EN Within one year 784 7,732
—4ERL R WAERLTE More than one year, but not exceeding two years 830 761
WELL B R RAERLTR More than two years, but not exceeding five years 2,789 2,639
TAERLE More than five years 83,601 82,984
88,004 94,116
BB ARZ —ERN Less: Amounts due within one year classified
S| R IE as current liabilities (784) (7,732)
— 4RI B W FOE Amounts due after one year 87,220 86,384
L% 2 B i sk 325 Restrictions or covenants on leases
AFZWNAEFTF A=A M Lease liabilities of HK$88,004,000 (2023: HK$94,116,000) were
A 188,004,000 70 (—F = =4 ¢ recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$54,906,000 (2023:
94,116,000 70) J4 5t AR B £ A o HK$71,798,000) as at 31 December 2024. The lease agreements do
54,906,00045 70 (— % — =4 © 71,798,000 not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
W) T LARERR o B A A FH B g assets that are held by the lessors. The related leased assets, except the
R B AR ATRE 5 4 > A6 B A A Bt leasehold land in Macau, may not be used as security for borrowing
AR 255 o AHBIAH & & 7 (BRI IR Y purposes. As at 31 December 2024, the amounts were secured by rental
T L3 2 Ah) ARA5 FAE (R 4 o E’\ deposits with a carrying value of HK$1,661,000 (2023: HK$1,618,000).
SECWNEFZA=TH > HR
T3 AMRTAIE 1,661,000 7T (—% ggi :
1,618,000 70) Z fH G & B AEER -
T A 18 2 20 5 BT B B A 4 W R The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 38 to the

FRMF5E3S - consolidated financial statements.
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72 i I 30. DEFERRED TAX
A TR AE I i R 2 AR R 0 The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as
T follows:
R AL B JE £ 1K Deferred tax liabilities
REM¥E LIEYE ] i IR
AP AP AP dGt
Fair value Fair value Fair value

adjustment  adjustmenton  adjustment on

on investment property and right-of-use
properties equipment assets Total
o Fic T Fic
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
WoETZ4E—~A—H At 1 January 2023 2,599 20,132 109,809 132,540
s AH Credited to profit or loss (191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)
/e S o pi & Rty el = )4 At 31 December 2023 and
ZETME—H—H 1 January 2024 2,408 18,041 105,585 126,034
AR Credited to profit or loss (191) (18,041) (12,538) (30,770)
AF T UEF A =+—H Gross deferred tax liabilities at
R IERIA A A 31 December 2024 2,217 = 93,047 95,264
JEHE B JE ¥ Deferred tax assets
w] R S AR 2R
JRE VR T W S B

ZEH

Losses available for
offsetting against
future taxable

temporary

differences

F#t

HK$’000

WoECZF—H—H - ZEF AT A =1 At January 2023, 31 December 2023 and -
ARk =FZugE—~H—H 1 January 2024

wh AR Credited to profit or loss 11,913

AR TP H S IR AR T AR Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 11,913
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30. MEREBLIA (%) 30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
3 9L B JE ¥ () Deferred tax assets (Continued)
BRSNS - EEBIEE R AR For presentation purposes, deferred tax assets and liabilities have
LA AR 3R R 3K o DA B A S 1] been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an
R A RS H A 0 R 1 B IE AR A A analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting
#r purposes:
R e —C
2024 2023
Tt T#IT
HK$°000 HK$’000
FR AR SE TS I 00 S ol T TR A Net deferred tax liabilities in respect of
continuing operations 83,351 126,034
31 AR 31. SHARE CAPITAL
TR TR
2024 2023
Tt AR
HK$°000 HK$’000
RIE Authorised:
10,000,000,000%% % i T8I (0. 1 ¥ ST 11 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
ERil 1,000,000 1,000,000
CEAT AR - Issued and fully paid:

6,201,187, 120/ A5 B M (H0. 1 #s oS4/ 6,201,187,120 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 620,119 620,119
SR AR E] A AR None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
B AN UL TR (TR = the Company’s listed securities during the year (2023: Nil).

I o
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31 December 2024

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged certain
investment properties, buildings, right-of-use assets and trade
receivables to secure the credit facilities granted to the Group, pledged
bank deposits to secure the use of electricity of the Group and a rental
deposit paid to secure the lease arrangements entered by the Group as
lessee. The carrying amounts of the assets pledged are as follows:

SRR EENIRAED T

R4 TR TSR
2024 2023
Tt Tt
HK$°000 HKS$’000
'@ <LYE S Investment properties 428,777 446,771
R Buildings 3,177,914 3,555,183
i FIRE G Right-of-use assets 1,014,905 1,067,871
2 5 MWK A Trade receivables 47,872 69,044
CHEHSRITAAK Pledged bank deposits 1,681 1,674
O a4 Rental deposits paid 1,661 1,618
4,672,810 5,142,161

B P A EE 3 33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

7S [ R e 2 il vt 2 A I D ) A
B 73 1l 7% VLT B 2 Bl BURT s 57 19 BURT
R ARAR AT # B R B o TP LB b
7 i) 1B PRCAR AR 3 S A T E Rk
FotEM 4 o

7B R A 5 A R A A 1) 2
BI) K 7% FL P A 7 8 A B 8 S o 4
NiEEEE (B H]) - AEETA
R B A2 InE A et # o s
R EH I 4 T o LU E o Sl
S R R R R A B AT RO
DIASEE Lk (= ik ot R <y e
ALEEBEE T BTEA o WL B
B TEA o A B Y R 3 AR 1 R A
A B A R 2 U B A R B o TR R
HOR > MR 2 s A T S ) BB AR A
JEE ) REAAHK

A AR [ IR AE W B BT A A B R B AT
Fo 2 R RAE R ET B o 513000 & 2 R 8 S
Z b NDLIE G T XM o e ) > BLAREE
& E DB - AEEBHLEHE
Hts B L[] 5 A H A B S 4 RS 5% (I
151 451,500 9 50) (LK -

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau and Lao
PDR are members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the Macau and Lao PDR government, respectively. The
Macau and Lao PDR operations are required to pay a monthly fixed
contribution to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. All
the employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to join the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in the future years at the end of the reporting period.

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement scheme
for all qualifying employees in Macau. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
independent trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the plan (maximum MOP1,500) per month for each qualifying
employee.
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34.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (CONTINUED)

In Lao PDR, post-employment benefits are paid to retired employees by
the Social Security Fund Department which belongs to the Ministry of
Labor and Social Welfare. The Group is required to contribute to these
post-employment benefits by paying social insurance premium to the
Social Insurance Agency at the rate of 6% of employee’s basic salary on
a monthly basis.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the above retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total expense recognised
in profit or loss of HK$3,785,000 (2023: HK$3,528,000) represented
contributions paid or payable to the above retirement benefit schemes
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

All of the properties held for licensing arrangements have committed
leases for the next 3 years. None of the Group’s properties held for
licensing arrangements has been disposed of since the end of the
reporting period.

Minimum undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as

follows:
2024 2023
T#70 THEIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
—4ER Within one year 39,968 38,149
—AEAR B AR A After one year but within two years 18,457 41,387
WAEAR B = 4R 1A After two years but within three years 1,650 333
60,075 79,869

mEMERARALERILE THEY
SEME WY R RSB HEUOA © 5 R AC
L PR A RELI W 78 2 o1 AR HRERARE
REZL -3 WY AR A 1B 5« B b SO
19 55 9 18] E R RS HE S > AR
T AR E R PR ek AR B R AR
IR il ) 5 AR 2 T 40 LR SORORE
ARSI o SRR RTASE REWCA R
P 52 510 B T8 4 1A 20 A 5 R A 20 B A T R
BHEWA SR AL -

202 WEMIESRAEEARRAT 20244

Operating lease income represents licensing income receivable by the
Group from certain of its leased premises. Licensing arrangements
are negotiated for an average term of five years and licensing fees are
fixed for an average term of two years. In addition to the fixed licensing
income, which is disclosed above, pursuant to the terms of certain
licensing arrangements, the Group has licensing income based on certain
percentage of gross sales of relevant shops. The contingent licensing
income contributed an insignificant amount of licensing income earned
by the Group during both years presented.



35.

36.

37.

T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

i RIR Y

RS IR > AR A R ) 2 K
SR DA B A o TR BT A 1E A R B 10
L% 55189,560,00085 0 (7 = 4F ¢
169,441,000 70) (1A HI7EYE -

R 1

T AR > A e AR B A o 2K B9
YRR > WAL AR R BT - AL
P A e ol L 2 ) R B A ] £ R T B A
(OEDNLERAEES

TR A A > AR P RS T 5 1 28 — 1
Wk > AN 4R [ 1) R 6 45 A 4R44682,000,000
HEIG (T T =4F + 82,000,000) 1 $RATE
{% o

¥ < i A B

A AR A RGO A DR £ HL S RE 400 4 A
FRAEREE > [F] 2 ot 18 AL o5 B i T
iy AR o FBE AR [k o A [ S R D SR s
A LA A o

A% B8 [ AR SR AL S (G355 A B 28
ST 5 1 BRA T S H A £ 0 DA B AR
A NSEAGEHE (B C 8 A7 A (B 28 A B
31) KA ©

B L AR 2 AR A B U AN A
B B JE B A AR o AR R A
B2 R IR A S, ~ R AT BT I DA B B
A7 s o 2 A (5 AP
EEA LN o A AR B O R ST T 1 B
TEEARE o

A ) 5 AR B AR DA R (4R
A7 R A G 0 W3R 4 (40 24K SRA T A7 3K
Ko W4 ROARAT 45 8%) A5 B ME 5 1Y 40t 3k
N RIZEZMEFT A= —H s R
EEPFERAMERLTTA% (—F =
FrZH=1T—H :67.6%) °

35.

36.

37.

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contractual
commitments in respect of the acquisition of property and equipment
and construction in progress which are contracted for but not provided
of HK$189,560,000 (2023: HK$169,441,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any litigations
or claims of material importance and, so far as the Directors of the
Company are aware, no litigation or claims of material importance are
pending or threatened by or against any companies of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, pursuant to the 1st Addendum of
the New Service Agreement, the Group provided a bank guarantee of
HK$82,000,000 (2023: HK$82,000,000) to STM.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include bank
and other borrowings disclosed in note 28, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital (disclosed in
note 31) and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payments of dividends, new share issue as well as the issue of new debt
or the repayment of any existing debts. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirement.

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total
borrowings (e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged
bank deposits and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 77.4% (31 December
2023: 67.6%).
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38. &@pLTH 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
4 1 H R Categories of financial instruments
R B > S R LR AR (A The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
B as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
e Sl 1112 2024
SR B Financial assets
TR A
ARy SR
Financial assets
at amortised cost
T#x
HK$’000
CAT RIS Long term deposit paid 193,435
B 5y Je HoAh M E Trade and other receivables 90,099
M A T R Loan to an associate 226,631
TP SRAT AR AR Pledged bank deposits 1,681
Bl JARAT A R Cash and bank balances 52,321
564,167
<l £ 15 Financial liabilities
B AR
FipaioEet: i S~ T
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
T#x
HK$’000
G 5 B A AT A Trade and other payables 123,971
A Lease liabilities 88,004
SRAT S HABAE X Bank and other borrowings 2,405,775
2,617,750
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows (continued):

B 2023
Sl Financial assets
Fh R 4
Financial assets
at amortised cost
FHIT
HK$°000
AT R %S Long term deposit paid 200,265
& 5 I HAt RE WS IE Trade and other receivables 114,049
[ B s m AR Loan to an associate 210,888
CLHEHFERAT A7 3K Pledged bank deposits 1,674
B4 KSRAT SR Cash and bank balances 63,233
590,109
AR Financial liabilities
Fi AR EH A
w45 & R
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
THIT
HK$°000
B 5y B HADMEAT BIE Trade and other payables 157,260
THE A Lease liabilities 94,116
BRAT S HAAE 3Kk Bank and other borrowings 2,568,556
2,819,902
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include long term deposit paid,
a loan to an associate, trade and other receivables and deposit, pledged
bank deposits, cash and bank balances, financial liabilities include trade
and other payables, bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i)  Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk relates primarily to floating-rate bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and bank balances. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure
they are within a reasonable range.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk section of this note. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
HIBOR and arising from the Group’s variable-rate borrowings.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings. The sensitivity
analysis is prepared assuming the bank borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. No sensitivity analysis is provided on bank deposits as
the Directors of the Company consider that the interest rate
fluctuation on bank deposits is minimal.

A 50 basis point (2023: 50 basis point) increase or decrease,
which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates, is used. If the interest rate
had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$10,332,000 (2023:
HK$10,518,000).

Currency risk

Certain trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances are denominated
in foreign currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting periods
are as follows:

e
Assets
TR TP R =

2024 2023

T#x T

HK$°000 HK$’000

M e (TR e)) Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 199,384 88,338

ES 3 Thai Baht - 9,394
CES:Ea A Cape Verdean Escudo (“CVE”)

(75 A EL ) 3,590 3,357
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38. <&@ TH () 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
o L B 4 B B S SR () Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
17 55 i B (451) Market risk (Continued)
(i) B (4E) (ii)  Currency risk (Continued)
fafd
Liabilities
2024 2023
T THIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
WM MOP 188,462 269,273
Zeek Thai Baht - 108,561
WA MR L CVE 316,032 314,974
Hy A VPR T B T M > AN T The Directors of the Company do not expect any significant
TR A G A AT A F RSN R - foreign currency exposure as MOP is linked to HKS.
R SE 70T Sensitivity analysis
N FEEE A £ 1 k2R Bk A g 1R The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 3%
Wi [ 22 50,95 7T THE M2 (B 3 % 1) BUER increase and decrease in Thai Baht and CVE against HKS. 3%
JE 0 39 )71 FEAE I B NF R is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
AN T B IR % ) ) BURR B B R > i risk internally to key management personnel and represents
3R 1 g 3 A1 s T % 1) mT e A management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
SAE) I ETAL o MUREE A BT 63 45 D foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
AN E P MR ST EMETEE o outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items.
2024 2023
Tt T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FPR L CTHE3 % 3% increase in Thai Baht against HK$
AR A R B AR R TR N Increase in post-tax loss for the year - 2,974

A5 MR8 2 S T FHE 3% 3% increase in CVE against HK$
AR A R B4R R TR Increase in post-tax loss for the year 9,373 9,348
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge obligations by the
counterparties at the end of reporting period arises from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in regard of balances with the
gaming operator, gaming promoters, individual VIP gaming patrons
and other customers of non-gaming operation, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. Moreover, the Group only transacts with
high-credit-rating banks or financial institutions. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under the ECL model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on balances subject to ECL individually or based on
provision matrix.

Gaming operation

In relation to the gaming business, the Group has concentration of
credit risk on trade receivables as 52% (2023: 42%) of the total trade
receivables is due from SJM within the gaming segment, which is a
gaming operator in Macau. In addition, the Group has concentration of
credit risk on the Group’s advances to individual VIP gaming patrons.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had certain concentrations of credit
risk as 45.6% (2023: 31.5%) was due from the Group’s five largest VIP
gaming patrons in the gaming segment. The Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk from the non-gaming business, with
exposure spread over a large number of customers.
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38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gaming operation (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies an
internal credit rating for the gaming operator and individual VIP gaming
patrons. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade receivables and
other receivables from gaming operations were assessed for impairment
on an individual basis. Lifetime ECL is recognised for trade receivables
with an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$83,209,000 (2023:
HK$90,338,000), of which receivables from gaming promoters and
individual gaming patrons amounting to HK$52,385,000 (2023:
HK$52,426,000) are credit-impaired.

In respect of the other receivables, lifetime ECL is recognised for
an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$43,796,000 (2023:
HK$43,796,000) which are identified as credit-impaired financial assets
and no 12-month ECL is recognised (2023: Nil).

Non-gaming operation

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess the impairment for its trade receivables in relation
to its non-gaming operation because these debtors consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

In respect of the other receivables from non-gaming operation as at
31 December 2024, lifetime ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$23,335,000 (2023: HK$23,335,000) which
are identified as credit-impaired financial assets and 12-month ECL
is recognised for an aggregate gross carrying amount of the other
receivables of HK$18,277,000 (2023: HK$15,239,000).



38.

T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

b TH ()

Yo 755 JE g T D R B SR ()
1 B B 2 Dot 1 A (456)

T 1R ()

AR A B SORIH R 4 4 (LA 1R 8
) M > 3 MEFh PR ALy (B > TSR
RSN R R ARG B T Or 2 M R
Fef FIRR BEA% 58 Ry 28 4 m] REMEMAIR o

L PR A R B BRI o AN E
BB ) 2 SR BL o ALK )
gt 2 ) B A B ) A R I
R BT R B 2 AR o 1 B A
P B RRCHT > AR B2 1 B O O
RN RV ZPABS IR UL B R BL o ALEEE
PR Ry > MR AR B B B AR DL -
Jr BA R R AR R - O A R AT A
TAEAER -

B E AT RAT A K R RAT R BRI > 0
MR PR T EE R - R A B SR
T B WS EAF T AR A R T R AR
i SRR B AR R B A R R IR
M R A W Y SR AT 2 I > AR A A
A8 A HE A ] BEVE R A

0 ) B < B

WU B B B R B o AR
Do AR BT AR o 2 0 B SR 4 %
EYKF > DL I 5 B & (R B RE
1) MM B & i BB R R 8 o A
A5 O SRAT AR A 2 B 4 E R
A o A T A R o A DL SR ST
BRI -

VL =3

AR FE S AR A F R A A e B
TR L BIRE DL o %R TIRIEALE [
JEATEH) e BB 0 3% 5 R A R B
BB SRR - R e s EE
H 32508 o 2 28k H I - iR E AR
LA B G R o MLLF B A REHE
R Ul B B S DUR SR B R AR S
T o

ZERZNES A =1+—H
31 December 2024

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Non-gaming operation (Continued)

For the remaining other receivables and deposits including chips on
hand, no impairment allowance was made since the Directors of the
Company consider the probability of default is minimal after assessing
the counter-parties’ financial background and credibility.

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the associate. The Group’s credit
risk in the loan to the associate is mitigated through the underlying
value of the assets held by the associate. Before granting the loan to the
associate, the management of the Group has obtained an understanding
of the financial position and business performance of the associate. In
the opinion of the management of the Group, the counterparty has good
credit worthiness based on its underlying financial position and the risk
of default by the counterparty was assessed to be not significant.

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no expected credit
loss was made since the Directors of the Company consider the
probability of default is negligible as such amounts are receivable from
or placed in banks in Macau and Hong Kong that have reputation based
on the credit ratings provided by recognised credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the operations as disclosed in note 1 and mitigating the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings and
other borrowings as significant sources of liquidity. The management
closely monitors the utilisation of borrowings and compliance with loan
covenants.

Liquidity table

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

I B 2 (%) Liquidity risk (Continued)
) H 7 () Liquidity table (Continued)
WER K MR E
3MEA MR 12A K 14EF4E UEHSE MBS ik
On
demand or 1to 2to
less than 3 to less than less than 2 less than 5 Over
3 months 12 months years years 5 years Total
Tt T T Tt Tt Tt
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS’000 HK$°000 HKS’000 HK$°000
MoZZNEFZH=+—H  At3] December 2024
5 B e 208 Trade and other payables 123971 - - - - 123,971
SRAT R Bank and other borrowings 2,792,051 159,607 - - - 2,951,658
HEA K Lease liabilities 862 2,586 3,448 10,342 119,545 136,783
At Total 2,916,884 162,193 3,448 10,342 119,545 3212412
REFZ=F+HZA=1—H At31 December 2023
B B SRR Trade and other payables 157,298 - - - - 157,298
SRAT S HCA 5 K Bank and other borrowings 131,349 690,206 322,974 1,974,059 - 3,118,588
HEa Lease liabilities 2,626 7.879 3478 10,434 154,813 179,230
A5t Total 291,273 698,085 326,452 1,984,493 154,813 3,455,116

1P 8 2 A O 00
ET NI E' e Ey i
VTR S ST -

e LRZ AR

i ah A FUAE IR - AR I7E o] U B R
5 DUR o T 85 AT B AR R o A IR I
A — S AR > AREE RS =
U7 B EARAG EAETT A - EE A
L& AR SN (2 5 15 > WIRT &
8 2 A B 7 i B i A B - AR T
SV 55 MR T e AR ) o B A
HEZBFIUIFTAR > DU 2 o E b
A o

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation committee works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation methods and inputs to the
model. The chief financial officer of the Company reports the valuation
committee’s findings to the Board of Directors of the Company every
quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.



38.

39.

T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

&b T A ()
Yo 755 JE g T D R B SR ()
el THRZ A ()

RN B — A AR T AR AT
RAHFH B Z#F > ) \ﬂz?}&iﬁﬁ%)\%i
B CF A )

BREE MR B A U E TR A
i AE (8 BE 7 Sl AR 4 B 3R B 4 O 20 A

=

TE ©

Ao F HE GRS TR ARG B R P R
S AR 1) M ) < L M < R MR
T (L BN 55 1 2 PR (B AR A

% O A I R

R A A AR [ A B T A AR
BE > AEHERE LIRS R EE
50 o REEE B BT A 09 & R R A4
B 475 A B0 4 T i R PR A B 4 R R
ZRC I 46 YL R 4 B R ) i AR 0 B
IR -

—EZNETFZA=+—H
31 December 2024

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2023: Nil).

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

AT K
JEE 5 ) Hofte f % AL A G
Interest Bank and other Lease
payable borrowings liabilities Total
T T T TF#o
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
(Wt5E27) (Ff5E28)
(note 27) (note 28)
WoE T ZAE—~A—H At 1 January 2023 12,427 2,557,951 98,951 2,669,329
GBI E 48 (M5 Financing cash flows, net (note) (170,654) 5,381 (8,587) (173,860)
B Finance costs 192,144 5,204 5481 202,849
BEE 5, 26 i Exchange realignment - - (1,729) (1,729)
b“LZ::@Jr*ﬁJ At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 33,917 2,568,556 94,116 2,696,589
—H—H
BB SR - PR Financing cash flows, net (note) (157,845) (166,175) (6,396) (330,416)
W Finance costs 181,538 3,394 4,998 189,930
R 3, 267 i Exchange realignment - - (4,714) (4,714)
e 1 o | At 31 December 2024
=+—H 57,610 2,405,775 88,004 2,551,389

B 5 Iﬁ%(}uj‘é‘ AR R P ERRATE
C DATRLE - R A R AR
ﬁETEl K o

Note: The cash flows represent the repayment of bank borrowings, interest
paid, repayments of lease liabilities and other borrowings raised in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions with related parties are disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation to key management personnel of the Group which
represents Directors and the highest paid non-director employee of the
Company is set out in note 10.

Save as disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements,
none of the related party transactions constituted a connected transaction
or a continuing connected transaction during the reporting period which
was subject to (among others) the reporting, announcement, annual
review and/or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements for connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the reporting period.
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41. FERBEAE Y% 41. LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
RN TN A R 32 b JE s w R R Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the
mr - reporting period are as follows:
AW /R CRITRMERA,  AAARSCHIRE,
i g 2 ) 44 s b Ak A sk 6 A i i £ B 0 BRI 37]
Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ paid capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary establishment/operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
R —E =
2024 2023
Wt 1 il 100% 100%  F HkFURAR B it S MR A B
1,000,000 "7 — R AR
Hong Hock Macau Ordinary shares Provision of gaming related
MOP1,000,000 facilities and gaming related
general management services
Macau Legend Development i e 1 s T 100% 100% ) 4 [ 2 ] 2 (A S e
(Hong Kong) Limited
Macau Legend Development Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Provision of management services
(Hong Kong) Limited to group companies
TR S S el gLl 100% 100% AL EH 3T
10,000,000¥ 7
MFW Investment* Macau Ordinary shares Operating hotel business
MOP10,000,000
BEEEARAR I B 100% 100% FERY - 5 LAY
100,000 ¢
Grand Merit Retail Group Limited Macau Quota shares Retail of clothing, footwear and
MOP100,000 accessories
The Legend Club Limited 1 ey 100% 100% 15 B2y wl S AR
130,0001 M 72
The Legend Club Limited Macau Quota shares Provision of services to group
MOP130,000 companies
MLD Cabo Verde Entretenimento, S.A. 54 S 100% 100% EMHRERK
2,500,000 15 i 545
JE%
MLD Cabo Verde Entretenimento, S.A.  Cape Verde Ordinary share Operating gaming business
CVE2,500,000
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, S.A. 3 vl 100% 100% ARG 36T
2,500,000 15 f1 55
J£%
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, S.A. Cape Verde Ordinary share Operating hotel business
CVE2,500,000
Savan Legend Resorts Sole E2% ] L - 100% #8485 4830 T TG 2675
Company Limited (74 A i) 336,000,000,0005%%
Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Lao PDR Ordinary share Operating casino and hotel
Limited (disposed of during the year) K1P336,000,000,000 business

* TP TS B G 80 % 1h AR 24 W] B
A 20% AL R ] HBEAT <

ARAFERRLS - ERIURH AL B K
J& o 7 EE R AL B KA E -
ARNFIEED S - R AL E S R0
FEATE R EEUR IR R TUR -

AR ML B8 2 W) AT AL AT (B R 0

* MFW Investment is 80% directly and 20% indirectly owned by the
Company.

The above table list the subsidiaries of the Company, which, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affects the results

or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries, in the

opinion of the Directors of the Company, would result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the

year.
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b <5 Tl 2 DV A 1
BEZEFNETZH=1—HIREE

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Year ended 31 December 2024

WM A4 Bt
Macau Cape Verde Total
TH#ETT TH#TT THETT
HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

DU 4% T8 2 B R 1E Impairment losses on:
SRR Deposits paid 113 27,345 27,458
EY U Property and equipment 260,955 13,518 274,473
i FARE & A Right-of-use assets 69,286 5,022 74,308
IR 1 AR Total impairment losses 330,354 45,885 376,239

W EZZZAET A =+ —H R4
JE > RIS S5 T R P % 0 A5 £ 1 4 T
HEH A M E A4 ~ Y2 Rkl S
T e (W23 S A J S O 3R 4 e AR B
Tfe 8 (L s TR 48 %5376,239,000% 70 (&
TR ) o

PR V¥ e 37 580 e < kB kL s R

R UEF A Z+—H o AR
R B IR R IE & RLE R (RS RE Y
¥~ W A DL R R R ) A IR T
B4 %55,631,809,000%5 5T (I (EHT) -

W = 0T M 5 e B0 S D T A R = 4 o
PSR R - 0 b A B T AR O BR
BLRTRG IR > A7 AE BUEBE R LA L > A4
) 2 365 HL I R Bl < R A BR B
A BT WA WL o A HLRE R4
T8 57 AN A ELRIRTA £ B A 26 - W
O S RE R S AR+ A
=F—HE R R SR o R R A
A = B AT e SRR R R IR
UL I < P (PR (L (B L)
WtHE e R mEF A=+ 0
S I T R ] < R T Y T R O
SELAY 25 1 24 Fo(E 80 H B AR 2 B A B
TN o

MR AR ATRAT] 20244

During the year ended 31 December 2024, total impairment losses
of HK$376,239,000 (2023: Nil) were recognised in relation to the
deposits paid, property and equipment and right-of-use assets held by
the Group’s investment projects in Macau and Cape Verde which are
classified as separate CGUs.

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial assets in
Macau

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s non-
current non-financial assets in Macau, comprising investment
properties, property and equipment, and right-of-use assets amounted to
approximately HK$5,631,809,000 (before impairment).

With the fact the New Service Agreement nearing its conclusion
and the accompanying 3-year transition period drawing to a close,
together with substantial losses before tax incurred by the Group, an
impairment indicator existed and therefore the Group has performed an
impairment assessment of its non-current non-financial assets related
to the CGU. The management engaged an independent external valuer
to assess on the recoverable amounts of investment properties, property
and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2024. The
recoverable amounts were calculated based on Value-In-Use (“VIU”)
for the non-current non-financial assets in Macau as at 31 December
2024. The assets’ recoverable amounts as at 31 December 2024 were
the higher of the assets’ VIU and their fair value less cost of disposal.
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42.
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31 December 2024
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial assets in
Macau (Continued)

The assets’ VIU was determined by management based on the cash
flow forecasts of the CGU, which required the use of key assumptions
including the budgeted revenue, budgeted gross margin, number of
gaming table in the satellite casino operation and expected growth rates
based on management’s business plan on operation of the CGU, the
current market circumstances and management’s expectation of market
development (including how the management fee is to be determined
beyond the 3-year transition period of the Macau Gaming Law), as well
as suitable discount rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, an impairment loss of
HK$330,354,000 was recorded for the Group’s non-current non-
financial assets in Macau.

Investment project in Cape Verde

The investment project in Cape Verde involves building a new hotel
and casino. On 19 November 2024, the Company received notice from
the Cape Verde Government (“CV Government”) stating its decision to
terminate the establishment convention and related concessions, mainly
citing delays in the project’s progress, with requests to take control
of the project. This has led to a disagreement and possible actions by
the Group under legal advice. The management is also implementing
necessary measures to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders, including exploring all available options to protect its
position.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Cape Verde investment
project was fully impaired, resulting in an impairment loss of
HK$45,885,000. This loss, affecting deposits paid, property and
equipment, and right-of-use assets, reflects the difference between the
carrying value and the recoverable amount which was estimated by
management based on the current circumstances.
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43. A2 Bk Dl 43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
TR PR TR
2024 2023
Tl T
HK$°000 HK$°000
IE i Non-current assets
A B B A F R Investments in subsidiaries 3,524,208 4,247,029
HoAth 4 Other deposit 31 -
3,524,239 4,247,029
VLB G Current assets
TA A A Prepayments 778 1,854
JRE AT I} G > ] 3 Amounts due from subsidiaries 34,731 364,986
AT R Bank balances 366 1,011
35,875 367,851
i B=Yis Current liabilities
JEEFTBA 5 Accrued charges 743 79,982
JREASK B} > ] 3 Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,010,070 1,213,353
1,010,813 1,293,335
b= REiE- Net current liabilities (974,938) (925,484)
B Net assets 2,549,301 3,321,545
JBeAs Bttt Capital and reserves
il &N Share capital 620,119 620,119
Eiin Reserves 1,929,182 2,701,426
HE 4 FEAR Total equity 2,549,301 3,321,545

218 TRMESR AT PRA ] 202443
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7R 2y ) B R 2k 5 ) e 44. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE
COMPANY
cAE 4] Movements in reserves
JBe A7 i B HAbRERS E 41y 73] Am
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
T TH#TT TH#TT T
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(L)
(note)
B EE-A—H At 1 January 2023 4,163,765 202,312 (1,659,138) 2,706,939
N T A T TR AR Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - (5,513) (5,513)
REETZHEFTAZ+H—HE  At31 December 2023 and
R FE—~H—H 1 January 2024 4,163,765 202,312 (1,664,651) 2,701,426
A Al e 2 T e P A A Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - (772,244) (772,244)
W ZERWEF A =1—H At 31 December 2024 4,163,765 202,312 (2,436,895) 1,929,182
Bt HALRE T A 7] Llﬁiﬁ%E’J I g > 0 ) e Note: The other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
Py EBLA N Al B F R A4 the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal value
(91 e 4 R AP A T AR AR 2 ) e 43 THT of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition at the time of group
(B 1 2 FEATBR B 2 Rl U TR A reorganisation in December 2006 less dividends distributed from pre-
SRS o acquisition reserves of the subsidiaries.
AR gt 45. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
SR AR B A A T i AR 2R P H IR The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or
FEEMES o WA FE AR S loss and other comprehensive income have been re-presented as if the
WS LR B A E 2 (K sE14) - operation discontinued during the current year had been discontinued at

the beginning of the comparative period (note 14).

i S 5 46. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GAMBMERCHERGIN X N The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
= A AN HHEHE AR o issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.
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Financial Summary

AR FR X AR ORI AR - WA AN A summary of the published results, the assets and liabilities of the Group for
EZEHE SN last five years is set out below:
BET A= —HILEE
Year ended 31 December
R xR = e S TR AR TR TUE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Ti#x T T T T
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(B 1) (B 1) (B 1) (B 1)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
S Results
BT CONTINUING OPERATIONS
g Revenue 771,465 739,656 641,746 1,120,630 656,763
B I RS LA Cost of sales and services (675,780) (697,256) (1,019,338) (1,479,249) (1,121,222)
95,685 42,400 (377,592) (358,619) (464,459)
HAA ~ diets Msta o Other income, gains and losses, net
e (5,330) (1,108) 22,046 37,056 38,485
VRl Y/NTE S Share of results of an associate - - (7,084) (28,460) (25,640)
SREREWERRREE, Reversal of impairment losses/
(R (EEE) > 8 (impairment losses) on financial
assets, net (22) 138 (1,546) (7,467) (19,502)
4 A E (PR RRSM) Impairment losses on non-financial
2 BEEER assets other than goodwill (376,239) - - (241,000) (625,946)
A B A 3 Marketing and promotional expenses (113,035) (101,612) (79,324) (108,827) (86,708)
B ATEUR AP Operating, administrative and other
expenses (152,369) (208,637) (215,039) (277,396) (330,962)
& A Finance costs (189,792) (202,159) (108,933) (63,880) (126,578)
FRESEEBEIRBIRIEGIE  Loss before tax from continuing
operations (741,102) (470,978) (767,472) (1,048,593) (1,641,310)
SRS Income tax expense 43,440 421,096 6,129 5,450 6,117
PR T N R Loss for the year from continuing
operations (697,662) (49,882) (761,343) (1,043143) (1,635,193)
AL REEH DISCONTINUED OPERATION
KRBT W(ﬁ]ﬁ']/ Profit/(loss) for the year from a
(fa18) discontinued operation 75,035 44,961 154,134 (147,301) (319,954)
N Loss for the year (622,627) (4,921) (607,209) (1,190,444) (1,955,147)
R+_HA=+—H
At 31 December
Bt Jaq 11 e S e S R TR
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Tl TUWTT TH#ETT T THTT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
e MK Assets and liabilities
AR Total assets 5,881,208 6,862,616 7,150,380 7,970,106 8,692,978
j=Fist Total liabilities (2,843,217) (3,157,387) (3,442,168) (3,655,166) (3,171,793)
R THE Net assets 3,037,991 3,705,229 3,708,212 4,314,940 5,521,185
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Particulars of Major Properties

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set

EFFEETIT out below:
A 4 T E A
L/EEA g iikz FL B AT
Percentage
of interest
attributable to
Property name Location Use Lease term the Group
LA PN VL P A R YA E Ve i 100%
iR T W S S R LIS
B R
(R 25 [P A BEL)
Macau Fisherman’s Phase I and Phase I Extension of a Tourism and Hotel/Commercial/ Medium 100%
Wharf Entertainment Complex known as “Macau Car Park

Fisherman’s Wharf” ("] 1 A5 5H) at Avenida

da Amizade (& #H K B ) , Macau
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AR A - BRICR T A PRS- 1 S S A

LT it -

[ AR RO AR K
“2025 AGM”

[#8 - EBITDA |
“Adjusted EBITDA”

RERSIELIN
“ADR”

(A2 40 A1)

“Articles of Association”

[FERERE

“Audit Committee”

[

“Board”

(5% 5 4RAT
“Banks”

(151 ]
“Cape Verde”

[ R I
“CG Code”

(AT

“Company”

[#g]

“Directors”

(BT

“executive Directors”

[ SRR AR 43 51 i
“FVTPL”

(A g
“Group”

)
“HK$”

[
“Hong Hock”

[ )l A P T A B e
“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR”

222 TRMESR AT PRA ] 202443

In this annual report, the following expressions shall, unless the content
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

ARNFVE —F T RAFEANA = H BT BT RS

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 13 June 2025

ARLEENERAEIOA ~ BB A ~ BTRBL - rEF - SRS S T IH R ACT R A
the Group’s adjusted earnings before interest income, finance costs, income taxes,
depreciation, amortization and certain items

5 HFH 5

average daily room rate

7 AR R AT HY SR B

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

RAFFEZEE

the audit committee of the Company

EHE

the Board of Directors

ASEF fi 5 94T

the Group’s creditor banks

A3
the Republic of Cabo Verde

TR U B BRC 1T R AY £ S ST

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

TR R A AT B B — [T B 2 A 5 RS B A R A ] - L AT BB A I
AR B B

Macau Legend Development Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

AR RS

the Directors of the Company

RARPATIES

the executive Directors of the Company

o fE R AR AR 5 IR

fair value through profit or loss

ARG T B R

the Company and its subsidiaries

HIT - AL E AR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

PR ESE A RA R o — IR FE ML 2 RIS 2 A2 w1 2

Hong Hock Development Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and a
subsidiary of the Company

FE N R R0 0 A v A T AT B
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC



[ A i 5 Y 1
“HKFRSs”

(s G a6
“HKICPA”

[ 722 3 |

“Lai Ieng Investment

”

[ 4]
“Lao PDR”

[Erfi]
“Listing”

[ A
“Listing Date”

[T
“Listing Rules”

RUAN
“Macau”

RUAREHUNGEEN
“MFW”

REARHHONGEEE N
“MFW Group”

RGNS

“MFW Investment”

[ I
“Model Code”

[ e
“MOP”
[BREE ]

“Mr Chan Weng Lin”

[ S S A
“Mr David Chow”

[P AR 2+
“Ms Melinda Chan”

Definitions (Continued)

7 A A )

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

WG EHA g

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

EhF B EA RA R > — W R PTREM AL 2 A F] - SR AR 2w TR A )

Lai Ieng Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and an associate
of the Company

ZHRN R R SR E

the Lao People’s Democratic Republic

ety B —F— =AEE I H R A R 5 22 5 i A R ) AR
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
with effect from 5 July 2013

JBe 0 T B W 5 2 5 T AT PR3 R SE AR _E T 9
the date when the Shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

T B2 5 T A FR A W a2 L T R A
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

FHHE N B0 R A 1 AT B
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC

PR A AT ) YR Y A B
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment

TR BB K g 2 )

MFW Investment and its subsidiaries

TR ARG LR A5 B A PR ) - — TP e e a7 9 2 RIS 23 A 2 TR B
J& 22 7]

Macau Fisherman’s Wharf International Investment Limited, a company incorporated in
Macau and a subsidiary of the Company

TR R B Sk C3 IR ) L TR AT N AT R R 5 5 AR ST
the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

WrT - WL &S

Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau

BRASHIEEE > AN R BOR G 96 R L TR A 2 76 S e wir e i 120 ~ AT R
Fe AT BORE

Mr Chan Weng Lin, a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the

Company and the former co-chairman of the Board, the former executive Director and the
former chief executive officer of the Company

JH RS > S AT

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, a former co-chairman of the Board

BRIEHR Lt AT ST 2o o | 0 A S ST AR A T A8
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, an executive Director and a vice-chairman of the Board, and the
spouse of Mr David Chow

Macau Legend Development Limited 2024 Annual Report 223



Definitions (Continued)

[ 355 I 5 1

“New Service Agreement”

MRZZAE)

“Nomination Committee”

(5 5 o

“Old Service Agreement”

[ ]
“PRC” or “China”

[ A |

“Prospectus”

[Hi % B &

“Remuneration Committee”

[ [H] AT AL 5 i ik |
“REVPAR”

[R857 R B e bl
“SFO”

[ 8 A et
“Share Option Scheme”

[ty ]
“Share(s)”

[ 3R
“Shareholders”

MR
“SIM”

[ 5 T ) 8 [ s g 22 o )

“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”

[Thakhek Club
“Thakhek Club”

[l e AR A F A |

“Supplemental Prospectus”

ESH
“US$”

[%]
gy

224 MESRATEA A

PR B AR SR T AR T = HOERRT RIS Bk S AR B ET - SR
7 A Y S 5 S e R R A R OB T R M

the service agreement dated 30 December 2022 and its related amendments entered into
between Hong Hock and SJM, under which the Group provides gaming services to SIM in
Legend Palace Casino

ANFRBERE

the nomination committee of the Company

VAR BRI ARG i SR RONAE JUA b I H BT IS Ik S HLAR BB T > Bt
ARG T A T S LA 15 4 T T M 5 43 1) LR A SR AR TR T EEA
TR TAENH S HER

the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its related amendments entered into
between Hong Hock and SJM, under which the Group provides gaming services to SIM in
Legend Palace Casino, Babylon Casino and Landmark Casino which expired on 26 June
2022

e AR - ElAFRNS > AREEE - WIIRAE
the People’s Republic of China, for the sole purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan

AN E H AR R —ZAEN A HE B R IR
the prospectus of the Company dated 17 June 2013

ARFIHME S &

the remuneration committee of the Company

5 M AT AL B A Wi

revenue per available room

AR IS 571 RRE S5 B B R

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

AN R A ) IS T R )

the share option scheme adopted by the Company

AR AR i BT 0. 1S T A 848
ordinary share(s) of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company

A TR
Shareholders of the Company

RIS BE AR A A BR A W)
SIM Resorts, S.A.

TG 2 o T A IR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

P B Thakhek 19 A - # & Jir
Thakhek Club in Thakhek, Lao PDR

A A B A T —ZFNH N HRR R I
the supplemental prospectus of the Company dated 26 June 2013

FIn > RAEG B E B

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

3

per cent






YO AR A A

Macau Legend Development Limited

* for identification purposes only
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